
City of Bethel 
         P.O. Box 1388 

    Bethel, Alaska 99559 

      Phone: 907- 543-2047 

         Fax: 907-543-3781 

Regular City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, April 25, 2017 

    6:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers; Bethel, Alaska 



Agenda posted on  April 19, 2017, at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Lori Stickler, City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing May 9, 2017. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
April 25, 2017 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

Rick Robb 
Mayor 

Term Expires 2017 
rrobb@cityofbethel.net 

Byron Maczynski 

Vice-Mayor 
Term Expires 2018 

bmaczynski@cityofbethel.net 

Leif Albertson 
Council Member 

Term Expires 2017 
lalbertson@cityofbethel.net 

Fred Watson 

Council Member  
Term Expires 2018 

fwatson@cityofbethel.net 

Nikki C. Hoffman 
Council Member  

Term Expires 2017 
nhoffman@cityofbethel.net 

Alisha Welch 

Council Member 
Term Expires 2017 

arwelch@cityofbethel.net 

Norman Ayagalria 

Council Member 
Term Expires 2018 

nayagalria@cityofbethel.net 

Pete Williams 
Acting City Manager 

543-2047 
pwilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Lori Strickler 

City Clerk 
543-1384 
lstrickler@cityofbethel.net 

Patty Burley 
City Attorney 

Mary Sattler 
Lobbyist 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Five minutes per person

V. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA AND REGULAR AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

a) *4-11-2017 Regular City Council Meeting

b) *4-13-2017 Special City Council Meeting

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE

VIII. Special Order of Business

a) Proclamation – Clean Up Green Up May 1-May 13 With A Give It Your All
Clean up Day on May 12 (Mayor Robb)

b) Health Fitness Monthly Report On The YK Fitness Center (Mayor Robb)

c) Appointment Of Qualified Individual To Fill City Council Vacancy, Term
Ending October, 2017 (Mayor Robb)

d) Appointment Of Council Representative To Committee and Commission
(Mayor Robb)

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-11: Amending Bethel Municipal Code Chapter 14,
Ports And Harbors (Port Commission)

b) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-17: Authorizing The Disposal of Interest In
Easements/Land For Utility Acquired Through Ordinance 16-14 From The Yukon-
Kuskokwim Health Corporation (City Manager Williams)

c) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-18: Authorizing The Disposal of Interest In
Easements/Land For Utility Acquired Through Ordinance 16-32 From Kipusvik,
LLC (City Manager Williams)

d) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-19: Amending Bethel Municipal Code Section
1.02 General Provisions (Council Member Watson)

e) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-20: Amending Bethel Municipal Code Section
17.04 General Provisions And Requirements (Council Member Welch)

f) Public Hearing of Ordinance 17-21: Establishing A Community Action Grant
Technical Review Board (Council Member Albertson)

g) Employment Contract Negotiation/Renewal City Attorney (Mayor Robb)

X. NEW BUSINESS 

a) *Introduction Of Ordinance 17-22: Amending The City Of Bethel Fee And Rate 
Schedule (Mayor Robb) 

p.5
p.16

p.51
p.52

p.68

p.150

p.157

p.159

p.164

p.176
p.178

p.186

mailto:rrobb@cityofbethel.net
mailto:bmaczynski@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lalbertson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:fwatson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:nhoffman@cityofbethel.net
mailto:arwelch@cityofbethel.net
mailto:nayagalria@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pwilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lstrickler@cityofbethel.net


Agenda posted on  April 19, 2017, at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Lori Stickler, City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing May 9, 2017. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
April 25, 2017 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

b) *Introduction of Ordinance 17-23: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 13.08.360 
Experiments and Innovations (City Manager Williams) 

c) *Introduction Of Ordinance 17-24: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 4.16.030 
Imposition – Rate, Reducing Sales Tax from 6% to 5.75% (Mayor Robb) 

d) *Introduction Of Budget Ordinance 16-17 (l): Police Department’s ProComm 
Agreement Payment Schedule Change (City Manager Williams)  

e) *AM 17-30: Appointment Of Jared Karr To The Public Safety and Transportation 
Commission As An Alternate Member (Mayor Robb) 

f) AM 17-31: Directing the City Manager To Enter Into A Contract With The
Successful Proposer For General Insurance Broker Services (City Manager
Williams)

g) AM 17-32 : Directing The City Manager To Enter Into A Contract With The
Successful Bidder To Install The Helical Piers For The Institutional Corridor
Project (City Manager Williams)

h) AM 17-33: Directing Administration To Pursue Reallocation Of Funds From the
City’s Approved Land And Water Conservation Fund Grant To Support
Development Of The Multiuse Sports Field And Boardwalk Repairs (City Manager
Williams)

i) AM 17-34: Directing Administration To Seek Funding For The Preliminary
Engineering Report And Environmental Report for “The Avenues” Project, A
Project That Entails The Installation Of Water And Sewer Pipe Through The Back
Lots Between 6th Avenue And 7th Avenue (City Manager Williams)

j) Declaring Council Member Byron Maczynski’s Seat Vacant Effective April 26, Per
Bethel Municipal Code 2.04.100 and Identifying a Process for Appointment to fill
the Vacant Term (Mayor Robb)

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT

XII. MANAGER’S REPORTS

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT

XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

a) Alaska Statutes Title 44.62.310 matters, the immediate knowledge of which
would clearly have an adverse effect upon the finances of the public entity- PERS
Liability, Transit System (City Manager Williams)

b) Alaska Statutes Title 44.62.310, Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which
Would Clearly have an Adverse Effect upon the Finances of the Public Entity -
Contract Negotiations – City Attorney’s Employment (Council Member Albertson)

XVI. ADJOURNMENT

p.188

p.190

p.192

p.194

p.195

p.204

p.212

p.214



Approval of the Meeting Minutes 

4



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Regular Meeting 
April 11, 2017 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Regular Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on April 11, 2017 at 6:30 p.m., in 
the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  
 
 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
Sam White, ONC Representative- Spoke in support to AM 17-29 related to the ONC 
Subdivision. Spoke in opposition to Ordinance 17-08 due to its potential impacts to the 
ONC Subdivision.  
 
Fred Broerman- Spoke as an avid bird watcher, and stated the sewage lagoon and 
landfill are common areas for birds to gather. Encouraged the Council to, when 
renovating the area to consider making the area friendly to observations for people to 
observe the land.  
 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Norman Ayagalria 

Council Member Alisha Welch Council Member Leif Albertson 

Members Absent: 

Vice-Mayor Byron Maczynski Council Member Nikki Hoffman 

Council Member Fred Watson  

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Attorney Patty Burley City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Manager Pete Williams  

5



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Mary Nanuwak- Stated she does not know where Unkal’ny Subdivision is in Bethel. 
Provided a statement of concern on the City’s retention schedule in that it is important 
to retain information.  
Stated Public Safety is always short of help, supported AM 17-28.  
 
David E. Trantham Jr.- A 51 year resident of the City of Bethel. Stated he has too 
many concerns for our community, one is the cost of building a port office on the 
Kuskokwim, believes $1,600,000 is too much. The City of Bethel has surplus buildings 
that could be used rather than spending $800 a square foot. Stated there are rapid 
changes to the Kuskokwim river channel, in a few years there may not be access to 
the new port office from the river.  
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Welch 
Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb  Albertson  Welch  Ayagalria  

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Postpone Indefinitely New Business Item K, AM 17-29 from the agenda.  

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Removal from 

Consent: Resolution 17-08, Introduction of Ordinance 17-19 and 17-20 

Moved by: Robb 

 
VI. APPROVAL OF THE MEETING MINUTES 

 
Item A – 3-28-2017 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes. 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 

 
VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 

 
Public Safety and Transportation Commission –  
Council Representative, Norman Ayagalria– 
Ground Emergency Medical Transportation Program Resolution was considered and passed.  
Coordinating with the Pool Committee to establish solutions on boardwalk location identification. 

6



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Reinstatement of the Temporary Police Officer Program was considered by the Commission and 
the members are considering short term solutions to the current problems the City is facing.   
 
Port Commission –  
Council Representative, Alisha Welch – 
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council meeting.  
 
Planning Commission –  
City Planner, Ted Meyer– 
Conditional Use Permit Application was denied by the Commission.  
Recommendation to adopt the Dog Park Ordinance 17-08.   
Will be considering another Conditional Use Permit on Thursday of this week.  
 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee –  
Committee Chair, Michelle Dewitt–Summarized AM 17-26 presented to the Council by 
the Committee. Understands there may be a goal for administration to include this 
item as a union tool.  
Dog park designation is important even if it isn’t developed anytime soon.  
Clean up green up will be on May 12th and hopes that organizations within the 
community will come together on this day to make this day work.  
Repair and replacement fund for the YK Fitness Center is important to consider 
building into the city’s budget. $25,000 is the recommended amount for the annual 
allocation.  
Requesting solution based leadership to get the trail between the college and the 
hospital operational again.   
 
Finance Committee –  
City Attorney, Patty Burley – 
Continue to consider the sales tax code rewrite.  
 
Energy Committee –  
Council Representative, Rick Robb – 
Considering the idea of using a chemical nano cover on the pool to maintain heat and 
reduce evaporation.  
Consideration of composting and incinerating toilets as it was referred to the 
Committee.  
 
Public Works Committee –  
Council Representative, Byron Maczynski – 
 
 

VIII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

7



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Item A – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-08: Authorizing The Designation Of 
Property, Lot 15, USS 4117, As A Community Dog Park. 
 
     Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
     Sam White- Spoke in opposition to Ordinance 17-08.  
     Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  
 
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-08. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 

Primary 

Amendment: 

Insert under the Whereas Statements the following Whereas Statements:  

“the City has previously supporting granting a non-exclusive easement across a portion 

of the land described herein to allow ONC access to their proposed subdivision; 
the designation of the land for a dog park shall not interfere with or take away the 

City's intent to grant said non-exclusive easement should ONC's proposed subdivision 

come to fruition; 

the City's designation of the land as a dog park shall be dependent upon approval by 

the 

Bureau of Land Management (BLM) as per the terms of the land ownership; 

the designation of the land as dog park at this time shall not create an expectation or 

obligation on the part of the City to fund any changes or improvements along with the 

designation; 

any funding for the development of the dog park shall be solely at the City Council's 

discretion and only when the finances of the City allow;” 

Strike under the Now Therefore, Be It Resolved “the City Council authorizes the 

designation of Lot 15, USS 4117 for the use of a Bethel Dog Park” and insert “upon 
receipt of approval by the BLM, the City Council designates the non-easement portion 

of Lot 15, USS 4177 for the use of a dog park.” 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Item B – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-11: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 
Chapter 14, Ports And Harbors. 
 
Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No One present to be heard. 
Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  
 

8



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-11. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Ayagalria  

Action: 

 

Postpone 

 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Postpone to the next city council meeting.  

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Item C – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-12: Amending The City’s Fee And Rate 
Schedule. 
 
Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
David Trantham Jr. – Spoke in opposition to the proposed amendments to the 
Ambulance Service fees.  
Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-12. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Ayagalria 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion does not carry by a vote of 3-1 

 Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed:  Robb   

 
Primary 

Amendment: Strike under Planning Appeal $100.00.  

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria  

Opposed: 0 

 
Item D – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-13: Authorizing The Disposition Of Property 
Pursuant to BMC 4.08.030(B), Five (5) Year Lease Agreement with Department of 
Law. 
 
Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No One present to be heard. 
Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  

9



6 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

 
Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-13. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Item E – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-14:  Authorizing The Acquisition Of Property 
Pursuant to BMC 4.08.020, Lot 6B, Block 9, Unkal'nyy Subdivision, Bethel, Alaska and 
authorizing settlement of Trespass Claim against same. 
 
Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No One present to be heard. 
Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-14. 

Moved by: Ayagalria 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Item F – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-15:  Authorizing The Acquisition Of Property 
Pursuant to BMC 4.08.020, Lot 6C, Block 9, Unkal'nyy Subdivision, Bethel, Alaska and 
authorizing settlement of Trespass Claim against same. 
 
Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No One present to be heard. 
Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-15. 

Moved by: Ayagalria  

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Item G – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-16: Authorizing The Acquisition Of Property 
Pursuant to BMC 4.08.020, Lot 7B, Block 8, Unkal'nyy Subdivision, Bethel, Alaska and 
authorizing settlement of Trespass Claim against same. 
 
Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No One present to be heard. 

10



7 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  
 
 
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-16. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb  Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Subsidiary Motion: Take a five minute break.  

Moved by: Ayagalria  

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
IX. NEW BUSINESS 

 
Item A – Resolution 17-07: Amending Regulations To Effectuate A Comprehensive 
System For The Creation, Acquisition, Preservation and Retention Of City Information 
Contained In Any Record Medium. 
 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 

Item B – Resolution 17-08: In Support Of Legislation Correcting Problem Caused By 
Court Ruling And Returning Authority Of Municipalities To File And Enforce Liens For 
Non-Payment Of Services. 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 

 
Main Motion: Adopt Resolution 17-08. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Item C – Introduction Of Ordinance 17-17: Authorizing The Disposal of Interest In 
Easements/Land For Utility Acquired Through Ordinance 16-14 From The Yukon-
Kuskokwim Health Corporation. 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 

 

11



8 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Item D – Introduction Of Ordinance 17-18: Authorizing The Disposal of Interest In 
Easements/Land For Utility Acquired Through Ordinance 16-32 From Kipusvik, LLC. 

Passed on the Consent Agenda 

 
Item E – Introduction Of Ordinance 17-19: Amending Bethel Municipal Code Section 
1.02 General Provisions. 

 
Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 17-19. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Item F – Introduction Of Ordinance 17-20: Amending Bethel Municipal Code Section 
17.04 General Provisions And Requirements. 

 
Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 17-20. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 

Item G – AM 17-25: Appointment Of Mary Nanuwak To The Public Safety and 
Transportation Commission As An Alternate Member. 

Passed on the Consent Agenda 

 

Item H – AM 17-26: Direct Administration To Work With HealthFit To Establish A 
Corporate Membership Agreement With YK Fitness Center For City Employees. 

 
A motion to approve was not made.  

 

Item I – AM 17-27: Directing The City Manager To Enter Into Contracts With CH2M 
For Engineering Services On The Sewer Lagoon Rehabilitation Project. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 17-27. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Ayagalria 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria  

Opposed: 0 

12



9 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

 

Item J – AM 17-28: Direct Administration To Prepare And Submit The FY 2018 Grant 
Application To The Alaska Department Of Health And Social Services To Fund the Bethel 
Community Service Patrol Program. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 17-28. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 

Item K – AM 17-29: Providing Consent To The Planning Commission’s Vacation Of 
Unimproved Right Of Way Located At 800 Chief Eddie Hoffman Highway, US Survey 
4117, Lot 51. 

 

Postponed indefinitely.  

 

Item L – Employment Contract Negotiation/Renewal City Attorney. 

 
Main Motion: Postpone until after the Executive Session.  

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 

X. MAYOR’S REPORT 
XI. MANAGER’S REPORT 
XII. CLERK’S REPORT 
XIII. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Mayor Richard Robb – 
Be careful on the river, wished everyone a safe and successful spring hunt.  
 
Council Member Leif Albertson – 
Happy spring, be careful on the water.  
 
Council Member Alisha Welch – 
No comment.  
 
Council Member Norman Ayagalria – 

13



10 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

No comment.  
 

XIV. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
 

Item A – Annual Evaluation Of The City Attorney As Per Alaska Statutes 44.62.310: 
Personnel Matters (Unless the Person Has Requested To Have The Subjects Discussed 
In Public) Or Subjects That Tend To Prejudice The Reputation And Character Of A 
Person. 

 

Item B – Alaska Statutes Title 44.62.310, Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which 
Would Clearly have an Adverse Effect upon the Finances of the Public Entity - Contract 
Negotiations – City Attorney’s Employment. 

 
Item C – Alaska Statutes Title 44.62.310 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of Which 
Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity-Union 
Negotiations. 

 

Main Motion: 

Move into Executive Session to discuss Annual Evaluation Of The City Attorney As 

Per Alaska Statutes 44.62.310: Personnel Matters (Unless the Person Has Requested 

To Have The Subjects Discussed In Public) Or Subjects That Tend To Prejudice The 

Reputation And Character Of A Person. Those participating in items A are the Council 

and City Attorney. 

Alaska Statutes Title 44.62.310, Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which Would 

Clearly have an Adverse Effect upon the Finances of the Public Entity - Contract 

Negotiations – City Attorney’s Employment. Those participation in items B are the 

City Council Members.  

Alaska Statutes Title 44.62.310 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of Which Would 

Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity-Union 
Negotiations. Those participating in item C are City Council Members, City Manager, 
City Attorney, City Clerk and Human Resources Manager.  

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
 

Item L – Employment Contract Negotiation/Renewal City Attorney. 

 
Main Motion: Postpone with City Attorney’s requested amendments until the next regular meeting. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson 

14



11 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 11, 2017 

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
 

XV. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Ayagalria  

Action: 

In favor: 

Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

 Robb   Albertson   Welch  Ayagalria   

Opposed: 0 

 
Council adjourned at 11:05pm.  

 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk  

15



 

City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 
  April 13, 2017 

 

1 

Special Meeting 
April 13, 2017 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER   
 
A Special Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on April 13, 2017 at 6:30 p.m., in 
the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  
 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD  

 
V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Welch 
Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 
In favor:  Robb   Albertson  Welch  Watson   

Opposed:  0 

   City Council Meeting  
City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

     Mayor Rick Robb  

     Council Member Alisha Welch  

     Council Member Fred Watson  

     Council Member Leif Albertson  

Members Absent: 

Council Member Hoffman Council Member Ayagalria  

Vice-Mayor Maczynski  

 Also in attendance were the following: 

     City Attorney Patty Burley      City Clerk Lori Strickler 

     City Manager Pete Williams  

16



 

City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 
  April 13, 2017 

 

2 

 
 
 
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
 
Item A – Resolution 17-09: Establishing a Process for the Administration and 
Processing of Community Action Grant Funding. 
 
Main Motion: Adopt Resolution 17-09. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Welch   Watson    

Opposed: 0 

 
Item B – Introduction of Ordinance 17-21: Establishing a Community Action 
Grant Technical Review Board. 
 
Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 17-21. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb  Albertson   Welch   Watson    

Opposed: 0 

 
Item C – Reviewing/Amending the Proposed Fiscal Year 2018 City of Bethel 
Budget. 
 

Main Motion: 

Amend 10-52-669 Other purchased services to strike 

$18,000 and insert $12,200. 

Moved by: Welch 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Welch   Watson    

Opposed: 0 

 
VII. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Main Motion: Adjourn 

17



 

City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 
  April 13, 2017 

 

3 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Welch 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Welch   Watson    

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Council adjourned at 9:00p.m. 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

18



 

Reports of Standing Committees  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes                    City of Bethel, Alaska 

April 10, 2017 
 

   
 

City of Bethel, Alaska 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes 

April 10, 2017 Regular Meeting Bethel, Alaska 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order by Michelle DeWitti at 6:00pm. 
 
II. ROLL CALL 
Comprising a quorum, the following members were present: Michelle DeWitt, Kathy Hanson, Barbara 
Mosier, Brian Lefferts, and Justin Wintersteen  
  
Excused absent (s): Judy Wasierski, Beverly Hoffman, Kathryn Baldwin, and Fred Watson 
 
Also in attendance were the following:  
Committee Recorder, Pauline Boratko 
Parks and Recreation Representative, Matt Ross 
YK Fitness Center Director, Stacey Reardon  
 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  
Shaun Codman- addressed that he is interested in a contract with the City of Bethel to maintain, build, 
and repair the parks with his own personal business. 
 
IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

MOVED BY: Barbara Mosier Motion to approve amend agenda changing the date in 
unfinished business item A to April 11, moving item F to 
special order of business and putting items G-L to the 
top of the unfinished business section 

SECONDED BY: Brian Lefferts 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

 
V.  APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:  

 
VI. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

H.   City of Bethel Employee Wellness Program Status Update: The action memorandum has 
gone thought to city council and the item will be on the agenda for discussion.  

 
VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. Individual to provide report to the April 11, 2017 City Council meeting: Kathy Hanson 
volunteered to give the report. Michelle will sub for Kathy is she does not have to travel. 

I. Balance on the dedicated pool fund: no new updates; City Finance Director did not respond 
to request of information. 

J. Fiscal Year 2017 YK Fitness Center Budget: no new updates; no information provided by City 
K. Sub Committee Reports Water Temp, Marketing, and Physical Facility: water temp and 

marketing no new updates this month. Physical facility: daily walk through is being done by 
the maintenance department, but the roof has leaks. 

L. Arts at the YK Fitness Center: The call for public artists online at Call for Entry.Org deadline 
to respond with qualifications is  June 1, 2017  

M. YK Fitness Center Logo Development: Another designer has gotten the chance to look at the 
logo and in May a design will be chosen. 

MOVED BY: Brian Lefferts Motion to approve the regular minutes for March 13, 
2017 SECONDED BY: Barbara Mosier 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

20



 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes                    City of Bethel, Alaska 

April 10, 2017 
 

   
 

N. HealthFitness Operations Plan: The committee expects the FY17 plan to to be in front of the 
committee for review at the May meeting.  

VIII.   YK Fitness Facility Director Report- Stacey Reardon:  
 

B. Unresolved recommendations and action memorandums: tabled 
C. Updates on Owl Park and Dog Park: no new updates for Owl Park. The resolution been 

passed by the Planning Department for the dog park and will be on City Council agenda item 
for discussion. 

D. Log Cabin/4H Building budget separation- tabled 
E. Fiscal year 2017 Parks and Recreation Budget- a draft of the budget has been requested, 

and it been proposed that the parks and recreation budget roll in with the Public Works 
Department.  

F. Board Walk Identification System: Matt Ross met with the Police Department and they 
suggested that they paint the sides of the boardwalk three different colors. 

G. Parks and Recreation Department Structure- discussion on City administration’s proposal of 
merging the Parks and Recreation Department with the Public Works Department and 
discussion about considering subcontracting out recreation to a private entity. 

 
IX. Parks and Recreation Department Report-Matt Ross:  

 
X.  New Business: 
A.  Green Up- Clean up- 

 
B.  Location for May Meeting- the committee agreed to have the next meeting location at the log 

cabin. 
C. YK Fitness Center Roof- The roof at the pool is currently leaking in five different spots. 

Maintenance is doing their daily building checks, and discussed the need to look into warranty 
with the contractors for the roof.  
  

XI. MEMBER COMMENTS: 
B. Mosier- no comment 
M. DeWitt-Winter House is looking for a facility 
J. Winterseeen- no comment.  
B. Lefferts- no comment. 
K. Hanson- I won’t be here for the next meeting 

 
XII.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
APPROVED THIS ___ DAY OF__________, 2017.   
 
 
 
 
_____________________________ _____________________________ 
  

MOVED BY: Kathy Hanson Motion to request that the City Council declare green up 
clean up as an official day on the second Friday of May SECONDED BY: Barbara Mosier 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

MOVED BY: Kathy Hanson Motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:15pm 

SECONDED BY: Michelle DeWitt 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

21



 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes                    City of Bethel, Alaska 

April 10, 2017 
 

   
 

Pauline Boratko, Committee Recorder Michelle DeWitt, Chair 

22



Received by: Lori Strickler 
        Date: 4-18-2017 

 

 

 

Committee/Commission: PRAHC Committee Chairman: M. DeWitt 

Date Submitted: 04/18/17 Council Rep: F. WATSON 
    

Issue:  

Clean Up Green Up season is arriving, and the committee is encouraging parks staff 

to seek out partnerships among  local businesses and organizations with regard to  

cleaning up the community.  

 

Recommendation: 

We request that City Council consider designating Friday, May 12 as a Clean Up Green Up Day during 
the Clean Up Green Up season. 

This would assist Parks staff in reaching out to community organizations and businesses and 
encouraging them to allow employees to have 1-2 hours during that day to participate in cleaning up  

their area of the community. The City would provide  the standard 

Clean Up Green Up bags, which they Parks staff manage every year. Of course, participation by 
groups would be voluntary. If a business or organization was unable to participate on that specific 

day, but still wished to clean up an area of the community,  they could obviously choose an 
alternative date that better fits their schedule. 

 

 

 

 

Passed unanimously by the PRAHSC Committee on April 10, 2017.  
 

  

CCiittyy  ooff  BBeetthheell  
CCoommmmiitttteeeess  aanndd  CCoommmmiissssiioonnss  

 

RReeccoommmmeennddaattiioonn  ttoo  CCiittyy  CCoouunncciill  
Committees and Commissions that wish to make a recommendation to City Council should turn this 

form in to the City Clerk or to the City Council representative on the committee or commission. 

23



 

 

Public Safety & Transportation Commission 1 City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 5, 2017 

City of Bethel, Alaska  

Public Safety & Transportation Commission 

April 5, 2017 Regular Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 

A regular meeting of the Public Safety and Transportation Commission was held on April 5th, 

2017 in the Bethel City Hall Council Chambers. 

  

This meeting was called to order at 6:33 pm. 

 

 

II. ROLL CALL 

 

Present:  Joan Dewey Chair 

Eileen Henrikson Vice Chair 

Norman Ayagalria Council Representative 

Naim Shabani  

Mary Weiss 

 

Absent: 

Julene Webber 

Daniel Maczynski 

 

Ex-Officio Present:  

Andre Achee Chief of Police  

Bill Howell Fire Chief 

Christina Him Recorder and Transportation Inspector Designee 

  

 

III.  PEOPLE TO BE HEARD 

 

No one to be heard.  

 

 

 

IV.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOVED: Weiss Motion to approve the agenda. 

SECONDED: Henrikson 

VOTE ON MAIN 

MOTION 

All in favor. 

 

 

 

 

24



 

 

Public Safety & Transportation Commission 2 City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 5, 2017 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

MOVED: Henrikson Motion to approve the minutes from the regular 

meeting of March 1st, 2017. SECONDED: Shabani 

VOTE ON MAIN 

MOTION 

All in favor. 

 

 

VI. SPECIAL ITEM OF BUSINESS:  

 

A. Commission Training (City Clerk, Lori Strickler)  

 

See training packet in Commission Packet.  

 

VII.   UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

A. Update on the Traffic Impact Analysis of the YKHC’s hospital expansion 

project (City Planner, Ted Meyer) 

 

City Planner Ted Meyer opted to not attend due to not having any new updates, as 

the YK Traffic Mitigation work group did not hold a meeting.  

 

B. GEMT (Ground Emergency Medical Transportation) Program Resolution 

(Fire Chief Howell) 

 

See document in Commission Packet.  

 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS  

A. Public Safety Marking System for Boardwalk (Program Specialist Building & 

Maintenance/Parks & Rec, Matt Ross)  

 

Discussed ideas to create a marking system either via a color coding system or signs 

at entries of boardwalk to differentiate various locations on the boardwalk for public 

safety purposes. No action taken.  

 

B. Reinstatement of the Temporary Police Officer Program (Council 

Representative Ayagalria) 

 

Discussed, no action taken.   

 

IX. CHIEFS’ COMMENTS 

 

Chief Bill Howell- See report in commission packet. 

 

Chief Andre Achee – See report in commission packet.  

 

X. TRANSPORTATION INSPECTOR’S REPORT 

 

25



 

 

Public Safety & Transportation Commission 3 City of Bethel, Alaska 

  April 5, 2017 

See report in commission packet. 

 

 

XI. COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVE’S COMMENTS 

 

Norman Ayagalria – Concerned about the reinstatement of the Temporary Police 

Officer Program and the ability to staff the police department. Has many issues with 

the police department not being fully staffed. A solution to alleviate this problem, at 

least for a short term, is reinstatement of the Temporary Police Officer Program to 

City Council, to get at least 2 police officers hired. Council Representative Ayagalria 

will continue this progression of gathering information to present it to Council in 

hopes it will pass.  

 

 

XII. COMMISSION MEMBER COMMENTS 

 

Naim Shabani – Wanted to make note that for a brief period, the video cameras in cabs 

stopped working. Kusko Cab specifically, sent out all of their cameras back to Janus Cam in 

California for repair. This cost Kusko cab an additional $800. The reason the cameras began 

malfunctioning was due to the dust, and it will inevitably reoccur, however as of right now, 

all cameras are working properly.  

 

Eileen Henrikson – No comment.   

 

Mary Weiss – No comment.  

 

Joan Dewey – No comment. 

 

Norman Ayagalria – No comment.  

 

 

 

XIII. ADJOURNMENT 

MOVED: Shabani  Motion to adjourn. 

SECONDED: Henrikson 

VOTE ON MAIN 

MOTION 

All in favor. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 8:23 pm. 

 

 

APPROVED THIS _______  DAY OF_______________________, 2017.    

   

      

_________________________    ________________________ 

Christina Him, Recorder     Joan Dewey, Chair 

26



27



28



29



30



 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes                    City of Bethel, Alaska 
March 13, 2017 

 
   

 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes 

March 13, 2017 Regular Meeting Bethel, Alaska 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order by Judy Wasierski at 6:10pm. 
 
II. ROLL CALL 
Comprising a quorum, the following members were present: Judy Wasierski, Barbara Mosier, Brian 
Lefferts, Kathryn Baldwin, Justin Wintersteen, and Fred Watson 
  
Excused absent (s): Michelle DeWitt and Beverly Hoffman 
Unexcused absent: Kathy Hanson 
 
Also in attendance were the following: 
Committee Recorder, Pauline Boratko 
Parks and Recreation Representative, Matt Ross 
YK Fitness Center Director, Stacey Reardon  
 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD:  
 
IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
MOVED BY: Brian Lefferts Motion to approve the agenda 
SECONDED BY: Barbara Mosier 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

 
V.  APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES:  

 
VI. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS: 
 
VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. Individual to provide report to March 14 report to City Council meeting: Judy Wasierski 
volunteered to give the report. 

B. Unresolved Recommendations and Action Memorandums- An excel spreadsheet of all the 
action memorandums and recommendations was presented to the committee.  

C. Updates: Owl Park and YK-KUC Trail- No new updates given this month for the Owl Park, 
committee suggest that they communicate with the planning department to verify the routes 
of the YK-KUC trail. 

D. Log Cabin/4H Building Budget Separation:  

E. Fiscal Year 2017 Parks and Recreation Budget: no new information this month, but waiting 
on feedback from the Public Works Director and the Finance Director.   
 

MOVED BY: Brian Lefferts Motion to approve the regular and special meeting 
minutes for January 9, 2017, January 26, 2017, and 
February 13, 2017. 

SECONDED BY: Barbara Mosier 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

MOVED BY: Brian Lefferts Motion to recommend the City to separate the Log Cabin 
and 4-H Center costs for the FY18 Budget. SECONDED BY: Barbara Mosier 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

31



 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes                    City of Bethel, Alaska 
March 13, 2017 

 
   

 

VIII. Parks and Recreation Department Report-Matt Ross: Matt Ross informed the 
committee that there has been no new renters for the Log Cabin despite their effort to 
advertise. One Employee John Michaels has transferred to another department leaving Matt the 
only employee in Parks and Recreation. Matt is currently working to get the boardwalk labeled to 
help the Police Department better identify where first responders are needed.  
F. City of Bethel Employee Wellness Program:  

 
G. Balance on dedicated Pool Fund: No new information this month 
H. Fiscal Year 2017 YK Fitness Center Budget: No new information this month 
I. Sub Committee Reports: Water temperature reports that the water temperature has been 

good and community has been enjoying the temperature in the spa. Marketing-no new 
updates this month. Physical Facility- 

 
J. Arts at the YK Fitness Center: no new updates this month 
K. YK Fitness Center Logo: a logo has not been chosen, drafts of possible logos from a 

professional designer was presented to the committee for input. 
L. Health Fitness Operations Plan: The plan went to the City Manager in Oct of 2016, 

corrections are being made then it will come to the committee then to council.  
IX. YK Fitness Facility Director Report- Stacey Reardon: 
 Stacey Reardon reports that it has been suggested to have a booth at the Camai Festival. The 

building issues are being addressed and to be fixed before winter. There is going to be a Kids 
Don’t Float activity coming up for the community at the Pool. 

X.  New Business: 
A.  LKSD Migrant Education Grant: The money has not all been spent and they suggested that 

they use it towards an activity at the Fitness Center. 
B.  Board Walk Identification System: Matt Ross addressed this issue earlier in his department 

report 
C.  Parks and Recreation Department Structure:  The committee discussed the merging of the 

Parks and Recreation Department with the Public Works Department and what is wanted for 
the Parks and Recreation Department to grow or to subcontract activities and to gauge 
public interest.  

XI. MEMBER COMMENTS: 
J. Wasierski- no comment 
B. Mosier- no comment 
F. Watson- Good to see you Brian.  
J. Winterseeen- no comment.  
K. Baldwin- no comment. 

MOVED BY: Brian Lefferts Motion that if the City does not support the plan as 
recommended by the Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health 
and Safety Center Committee, we would like the 
opportunity to hear concerns in person before the final 
decision is made by the City Council.  

SECONDED BY: Kathryn Baldwin 

VOTE ON MOTION: All in favor, 5 yes 1 abstain, motion carries 

MOVED BY: Brian Lefferts Motion to recommend the Health Fitness Center has a 
dedicated repair and replacement fund for the systematic 
replacement or renovation of capital assets having a 
useful life of more than two years and a repair or 
replacement cost of more than $5000, and that a 
percentage of the Alcohol tax be dedicated to this fund, 
based on recommended amount needed, based on 
evaluation of the facility needs. 

SECONDED BY: Kathryn Baldwin 

VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

32



 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health & Safety Center Committee Minutes                    City of Bethel, Alaska 
March 13, 2017 

 
   

 

B. Lefferts- no comment. 
 
XII.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
APPROVED THIS ___ DAY OF__________, 2017.   
 
 
 
 
_____________________________ _____________________________ 
  
Pauline Boratko, Committee Recorder Judy Wasierski, Co- Chair 

MOVED BY: Brian Lefferts Motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:47pm 
SECONDED BY: Kathryn Baldwin 
VOTE ON MOTION: Unanimously approved 

33



34



35



 

 
Public Works Committee Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 
  February 15, 2017 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
Public Works Committee Minutes 

February 15, 2017 Regular Meeting Bethel, Alaska 
I. CALL TO ORDER: 
A regular Public Works Committee Meeting was held on February 15, 2017 at the 
council chambers of the City Hall, Bethel, Alaska. Jennifer Dobson called the meeting to 
order at 6:40 pm.  
 
II. ROLL CALL: 
Comprising a quorum of the committee, the following were present: Jennifer Dobson, 
Byron Maczynski, Scott Guinn, and Robert Champagne 
 
Unexcused absence: Joseph Klejka  
 
Also Present:  
Public Works Director, Bill Arnold 
Committee Recorder, Pauline Boratko 
 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD: none 
 
IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
MOVED BY: Byron Maczynski Motion to approve the agenda. 
SECONDED BY: Scott Guinn 
VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Motion carried by unanimous vote. 

 
V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
MOVED BY: Scott Guinn  Motion to approve minutes for December 21, 

2016, and January 18, 2017 SECONDED BY: Byron Maczynski 
VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Motion carried by unanimous vote. 

 
VI. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

 
VII.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  

A. Institutional Corridor Piped Water Supply Project: Currently working on the 
last of the easements then it will be back out for bids as soon as they 
easements are completed  

B. Sewer Lagoon- PER (Preliminary Engineering Report) and ER (Environmental 
Report) for Truck Dump site and other options: CH2M Hill is currently 
negotiating a contract. The Summer of 2017 is predicted to start 
constructing. 

36



 

 
Public Works Committee Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 
  February 15, 2017 

C. Update on boardwalk/trail behind the college to hospital: Council has declined 
the grant funding to construct the trail.  

D. Leveling of the Bethel Heights Water Treatment Plant Building: The treatment 
plant has moved 1¼ inch in the last 6 weeks. It will be monitored, measured, 
and results will be given to committee next month.  

E. 2015 Water Quality Reports and customer concerns: tabled 
F. Opening of a shop foreman position: The position has been filled and in just 

one week has seen positive change.  
VIII.  NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Public Works Capital Project List: Public Works Director presented the capital 
projects list he put together prioritizing for improvement projects with in the 
department.  
 

IX. DIRECTOR’S REPORT: Director of Public Works, Bill Arnold addressed the 
unclear wording of the BMC Codes. The codes should clearly state to the public 
on the property ownership of water and sewer lines.  

 
X.       MEMBER COMMENTS: 

Robert Champagne- no comment  
Jennifer Dobson- no comment 
Scott Guinn- no comment 
Byron Maczynski-no comment 

 
XI. ADJOURNMENT: 
MOVED BY: Scott Guinn Motion to adjourn.  
SECONDED BY: Byron Maczynski 
VOTE ON 
MOTION 

Motion carried by unanimous vote 

 
With no further business, meeting adjourned at 7:30 pm 
 
APPROVED THIS ______ DAY OF _____________, 2017.  
 
 
__________________________    ________________________ 
Pauline R. Boratko      Jennifer Dobson 
Recorder of Minutes      Co-Chair      

37



 

 
Public Works Committee Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 
  March 15, 2017 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
Public Works Committee Minutes 

March 15, 2017 Regular Meeting Bethel, Alaska 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 
Due to the lack of quorum there was no regular meeting held on March 15, 2017 
 
II. ROLL CALL: 
The following were present: Joseph Klejka and Jennifer Dobson 
 
Excused absence(s): Scott Guinn and Robert Champagne 
Unexcused absent: Byron Maczynski  
 
Also Present:  
Public Works Director, Bill Arnold 
Committee Recorder, Pauline Boratko 
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:47 pm due to lack of quorum.  
 
 
APPROVED THIS ______ DAY OF _____________, 2017.  
 
 
 
__________________________    ________________________ 
Pauline R. Boratko      Joseph Klejka 
Recorder of Minutes      Chair     

38



MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:         04.01.2017 
TO:   Peter Williams, City Manager 
FROM:  Bill Arnold, Public Works Director 
SUBJECT:  Manager’s Report – 
 
Programs/Divisions 
 
Public Works Director:  
Capital Project List: 

1.  City Shop Boilers- $200,000 
2.  Streets and Roads: 2018 Mack Granite Water Truck- $234,446.04 
3. Bus Barn Foundation- $414,604 
4. City Hall Roof- $260,000 
5. Senior Center Remodel- $135,350 
6. City Shop Bathroom Remodel- $150,000 
7. Veterans Cemetery Expansion-$41,556 

 
Also, the Public Works Department has all, but three positions filled. 
 
Hauled Utilities: : For March, We have put on three new drivers. This will help 
make the routes a little bit more manageable for each driver. 
The garbage pick-up has been transferred to the landfill. There should not be much 
changing for the garbage routes.  
The water drivers have pumped nearly 2,500,000 gallons of water with an average 
of 34 stops per driver per day, the honey boys have hauled nearly 2,200,000 
gallons of sewage either to the lagoon or the highway lift station, with an average 
of 40 stops per day per driver.  
 
Utility Maintenance:  The month of march we are still leveling and flushing the 
sewer lines in Bethel Heights. We had to pull both pumps for the Bethel Heights 
ASHA lift station and install two brand new pumps. We have several fire hydrants 
in Bethel Heights that are either cracked or the valve bodies leaking, we are 
ordering new valves and they will be installed this spring. We still are changing the 
residential pumps in City Sub, and also working on the panels that control the 
pump and floats. 
 
Property Maintenance: Building Maintenance has been busy with issues 
throughout the city. Multiple issues with garage doors and openers at the Fire 

39



Station. Court House is continuing to be upgraded, LED light bulbs are being 
installed, replacing fluorescent T-8 bulbs with more efficient LED carbon fiber 
cased bulbs. We have also been walking through the pool a couple times a week, 
mechanical areas in the pool has had there lights on while no one was in the area. 
Icicles were found under the Southeast corner of the building, we found a leak in 
the spa system and we have scheduled a date for repair. On the 14th boilers at the 
pool were off on reset, we reset the boilers and remained on site until boiler temps 
were normal. The next day the pool called and said the spa was extremely hot, we 
found a loose wire on the actuator for the mixing valve and a pump was off for 
circulation. We are continuing weekend building checks because of cold 
temperatures. Drains are continually being worked on as we don’t have a line 
connected to city sewer. Warmer temperatures will help with a lot of our issues. 
 
 
Parks and Recreation: 
Closed for Winter 
 
Road Maintenance: 
Streets and Roads has been digging out snow, ice out at the culverts end with the 
420 Cat backhoe that crosses the roads, and drive ways. By doing this it will help 
in keeping the culverts from freezing and be able to find the one that are, frozen 
when it comes to steaming them out this spring when the thaw starts.      
 Street and Roads also drove the D8 Cat from the city shop to the city sad pit after 
the services and mechanic work was, done on the dozer. We did this before the 
thaw so we could drive the D8 across H-Marker Lake when the ices was still thick 
enough to do so.    
 Streets and Roads also push up a pile sand for the landfill at the city sand pit to 
cover the trash at the dump from this winter. We are now hauling the cover to the 
landfill and will keep hauling until the thaw, when the road into the sand pit will be 
muddy.   
 Streets and Roads did plow snow around the sewer lagoon up to the sewer lagoon 
pump so that when it starts to thaw out it will dry out quicker. In addition, pip 
water and sewer can drive in there to keep track of the two-sewer lagoon as to how 
full the lagoons are. 
 
Vehicles and Equipment:  
Been a good month slowly getting caught up still a lot to do. I feel change is a 
good thing for the good of the city as well as the public. I know for some change is 
not easy however, it is definitely needed especially in our case so please be patient 
with me and maybe a little opened minded as well. I am open for any thoughts  

40



concerns or comments please come to me with them if you have one.  
Thx Jake Thompson 
V&E foreman 
545-0157   
 
Transit System:  
Looks like spring might be just around the corner.  One day it’s 10 above the next 
35-40.  It wouldn’t be long until the sighting of the first ducks and geese will be 
seen and people will be checking the river to see how break up is developing.  The 
days are getting longer and it’s harder for the “kids” to focus on school when 
they’d like to be outside playing and walking around.  It’s always an interest time 
of year. 

The City Shop is moving forward and major repairs on the buses seems to happen 
quicker.  I’m still trying to help out by changing oil/filters and flat tires.  It’s not 
much but helps a little.  Bus 438, the older small gas bus, is starting to use oil, 
about a quart every two weeks.  It has 110,900+ miles and may need a tune up if 
we keep using it.  There is a State Grant for two new buses and the City Council 
would need to come up with a match amount for us to get them.  Money is tight 
and I’m not sure they’ll approve it.  The Bus 439, our newest bus, has 83,000+ 
miles and at this rate it’ll be good for only a couple more years.   

On Friday afternoon during the Green Line bus schedule, 3:30-6:30, we’ll stop at 
the Camai Festival and drop off and or pick up passengers and then on Saturday 
the Red Line will stop at the Camai Festival, during its regular schedule, 9-12 and 
1-3, and drop off or pick up passengers.  Last year we ran a bus Friday night, 
Saturday and Sunday and only had a total of 20+ passengers and it was   

The transit ridership seems to be holding steady, for the second and third quarters 
we had, 1520 elders/seniors, 455 youth, 1021 disadvantage, and 6045 general, for a 
total ridership of 9841. As the weather turns nicer more and more people are 
enjoying it and walking.  Our FY 17 Transit Budget is looking okay, at the end of 
the seventh month, July through January, we’ve spent about 40% of the budget, 
leaving us about 60% remaining for the last five months.  We still need to order a 
few more office and janitorial supplies, and have the City Shop do the major 
maintenance service on the three buses but we still should be well within the 
budget. 

41



Bethel Transit System goal for the FY 2017 is to show a 15-20 percent increase in 
ridership, over the previous year.  I think we can do this by providing better and 
more dependable / reliable service for our passengers.  

 
 
Landfill / Recycle Center: 
 
The landfill is progressing along just fine. We are beginning to do our spring 
covering of trash, this of course cannot be accomplished without the hard work and 
abilities of our Streets and Roads and Mechanic’s working together with us to 
deliver a few hundred truck loads of sand. Our equipment is getting repaired as a 
direct result of a new foreman in place at the shop. 
 
In April Samuel Brink the landfill Tech. will be attending the Swana training 
program to become certified in landfill management. The purpose of this is that he 
will be able to step right into my place when I retire and that time has not been 
determined at this point.  However, when that time comes, the City will have 
someone certified and qualified to keeping the landfill running smoothly and 
correctly. 
  
Staffing Issues/Concerns/Training:  
 
   
 

42



BETHEL RIDGECREST DRIVE

REHABILITATION

PROJECT NO. 0209(2)/52452

STATE OF ALASKA

43



44



45

RRHammel
Oval

RRHammel
Rectangle

RRHammel
Callout
Flashing Beacon

RRHammel
Callout
Begin School Zone



℄

46

RRHammel
Polygon

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Oval

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Polygon

RRHammel
Oval

RRHammel
Polygon

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Polygon

RRHammel
Rectangle

RRHammel
Rectangle

RRHammel
Callout
Advance Warning Sign

RRHammel
Callout
Stop Sign

RRHammel
Callout
Replace Existing Stop Sign

RRHammel
Callout
Luminaire

RRHammel
Callout
Luminaire

RRHammel
Callout
Replace Existing Stop Sign



47

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Callout
Replace Existing Crosswalk



48

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Callout
Replace Existing Crosswalk



49

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Line

RRHammel
Callout
Replace Existing Crosswalk

RRHammel
Callout
New Crosswalk

RRHammel
Oval

RRHammel
Rectangle

RRHammel
Callout
Flashing Beacon

RRHammel
Callout
End School Zone



 

Special Order of Business 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



 
 

City of Bethel Proclamation 
 
 

CLEAN UP GREEN UP MAY 1ST- MAY 13TH  
 
Whereas, our Clean Up Green Up program helps beautify Bethel by encouraging work 

groups, civic groups, schools, neighborhoods, families and individuals to collect 
trash, dispose of unwanted property and improve the appearance of land and 
buildings;  

 
Whereas, over the winter months, litter builds up under the snow, and is not revealed until 

spring;   
 
Whereas, trash, abandoned automobiles, large appliances are unsightly and detract from a 

positive community image;  
 
Whereas, the governing body encourages citizens and organizations to take pride in their 

community and work together to clean up our beautiful city;  
 
Whereas, the City of Bethel provides yellow plastic bags and other disposal services during 

clean up green up to make it easier for residents to clean up their properties;   
 
Whereas, the governing body encourages volunteers to help the City of Bethel with a “City-

Wide Clean Up Day” on Friday, May 12 and encourage everyone to fill a yellow 
bag on that day;  

 
Whereas, more information on the Clean Up Green Up activities and services can be 

found on our website: www.cityofbethel.org.  
 

 
Now therefore be it resolved that the City of Bethel hereby proclaims Clean Up 
Green Up to be May 1-13, 2017 and a special give-it-your-all Clean Up Green Up day on 
May 12, 2017 and encourages all citizens, big and small, to pick up trash, dispose of 
unwanted property and improve the appearance of our residences and work places.   
 

Signed this 25th day in April 2017.    

  

 

       _____________________________ 

      Richard Robb, Mayor 

 

_____________________________ 

 Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

51

http://www.cityofbethel.org/


YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 1 of 15 

Staffing 

Operational Staff: We are currently looking for 1-2 new facility attendants. 

Programming Staff: We are still looking for programming staff to fill the below roles: 

 Swim Instructors –  

 Certified Lifeguards –  

 Fitness Instructors and Certified Personal Trainers 

 Instructors for any activity, craft or music patrons might be interested in learning.  

Anyone interested in working with us can call 543-0390. 

 

Programming 

VPSO Training:  On March 2nd we conducted a water safety training with a group of 10 VPSOs from AVCP.  The 

participants practiced different ways of rescuing individuals from both in and out of the water, worked on techniques 

for staying safe in the event of an in water rescue and best practices for ice rescues.   

 

Winter Carnival: On March 3 & 4 we partnered with the Judo Club for a Mini Winter Carnival.  

 

A HUGE thank you to Dennis Dishon at YUUT and to the Bethel City Fire Department for creating an ice rink for the 

carnival and for helping keep it going through remainder of the season! 

  

 

52



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 2 of 15 

Kid’s Don’t Float:  On March 17th we worked with the Kid’s Don‘t Float program to help teach safety and survival 

skills to 158 students.    

  

Fitness and Aquatic Classes: Spring classes began March 7th and run through May 14th.   

 
Drop in totals are the number of drop in sessions purchased during the session.  For the session in progress, total represents purchases to date.  

Rentals:  February rentals included 6 parties, and 4 hours of lane rental for VPSO training.   

Class Registrations
Fall 1 

2016

Fall 2 

2016

Winter 

2017

Spring 

2017

3-5 year old Ballet 19 17 12 9

6-9 year old Ballet N/A N/A 8 12

Youth Beginner Jazz 10

Youth Intermediate/Advanced Jazz 3

Adult Swimming 4

Aqua Zumba 18 10 7 10

Bootcamp 10

Boxing 8 1 1 5

Parent Child Swim Class (1.5-3 year old) 3 4 3 4

Preschool 2 Swim Class (3-5 year old) 5

Preschool 2 Swim Class (3-5 year old) 4 5 6 5

Preschool 3 Swim Class (3-5 year old) 3 5 4 2

Youth Level 1 Swim Class (5+) 4 6 4 2

Youth Level 2 Swim Class (5+) 3 4 5 7

Youth Level 3 Swim Class (5+) 6 7 8 7

Youth Level 4 Swim Class (5+) 0 8 9 5

Youth Level 5 Swim Class (5+) 4 0 3 0

Neqcuarpak Swim Club N/A N/A 5 11

Cycling class N/A 4 3 4

Master's Swim N/A 4 4 4

Water Polo N/A 8 6 0

Guitar N/A N/A 8 5

Introduction to Weight Training N/A N/A 2 4

Ukulele N/A N/A 3 0

Judo 7 12

Yoga 12

Registration Total 72 83 101 152

Drop In Total 26 20 20 42

Participation Total 98 103 121 194

53



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 3 of 15 

Facility Maintenance 

Maintenance during the month of March was limited to essential work only due to lack of staff.  New Staff were hired 

starting end of March and regular maintenance throughout the facility resumed.  

 

Water Usage for March was over due to the leak in the spa jet system.  The leak was repaired on 4/4/17 and April 

water usage is expected to return to normal.  

Warranty Maintenance:  We continue to wait on movement on warranty maintenance.  

 

Routine Maintenance:   

 3/8/17 and 3/29/17 cleaned hair and lint strainers and backwashed pool 

 3/9/17 cleaned hair and lint strainers and backwashed spa 

 

Maintenance needed: 

 Experiencing difficulties with BIAMP Interface modules for playing music in the cardio/weight room and studio.  

We are reviewing system to determine whether they can be fixed or will need to be replaced.  

 The strainer on the UV system for the pool needs to be cleaned, but we have not been able to remove it for 

maintenance due to how the pipes around it have been installed.  We will need to work with the City to 

determine a safe way to access the pool UV strainer.  

 

 

Marketing 

Website: we are experiencing difficulties with emails sent through the website.  Currently they are not correctly 

forwarding to the Facility Director through the site.  We are working to resolve the issue.   

Facebook:  We continue to utilize the facebook page for sharing facility information.   

Radio: Our Program Manager, Shadi Rabi, continues to call into KYUK on Friday mornings and we are sharing facility 

information with KYUK and KYKD.  

Movie Theater: Our Spring Break Sports Camp and March Winter Carnival were advertised at the movie theater.  

 

Facility Utilization 

Facility Check-In: Facility Check-In numbers represent the total number of patrons who visited the facility and are 

based on a compilation of the number of members who checked-in, the number of daily passes sold and the number 

of participants in programs, activities, rentals and special events.  These numbers represent facility visits, not 

individuals as most individuals visit the facility multiple times.  

 

Facility Check-In Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Total

Member Checkins 1,830 2,134 2,227 2,333 2,047 2,064 2,015 2,578 2,654 19,882

Daily Admissions 1,189 1,095 833 827 979 873 910 1,222 1,751 9,679

Rentals 25 105 186 150 162 130 87 125 135 1,105

Events 0 30 0 100 0 55 0 68 62 315

Fitness Programming 64 12 75 101 123 96 112 150 101 834

Aquatics Programming 0 220 258 309 283 160 231 322 303 2,086

Youth Programs 33 33

Monthly Totals 3,108 3,596 3,579 3,820 3,594 3,378 3,355 4,465 5,006 33,934

54



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 4 of 15 

The above facility utilization rates include several groups from LKSD who utilized the pool for recreation.  

 

 

Area Usage: Count of the number of individuals in each area at the top and bottom of each hour.  Showing trends 

and patterns of area usage, these numbers are not an accurate reporting of the overall number of patrons using the 

facility as patrons who remain in any area for more than 30 minutes are counted more than once. The below charts 

show average number of users for each area, by day of the week, per 30 minute period.    

Group Name School Head Staff Name #Staff #Students Activity

District Team - Tooksok BayTooksok Bay Jennifer Boyd 2 20 pool

District Team-Akiuk Akiuk Peter Schneidler 1 10 pool

District Team Kwigillingok Karen Paul 1 16 pool

life Skills-BRHS Akiuk Peter Schneidler 1 10 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 3 5 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 2 fitness

Gladys Jung girls swim classGladys Jung Mrs. Hoffman 1 14 pool

science swim BRHS Sarah Lucas 5 24 pool

swim team BRHS Ms. Andrews 1 5 pool

LKSD Science Fair BRHS Brenda Zera 3 15 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 0 1 fitness

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 2 6 pool

Gladys Jung girls swim classGladys Jung Mrs. Hoffman 1 14 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 2 4 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 0 1 fitness

intensive needs class Gladys Jung Mr. Garcia 2 4 pool

LKSD job fair Kwigillingok Megan 2 12 pool

kids don't float ME Atwood 3 34 pool

kids don't float ME Scotia 2 26 pool

kids don't float ME Scotia 1 20 pool

kids don't float ME Harris 7 17 pool

kids don't float ME Sarah Jung 2 21 pool

kids don't float ME cronk+dhaemers 2 40 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 2 4 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 3 5 pool

life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 0 1 fitness

Gladys Jung girls swim classGladys Jung Mrs. Hoffman 1 14 pool

district Mrs. Kara Mancinotti 1 10 pool

bethel tour atmautluak mr  strunk 2 10 pool

Life Skills-BRHS BRHS Jacobson 2 4 pool

Life Skills-BRHS BRHS Ms. Jacobson 3 5 pool

intensive needs class Gladys Jung Mr. Garcia 5 pool

Totals 58 379

55



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 5 of 15 

Combined Facility Totals 

 
 

 
  

56



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 6 of 15 

 
 

 
  

57



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 7 of 15 

 
 

 
   

58



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 8 of 15 

 

 

 

  

59



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 9 of 15 

 

 

 

 

60



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 10 of 15 

  

Concessions Annual 

Total

Annual 

Total

Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

4oz juice 7 19 35 5 2 68 $3.55 13.47$        4.97$          Jan-00 $23.41

Apple Sauce 1 1 $1.89 $1.89

Big Pickle 3 3 1 4 4 15 $7.08 $4.25 $1.42 $5.68 $5.68 $24.11

Bottle Water 88 82 43 59 29 26 33 56 86 502 $208.97 $154.87 $81.23 $111.39 $54.79 $49.08 $62.33 $105.75 $160.48 $988.89

Burger/Rib Sandwich 11 7 $67.43 $42.93

Breakfast Sandwich 2 4 3 5 5 19 $8.96 $17.92 $13.44 $22.40 $22.40 $85.12

Burrito 3 2 4 15 12 1 18 13 16 84 $14.25 $6.60 $13.20 $49.51 $39.60 $3.30 $59.40 $42.92 $52.82 $281.60

canned juice 11-13oz 13 48 $36.79 $135.84

Candy 88 51 51 56 35 19 28 58 75 461 $174.42 $96.32 $96.32 $124.09 $82.59 $44.83 $66.05 $136.88 $176.98 $998.48

Chicken Nuggets 36 14 11 11 16 8 21 11 10 138 $116.61 $44.00 $36.31 $36.30 $50.44 $26.41 $69.31 $33.00 $33.01 $445.39

Chips 110 73 98 118 115 83 80 89 121 887 $275.00 $182.50 $231.63 $278.43 $271.33 $193.48 $186.40 $214.72 $283.11 $2,116.60

Corn Dog 30 28 30 26 31 20 15 6 26 212 $82.50 $72.56 $77.79 $67.43 $80.41 $51.84 $38.93 $15.56 $67.44 $554.46

Crackers 3 8 10 12 7 4 2 5 8 59 $1.50 $9.44 $11.80 $14.16 $8.26 $4.71 $2.36 $3.54 $9.44 $65.21

Cup of Noodles 1 12 19 13 3 5 53 $2.36 $28.32 $42.47 $30.67 $9.44 $11.80 $125.06

Cupcakes-2 pack 4 4 19 15 17 21 23 103 $11.32 $11.32 $53.77 $39.62 $48.11 $62.26 $65.09 $291.49

Extra Cheese 5 5 14 20 5 10 2 14 13 88 $3.75 $3.75 $9.98 $14.17 $3.55 $7.08 $1.41 $9.93 $9.19 $62.81

Emergen-C 3 5 6 11 25 $2.25 $4.72 $5.43 $7.80 $20.20

Fruit Snacks 34 4 8 5 3 13 43 46 156 $48.25 $7.55 $15.10 $9.43 $5.65 $21.45 $70.95 $75.92 $254.30

Gatorade 98 125 124 114 125 135 156 105 142 1124 $392.00 $500.00 $469.65 $430.00 $471.44 $509.24 $577.15 $396.06 $535.59 $4,281.13

Granola Bars 17 31 31 31 33 28 72 61 54 358 $25.17 $43.98 $43.94 $42.52 $46.77 $102.00 $87.78 $73.62 $465.78

Halloween Candy 12 5 17 $12.00 $4.71 $16.71

Hot Dogs 43 43 22 24 37 20 7 14 26 236 $155.78 $152.20 $77.85 $84.94 $130.96 $70.77 $24.77 $49.55 $97.85 $844.67

Hot Pocket 18 18 23 16 6 8 13 7 109 $63.00 $63.63 $81.39 $56.64 $21.21 $28.32 $46.01 $24.77 $384.97

Hot Wings 3 3 8 10 12 36 $11.31 $11.31 $30.17 $37.74 $45.26 $135.79

Jalapeno Poppers 6 3 13 5 6 7 5 45 $19.81 $9.91 $42.91 $16.51 $19.82 $23.11 $16.52 $148.59

Jalapenos 2 2 $1.50 $1.50

Large Coffee 1 12 39 11 12 21 25 121 $1.89 $22.66 $73.68 $20.79 $22.67 $39.66 $47.22 $228.57

Large Hot Chocolate-2 packets 1 2 10 21 13 18 18 83 $1.89 $3.78 $18.89 $39.62 $24.55 $34.01 $33.98 $156.72

Large Juice 69 68 33 20 17 20 11 83 26 347 $270.52 $256.43 $124.42 $75.46 $64.13 $75.46 $41.49 $313.00 $98.09 $1,319.00

Mac&Cheese 2 5 1 3 11 $7.00 $16.50 $3.30 $9.90 $36.70

Muffin 29 29 18 20 18 26 13 40 193 $79.75 $81.91 $48.11 $56.60 $50.94 $73.58 $39.62 $104.71 $535.22

Nachos 69 101 96 159 69 110 115 125 133 977 $310.50 $454.50 $430.17 $739.47 $325.59 $518.99 $542.57 $589.85 $627.64 $4,539.28

Nutella &Go pack 10 1 11 $30.00 $2.83 $32.83

Oatmeal 9 11 3 19 16 19 11 11 99 $12.76 $15.56 $4.25 $26.92 $22.64 $26.92 $15.59 $15.59 $140.23

Pancake/Sausage stick 4 13 18 13 24 72 $9.44 $30.67 $42.47 $30.68 $54.27 $167.53

Peanut butter crackers 11 3 7 6 1 11 9 48 $16.50 $4.50 $10.01 $8.51 $1.42 $15.58 $12.77 $69.29

Pizza 19 31 27 38 40 24 26 51 38 294 $104.50 $160.89 $140.13 $197.22 $207.60 $119.37 $140.11 $264.68 $197.20 $1,531.70

Popcorn 2 2 6 1 1 2 14 $2.36 $7.07 $1.18 $1.18 $2.36 $14.15

Propel Water 25 57 63 50 35 40 41 311 $64.77 $147.76 $163.25 $129.61 $90.96 $103.69 $106.34 $806.38

Pudding Cup 5 2 5 4 9 4 5 2 36 $7.50 $2.84 $7.10 $5.67 $12.76 $5.68 $7.06 $2.84 $51.45

Razz Tea 8 6 $34.00 $25.48

Salted Peanuts 2 2 4 $4.00 $4.00 $8.00

SanPellegrino 14 14 $40.98 $40.98

Small Coffee 19 34 41 34 33 23 28 34 34 280 $23.40 $40.12 $48.38 $40.11 $38.93 $27.14 $33.04 $40.12 $40.11 $331.35

Small Hot Chocolate-1 packet 24 26 12 38 21 22 11 13 167 $28.32 $30.68 $14.16 $44.84 $24.78 $25.96 $12.98 $15.34 $197.06

Small Juice 14 52 58 79 92 75 99 69 67 605 $28.00 $104.00 $110.30 $149.13 $173.65 $141.56 $181.28 $143.49 $153.40 $1,184.81

Soft Pretzels 17 169 185 204 172 187 230 264 253 1681 $59.50 $591.50 $654.54 $752.23 $648.82 $701.56 $867.69 $999.49 $950.51 $6,225.84

String Cheese 10 13 5 9 37 $11.79 $15.34 $5.90 $9.44 $42.47

Trail Mix 3 9 9 16 5 15 12 1 70 $6.62 $19.08 $19.11 $33.94 $8.51 $31.82 $25.44 $4.24 $148.76

Vitamin Water 1 1 22 34 20 27 17 11 59 192 $3.77 $3.77 $82.96 $128.23 $75.44 $98.07 $64.12 $41.49 $222.59 $720.44

Ice Cream Bars 9 $33.95

Yogurt 1 1 4 13 4 23 $2.36 $2.36 $9.44 $30.65 $9.43 $54.24

Total 800 1042 1055 1245 1188 1079 1250 1379 1552 10488 $2,384.89 $3,152.11 $3,092.41 $3,769.41 $3,426.47 $3,185.55 $3,648.41 $4,247.30 $4,671.03 $31,201.16

Number of Sales by Item Value of Sales per Item

61



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 11 of 15 

 

Pro-Shop
Annual 

Total

Annual 

Total

Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

Adult Goggles 24 5 5 43 19 50 35 37 57 275 $432.00 $90.00 $56.60 $486.76 $215.08 566 396.2 418.85 645.25 $3,306.74

Adult Silicon Swim Cap 2 4 1 1 2 1 6 17 $18.86 $37.72 $9.43 9.43 18.86 9.43 56.58 $160.31

Anti fog spray 6 1 33.96 5.66

Animal Kids Goggles 38 29 16 23 29 13 148 $285.00 $175.00 $77.18 $108.55 $136.81 61.34 $843.88

Arm Floats 8 4 4 6 3 11 36 $30.18 $15.09 15.08 22.63 11.32 41.53 $135.83

Beach Balls 2 3 4 1 0 5 3 2 20 $6.00 $5.78 $7.55 $1.88 9.44 5.66 3.78 $40.09

Beach Towel 2 5 1 16 3 2 2 5 6 42 $36.00 $50.00 $10.00 $150.94 $28.29 $18.86 $18.86 $47.15 $56.59 $416.69

Boys Swim Trunks 25 14 8 24 11 12 8 12 17 131 $575.00 $319.00 $154.35 $452.86 $207.57 $226.44 $150.95 $226.43 $320.77 $2,633.37

Camelbak eddy Water Bottle 1 4 2 7 $25.00 $95.74 $47.17 $167.91

Critter Silicon Swim Cap 5 2 1 2 2 3 4 3 22 $60.00 $20.00 $7.55 $15.10 $15.09 $22.65 $30.19 $22.64 $193.22

Dive Rings, Sticks or Discs 3 8 8 3 11 15 9 5 3 65 $27.00 $40.00 $38.31 $14.16 $51.89 $70.78 $42.47 $23.59 $14.16 $322.36

Diving Sticks 2 2 4 $18.00 $18.00 $36.00

Ear plugs 15 15 17 11 16 8 4 10 7 103 $71.25 $41.00 $33.00 $20.78 $30.24 $15.12 $7.56 $18.89 $13.23 $251.07

Flip Flops 3 2 2 6 5 5 23 $15.75 $8.00 $7.54 $22.63 $18.86 $18.85 $91.63

Fun Kids Kickboards 4 5 2 7 4 3 6 3 2 36 $56.00 $66.00 $19.44 $66.04 $37.74 $28.30 $56.62 $28.30 $18.87 $377.31

Girls One Piece Suit 21 8 6 19 15 16 17 20 17 139 $588.00 $200.00 $116.61 $358.53 $283.05 $301.92 $320.78 $377.39 $320.78 $2,867.06

Goggle Mask 1 2 3 $14.15 $28.30 $42.45

H20 Dumbells 1 1 $15.00 $15.00

Hand Paddles 2 1 1 4 $18.00 $7.55 $7.55 $33.10

Head Phones 2 4 1 5 1 1 2 16 $14.00 $22.00 $4.72 $23.60 $4.72 $9.44 $78.48

Junior Goggles 4 48 62 39 21 38 26 46 53 337 $32.00 $480.00 $600.10 $367.81 $198.08 $358.43 $253.70 $433.87 $499.87 $3,223.86

Lip Balm 1 2 1 4 $2.36 $4.72 $1.89 $8.97

Lock 33 15 13 21 14 23 22 28 27 196 $330.00 $95.00 $62.76 $99.10 $66.07 $108.56 $103.83 $127.36 $127.43 $1,120.11

Men's Swim Trunks 14 14 8 13 9 8 13 10 26 115 $350.00 $350.00 $191.48 $306.55 $212.23 $188.64 $306.55 $234.47 $613.16 $2,753.08

Mesh Bag 1 2 1 4 $10.00 $18.87 $9.44 $38.31

Noodles 4 5 4 6 3 6 5 8 3 44 $34.00 $28.50 $19.44 $28.31 $14.15 $28.31 $23.58 $37.75 $14.15 $228.19

Nose Plugs 45 27 21 25 34 23 14 14 20 223 $135.00 $81.00 $61.13 $70.75 $96.22 $65.09 $39.62 $39.62 $56.60 $645.03

Regular Kickboards 1 2 3 2 2 1 11 $16.00 $19.43 $28.29 $18.86 $18.87 $9.43 $110.88

Retro Women Suit 4 6 1 11 $113.20 $169.80 $28.30 $311.30

Shammy Towel 2 1 1 1 5 $28.00 $10.00 $9.43 $9.43 $56.86

Swim Diapers 18 19 15 32 27 14 14 19 14 172 $36.00 $38.00 $28.89 $60.47 $50.96 $26.45 $26.44 $35.98 $26.41 $329.60

Water Squirts 2 3 6 1 6 18 $20.00 $15.00 $28.59 $4.72 $28.30 $96.61

Water Wings 4 2 6 $12.00 $6.00 $18.00

Women's Multi-Color one piece suit 4 5 7 1 1 18 $84.00 $200.49 $277.34 $39.62 $39.63 $641.08

Women's Solid Color One Piece Suit 13 11 5 9 6 5 4 10 27 90 $416.00 $366.00 $168.04 $297.17 $198.12 $165.10 $132.08 $330.20 $891.54 $2,964.25

Work out gloves 1 1 3 1 6 $15.00 $14.15 $42.45 $14.15 $85.75

YKFC Tank Top 1 2 3 $20.00 $37.74 $57.74

YKFC Bag 1 $4.72

YKFC T-Shirt 11 6 1 2 1 2 3 26 $330.00 $160.00 $23.58 $47.16 $23.58 $47.17 $70.75 $702.24

Star Wars Swim Shorts 2 1 1 $49.06 $24.53 $24.53

Shorty Swim Suit 3 0 1 $141.51 $141.51 $47.17

YKFC water bottle 2 1 3 6 $22.64 $23.58 $70.74 $116.96

Total 297 259 215 330 262 253 205 260 322 2387 $3,913.00 $2,850.50 $2,092.54 $3,365.62 $2,231.18 $2,490.62 $2,239.62 $2,777.95 $4,032.94 $25,521.32

Number of Sales by Item Value of Sales per Item

62



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 12 of 15 

HeathFitness Operating Budget:  March 2017 

   

Revenue Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Total Projected

Member Fees $16,840 $12,543 $9,699 $26,378 $11,867 $43,140 $10,624 $14,985 $10,739 $156,814 $336,000

Daily Admissions $5,433 $6,323 $5,084 $6,218 $5,385 $6,520 $3,573 $9,659 $6,299 $54,494 w/memberships

Rentals $940 $945 $1,375 $1,050 $1,060 $595 $520 $605 $895 $7,985 $15,000

Programming $2,300 $305 $3,580 $2,022 $3,165 $747 $5,962 $5,555 $11,532 $35,168 $110,000

Concessions $2,037 $3,148 $3,095 $3,769 $3,426 $3,186 $3,648 $4,247 $4,671 $31,227 $69,000

Pro Shop $3,883 $2,879 $2,034 $3,470 $2,231 $2,491 $2,240 $2,778 $4,033 $26,038 $48,000

Miscellaneous $0 $0 $0 $596 $0 $454 $0 $0 $467 $1,517 $0

Monthly Revenue Total $31,433 $26,142 $24,867 $43,503 $27,134 $56,677 $26,567 $37,829 $38,170 $312,322 $578,000

Expenses Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Total Budgeted

FT Staff Wages $6,991 $10,664 $15,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $15,000 $97,656 $135,000

PT Staff Wages $10,725 $22,826 $29,032 $19,752 $19,713 $19,481 $18,583 $30,762 $30,365 $201,238 $381,734

Benefits $2,687 $5,023 $6,605 $4,463 $4,457 $4,422 $4,287 $4,614 $6,805 $43,363 $96,410

Management $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $105,000 $140,000

Liability Insurance $1,255 $1,255 $1,255 $1,255 $1,225 $1,225 $1,225 $1,225 $1,225 $11,145 $15,063

Staff Meetings $583 $843 $100 $1,526 $2,200

Cost of Living Adjustment $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $27,000 $36,000

Bank Fees $604 $500 $547 $1,139 $636 $524 $809 $780 $952 $6,492 $13,000

Advertising/Marketing $155 $428 $188 $103 $532 $699 $2,105 $10,000

Sub-Contractor Maintenance Cost $5,985 $5,985 $35,790

Building Maintenance Contingency Reserve $0 $3,300

Exercise Equipment Maintenance $0 $5,600

Pool/Building Maintenance Supplies $73 $222 $78 $116 $5,803 $310 $114 $46 $310 $7,073 $5,000

Chemical Supplies $6,973 $4,637 $36 $11,645 $26,500

Paper and Cleaning Products $55 $3,692 $297 $133 $897 $98 $5,171 $22,000

Point of Sale System $1,026 $274 $263 $462 $282 $599 $338 $399 $380 $4,022 $5,889

Office Supplies $133 $221 $39 $92 $46 $7 $537 $4,000

Postage $5 $5 $1,000

Unforeseen Expense $0 $1,500

Fitness Items $51 $144 $147 $125 $466 $1,500

Aquatics Program Items $221 $595 $39 $70 $217 $70 $1,212 $2,500

Concession Items $926 $2,844 $1,795 $1,471 $3,053 $1,523 $3,143 $2,278 $3,163 $20,196 $42,000

Pro-Shop Items $0 $3,637 $793 $196 $1,396 $2,200 $397 $1,115 $3,539 $13,274 $32,000

Cable TV $0 $0 $294 $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $1,140 $1,908

Shipping $153 $76 $228 $20,000

Monthly Expenditures $38,953 $69,974 $75,544 $58,658 $62,269 $61,668 $54,949 $66,990 $77,475 $566,480 $1,039,894

63



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 13 of 15 

Daily Patron Counts Total for Facility 

 

 

 

3/1/2017 3/2/2017 3/3/2017 3/4/2017 3/5/2017 3/7/2017 3/8/2017 3/9/2017 3/10/2017 3/11/2017 3/12/2017 3/14/2017 3/15/2017 3/16/2017 3/17/2017 3/18/2017 3/19/2017 3/21/2017 3/22/2017 3/23/2017 3/24/2017 3/25/2017 3/26/2017 3/28/2017 3/29/2017 3/30/2017 3/31/2017

Time Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Time

Total: Total: 
6:00am 2 8 0 4 4 5 2 5 3 3 1 2 3 4 2 2 4 3 2 6:00am

6:30am 8 7 4 10 16 9 8 11 7 7 6 4 10 4 4 14 12 6 8 6:30am

7:00am 5 5 5 7 25 3 8 6 21 6 2 6 7 5 3 8 18 4 4 7:00am

7:30am 5 4 1 2 19 2 2 4 14 4 8 2 5 2 2 2 3 1 1 7:30am

8:00am 2 6 2 3 2 3 4 6 3 4 1 4 5 4 3 1 1 1 2 8:00am

8:30am 3 10 5 4 3 3 5 4 4 6 6 4 2 2 4 4 3 1 2 3 8:30am

9:00am 3 6 3 0 4 3 9 2 3 2 4 7 1 1 2 3 11 10 3 3 2 2 2 9:00am

9:30am 9 6 3 9 13 8 2 5 7 5 9 6 0 77 12 7 18 13 17 7 6 5 7 3 9:30am

10:00am 24 11 3 18 13 7 3 2 2 17 12 7 10 21 5 16 10 7 17 19 18 8 13 5 6 5 6 10:00am

10:30am 13 20 3 1 11 8 2 16 2 0 12 7 8 9 0 21 26 13 15 29 8 9 24 5 10 17 1 10:30am

11:00am 3 19 5 9 10 8 4 16 2 0 12 16 7 19 0 21 24 43 7 23 7 14 26 4 4 17 1 11:00am

11:30am 16 19 2 13 10 1 3 6 3 7 5 6 9 5 2 16 21 23 7 21 11 17 23 5 4 4 0 11:30am

12:00pm 14 0 0 13 18 5 5 5 6 2 6 6 10 4 12 4 11 10 6 12 13 19 21 7 5 4 4 12:00pm

12:30pm 3 2 1 18 18 9 5 6 9 6 8 14 3 3 6 9 13 11 8 6 10 24 15 13 5 3 1 12:30pm

1:00pm 6 16 5 25 8 7 16 3 3 10 19 0 19 1 0 14 9 4 14 5 14 22 22 15 3 3 1 1:00pm

1:30pm 17 33 4 23 19 0 16 1 3 31 30 0 13 2 0 21 34 6 22 17 33 24 26 21 6 1 2 1:30pm

2:00pm 18 28 14 34 30 1 10 4 2 25 30 0 11 2 2 36 51 7 24 14 23 18 43 17 20 1 8 2:00pm

2:30pm 7 2 21 30 30 0 8 4 10 30 28 6 8 1 0 51 69 25 39 34 32 19 49 17 18 3 26 2:30pm

3:00pm 7 6 13 20 39 0 6 4 3 31 26 7 3 6 1 38 70 30 39 40 22 25 43 7 14 2 37 3:00pm

3:30pm 7 6 4 16 56 0 5 10 8 31 24 8 7 10 7 21 63 25 31 22 26 29 45 4 3 4 28 3:30pm

4:00pm 4 7 6 34 55 3 6 3 8 3 28 4 7 8 11 33 58 13 12 23 14 37 35 0 3 5 13 4:00pm

4:30pm 3 11 11 50 44 6 7 8 17 26 28 0 17 5 16 33 49 26 11 22 11 29 38 4 8 7 21 4:30pm

5:00pm 24 28 11 42 35 17 21 9 8 20 23 22 14 6 27 25 31 26 10 22 12 29 35 22 33 24 16 5:00pm

5:30pm 26 34 9 39 23 34 31 18 6 17 27 31 31 15 16 22 29 16 14 24 16 26 38 42 42 27 19 5:30pm

6:00pm 32 22 23 42 24 36 26 25 5 32 27 41 30 27 20 23 20 14 17 27 23 28 41 42 32 32 20 6:00pm

6:30pm 30 10 38 35 25 13 33 23 7 28 34 38 40 19 41 23 16 37 25 18 21 21 36 16 31 45 21 6:30pm

7:00pm 30 23 26 24 28 42 31 41 18 24 30 21 59 23 26 16 14 33 28 21 19 20 35 22 25 34 16 7:00pm

7:30pm 33 33 28 33 33 35 28 46 21 19 27 29 63 20 28 16 14 48 27 23 26 29 34 32 17 21 12 7:30pm

8:00pm 25 13 21 20 20 31 24 29 41 5 0 25 36 21 9 9 16 11 24 18 35 26 25 23 20 18 23 8:00pm

8:30pm 5 2 4 0 3 0 0 22 0 6 0 0 17 0 3 2 4 0 5 5 4 0 0 7 0 7 7 8:30pm

Total: 384 397 275 548 552 310 370 337 220 384 441 335 486 264 332 483 652 457 455 492 443 483 667 369 355 310 308 Total: 

64



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 14 of 15 

Daily Patron Counts By Area 

     

3/1/2017 3/2/2017 3/3/2017 3/4/2017 3/5/2017 3/7/2017 3/8/2017 3/9/2017 3/10/2017 3/11/2017 3/12/2017 3/14/2017 3/15/2017 3/16/2017 3/17/2017 3/18/2017 3/19/2017 3/21/2017 3/22/2017 3/23/2017 3/24/2017 3/25/2017 3/26/2017 3/28/2017 3/29/2017 3/30/2017 3/31/2017

Time Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Time

Studio Studio
6:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 6:00am

6:30am 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 6:30am

7:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7:00am

7:30am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7:30am

8:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8:00am

8:30am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8:30am

9:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9:00am

9:30am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9:30am

10:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10:00am

10:30am 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 6 5 1 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 10:30am

11:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 6 5 1 0 0 0 0 5 0 2 0 0 11:00am

11:30am 10 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 5 1 0 0 0 11:30am

12:00pm 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 2 12:00pm

12:30pm 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 12:30pm

1:00pm 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 4 0 0 0 1 1 5 0 0 0 0 1:00pm

1:30pm 14 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 8 5 0 0 0 0 1:30pm

2:00pm 14 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 1 5 5 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 2 2:00pm

2:30pm 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 2:30pm

3:00pm 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 5 5 1 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 3:00pm

3:30pm 0 0 0 0 7 0 2 1 0 2 5 0 0 1 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 2 5 0 0 0 2 3:30pm

4:00pm 0 0 0 0 8 0 2 0 0 2 5 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 4:00pm

4:30pm 0 0 0 0 5 0 2 0 0 2 5 0 0 0 5 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 5 0 1 0 1 4:30pm

5:00pm 11 8 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 1 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 7 4 0 0 0 0 9 6 1 0 5:00pm

5:30pm 0 4 0 0 2 1 5 0 0 1 0 5 6 0 5 0 5 5 3 0 5 4 4 7 7 1 0 5:30pm

6:00pm 2 3 0 3 0 9 5 0 0 1 3 1 5 0 4 0 5 2 1 1 5 0 5 5 5 1 3 6:00pm

6:30pm 10 1 9 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 2 2 18 0 4 0 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 0 5 1 1 6:30pm

7:00pm 11 2 0 0 1 7 12 0 5 0 3 0 17 0 0 0 0 2 5 5 0 0 5 0 5 1 0 7:00pm

7:30pm 8 0 0 0 0 3 10 3 0 0 3 3 23 0 0 0 0 3 5 5 1 0 0 3 5 5 0 7:30pm

8:00pm 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 0 0 0 2 9 0 1 0 0 2 5 5 1 0 0 3 5 5 0 8:00pm

8:30pm 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 8:30pm

Total: 102 66 9 4 30 22 56 7 5 40 56 22 88 2 35 38 74 31 30 18 18 38 74 32 41 18 11 Total: 

3/1/2017 3/2/2017 3/3/2017 3/4/2017 3/5/2017 3/7/2017 3/8/2017 3/9/2017 3/10/2017 3/11/2017 3/12/2017 3/14/2017 3/15/2017 3/16/2017 3/17/2017 3/18/2017 3/19/2017 3/21/2017 3/22/2017 3/23/2017 3/24/2017 3/25/2017 3/26/2017 3/28/2017 3/29/2017 3/30/2017 3/31/2017

Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Time 

Fitness Fitness 
6:00am 2 2 0 4 4 5 2 5 3 3 1 2 3 3 2 2 4 3 2 6:00am

6:30am 3 2 1 5 3 6 4 5 4 4 1 3 6 4 4 12 7 3 5 6:30am

7:00am 2 4 2 3 3 1 3 2 2 3 1 5 4 3 2 7 4 2 3 7:00am

7:30am 2 4 1 1 1 2 2 3 2 0 0 1 2 1 1 2 3 1 1 7:30am

8:00am 1 4 2 2 1 2 1 3 2 2 1 2 1 2 3 1 1 1 2 8:00am

8:30am 1 1 3 2 1 1 1 0 0 3 3 2 1 0 3 2 1 0 1 0 8:30am

9:00am 1 0 1 0 2 1 0 0 3 0 3 5 1 1 2 2 3 1 1 1 1 1 0 9:00am

9:30am 3 0 1 2 3 2 1 3 2 1 0 0 0 2 5 6 4 0 1 3 2 0 5 0 9:30am

10:00am 19 0 0 4 5 3 2 0 2 0 3 0 4 6 5 3 10 4 4 7 3 4 3 3 3 4 0 10:00am

10:30am 3 16 0 0 5 4 2 15 0 0 3 0 5 9 0 5 11 12 1 18 3 5 7 3 5 16 0 10:30am

11:00am 1 16 0 0 7 4 2 15 0 0 6 10 4 11 0 6 12 7 3 18 1 7 11 0 1 16 0 11:00am

11:30am 2 3 0 0 7 0 1 6 1 0 4 0 5 5 0 7 8 0 5 12 1 6 9 2 3 4 0 11:30am

12:00pm 2 0 0 0 5 1 4 5 3 0 2 1 10 4 8 0 4 2 6 1 2 3 8 4 3 4 0 12:00pm

12:30pm 2 0 0 0 5 4 4 6 7 0 2 3 0 3 6 0 5 1 4 3 3 2 6 4 5 2 1 12:30pm

1:00pm 3 2 1 4 0 4 2 2 3 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 5 11 0 3 3 1 1:00pm

1:30pm 3 2 2 6 10 0 1 1 2 12 9 0 1 1 0 0 11 0 1 2 2 4 7 1 0 0 2 1:30pm

2:00pm 3 3 0 0 9 1 1 3 2 8 0 0 2 1 1 0 14 2 2 1 1 0 5 2 2 1 2 2:00pm

2:30pm 4 2 0 0 5 0 0 3 1 6 0 6 0 1 0 0 15 5 2 0 1 0 6 3 5 3 4 2:30pm

3:00pm 1 6 0 0 6 0 6 4 3 6 0 6 3 6 0 0 13 6 5 1 2 1 7 3 5 2 7 3:00pm

3:30pm 1 2 0 0 11 0 3 4 5 7 5 8 4 5 1 0 6 0 6 2 4 0 6 4 3 4 5 3:30pm

4:00pm 3 4 0 0 7 3 4 0 5 1 6 0 4 5 3 0 6 5 5 9 4 3 6 0 3 4 4 4:00pm

4:30pm 3 4 0 0 7 6 5 0 9 2 7 0 0 5 0 0 8 10 11 8 4 5 7 0 6 6 5 4:30pm

5:00pm 4 5 0 0 6 7 8 0 0 4 6 10 0 0 0 0 5 10 6 5 5 7 5 9 7 7 8 5:00pm

5:30pm 7 7 0 0 5 13 10 0 0 4 7 15 7 0 2 0 4 11 11 7 4 6 5 14 6 7 8 5:30pm

6:00pm 8 5 0 3 3 11 10 0 0 3 1 20 10 0 5 0 1 12 9 13 4 9 9 11 12 6 7 6:00pm

6:30pm 7 3 3 3 3 0 8 0 0 4 4 12 11 0 12 0 2 11 8 5 8 4 5 0 17 18 10 6:30pm

7:00pm 8 8 0 0 4 14 9 6 8 4 4 10 14 0 5 0 3 8 9 7 6 3 4 0 12 14 8 7:00pm

7:30pm 4 9 0 0 1 10 7 6 7 3 0 10 8 0 10 0 5 9 11 9 6 4 5 13 4 8 7 7:30pm

8:00pm 4 8 4 0 2 5 7 10 5 5 0 9 8 0 6 0 10 9 8 8 8 4 3 7 8 8 7 8:00pm

8:30pm 3 2 4 0 3 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 8 0 3 0 4 0 0 3 4 0 0 4 0 1 7 8:30pm

Total: 110 124 25 22 116 112 112 109 79 74 74 138 128 82 76 27 157 147 141 159 92 86 135 115 133 155 106 Total: 

3/1/2017 3/2/2017 3/3/2017 3/4/2017 3/5/2017 3/7/2017 3/8/2017 3/9/2017 3/10/2017 3/11/2017 3/12/2017 3/14/2017 3/15/2017 3/16/2017 3/17/2017 3/18/2017 3/19/2017 3/21/2017 3/22/2017 3/23/2017 3/24/2017 3/25/2017 3/26/2017 3/28/2017 3/29/2017 3/30/2017 3/31/2017

Time Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Time

Pool Pool 
6:00am 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6:00am

6:30am 4 5 3 5 13 3 4 5 2 3 4 1 3 0 0 1 5 3 3 6:30am

7:00am 3 1 3 4 22 2 4 4 19 3 0 1 2 1 1 1 14 2 1 7:00am

7:30am 3 0 0 1 18 0 0 1 12 3 8 1 3 1 1 0 0 0 0 7:30am

8:00am 1 2 0 1 1 1 3 3 1 1 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 8:00am

8:30am 2 9 2 2 2 1 2 4 4 3 3 2 1 1 1 2 2 1 1 2 8:30am

9:00am 2 5 2 0 1 1 9 1 0 2 1 2 0 0 0 1 7 7 2 1 1 1 2 9:00am

9:30am 1 6 1 6 8 3 0 2 0 4 9 6 0 75 7 0 13 11 13 4 3 2 1 0 9:30am

10:00am 1 9 3 14 8 4 0 2 0 17 3 7 6 13 0 7 0 2 13 11 14 3 10 2 3 1 6 10:00am

10:30am 7 3 3 0 6 4 0 1 2 0 3 7 3 0 0 9 8 0 13 11 4 1 11 2 5 1 1 10:30am

11:00am 2 3 5 8 3 0 2 1 2 0 1 6 3 8 0 9 7 35 2 5 5 5 10 4 1 1 1 11:00am

11:30am 4 0 2 11 3 1 2 0 2 7 1 6 4 0 2 7 6 23 2 9 9 7 8 2 1 0 0 11:30am

12:00pm 1 0 0 11 10 3 0 0 3 2 4 3 0 0 2 4 0 8 0 11 11 6 12 2 2 0 2 12:00pm

12:30pm 0 2 0 16 11 4 0 0 0 6 5 11 3 0 0 8 2 10 0 3 6 13 7 8 0 1 0 12:30pm

1:00pm 3 14 4 16 7 3 14 1 0 10 12 0 14 1 0 8 5 2 10 3 13 14 6 15 0 0 0 1:00pm

1:30pm 0 15 2 16 9 0 15 0 1 14 14 0 12 0 0 14 15 6 21 15 31 11 12 20 6 1 0 1:30pm

2:00pm 1 9 14 30 18 0 9 1 0 12 20 0 9 0 0 27 28 5 20 11 21 15 30 15 18 0 0 2:00pm

2:30pm 1 0 21 29 18 0 8 1 9 18 24 0 8 0 0 41 42 20 34 34 26 18 28 14 12 0 16 2:30pm

3:00pm 6 0 13 20 24 0 0 0 0 20 18 0 0 0 0 37 46 23 34 38 19 16 27 4 9 0 29 3:00pm

3:30pm 6 4 4 16 33 0 0 5 3 22 14 0 3 2 1 21 47 25 24 19 20 22 32 0 0 0 19 3:30pm

4:00pm 0 3 4 33 36 0 0 3 3 0 15 0 3 1 3 30 40 6 7 12 7 33 20 0 0 1 9 4:00pm

4:30pm 0 7 10 47 31 0 0 8 6 22 14 0 15 0 11 28 37 9 0 13 7 23 26 4 1 1 12 4:30pm

5:00pm 9 14 11 41 28 8 11 8 6 15 16 6 13 6 17 21 19 8 0 16 7 20 28 4 20 11 7 5:00pm

5:30pm 18 19 8 37 15 19 16 18 2 12 18 11 15 13 4 22 15 0 0 17 7 15 28 20 29 16 9 5:30pm

6:00pm 20 11 19 35 18 16 10 23 5 27 21 20 10 19 10 19 13 0 5 10 14 15 26 22 15 24 8 6:00pm

6:30pm 12 5 22 31 20 12 12 22 5 22 27 22 11 19 24 16 8 20 11 11 8 15 23 16 9 20 10 6:30pm

7:00pm 8 9 22 23 19 15 7 30 4 17 22 10 26 21 20 15 10 20 12 9 11 16 22 20 3 14 8 7:00pm

7:30pm 15 21 23 29 25 20 8 32 10 15 21 15 25 19 17 14 7 32 9 4 17 24 26 12 3 5 5 7:30pm

8:00pm 15 5 17 20 16 25 13 15 30 0 0 12 13 17 0 7 4 0 9 4 23 21 20 11 1 4 11 8:00pm

8:30pm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 8:30pm

Total: 145 187 218 489 358 156 187 204 109 262 277 164 240 154 200 373 359 260 255 290 304 319 412 205 161 112 161 Total: 

3/1/2017 3/2/2017 3/3/2017 3/4/2017 3/5/2017 3/7/2017 3/8/2017 3/9/2017 3/10/2017 3/11/2017 3/12/2017 3/14/2017 3/15/2017 3/16/2017 3/17/2017 3/18/2017 3/19/2017 3/21/2017 3/22/2017 3/23/2017 3/24/2017 3/25/2017 3/26/2017 3/28/2017 3/29/2017 3/30/2017 3/31/2017

Time Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wed Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Time

Spa Spa 
6:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6:00am

6:30am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6:30am

7:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 7:00am

7:30am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7:30am

8:00am 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 8:00am

8:30am 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 8:30am

9:00am 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 9:00am

9:30am 5 0 1 1 2 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 3 0 1 3 1 3 9:30am

10:00am 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 10:00am

10:30am 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 1 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 0 10:30am

11:00am 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 11:00am

11:30am 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 0 11:30am

12:00pm 1 0 0 2 3 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 12:00pm

12:30pm 0 0 1 2 2 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 4 0 1 1 2 1 0 0 0 12:30pm

1:00pm 0 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 4 0 0 1 0 1 2 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1:00pm

1:30pm 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 1:30pm

2:00pm 0 0 0 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 1 0 4 4 0 2 2 1 3 3 0 0 0 4 2:00pm

2:30pm 0 0 0 1 6 0 0 0 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 5 7 0 3 0 5 1 10 0 1 0 6 2:30pm

3:00pm 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 1 1 6 1 0 1 1 3 4 0 0 0 1 3:00pm

3:30pm 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 5 0 1 1 2 5 2 0 0 0 2 3:30pm

4:00pm 1 0 2 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 0 2 0 3 7 2 0 2 3 1 4 0 0 0 0 4:00pm

4:30pm 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 4:30pm

5:00pm 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 1 0 5 4 7 1 0 1 0 2 2 0 0 5 1 5:00pm

5:30pm 1 4 1 2 1 1 0 0 4 0 2 0 3 2 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 3 2 5:30pm

6:00pm 2 3 4 1 3 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 5 8 1 4 1 0 2 3 0 4 1 4 0 1 2 6:00pm

6:30pm 1 1 4 1 2 1 1 1 2 2 1 2 0 0 1 7 1 5 1 1 0 1 3 0 0 6 0 6:30pm

7:00pm 3 4 4 1 4 6 3 5 1 3 1 1 2 2 1 1 1 3 2 0 2 1 4 2 5 5 0 7:00pm

7:30pm 6 3 5 4 7 2 3 5 4 1 3 1 7 1 1 2 2 4 2 5 2 1 3 4 5 3 0 7:30pm

8:00pm 2 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 6 0 0 2 6 4 2 2 2 0 2 1 3 1 2 2 6 1 5 8:00pm

8:30pm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8:30pm

Total: 27 20 23 33 48 20 15 17 27 8 34 11 30 26 21 45 62 19 29 25 29 40 46 17 20 25 30 Total: 

65



YKFC Monthly Report March 2016 04/18/2017 

  
 

Page 15 of 15 

March Monthly Facility Averages 

 

March Monthly Averages  

 

Total Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Total Saturdays Sundays 

6:00am 3.25 3.2 4.6 1.4 6:00am

6:30am 9.75 10.6 6.6 6 6:30am

7:00am 6.75 15.2 4.6 4.4 7:00am

7:30am 2.5 9.2 2.6 2.8 7:30am

8:00am 3.5 2.6 3.6 2.4 8:00am

8:30am 3.25 3 5 4.2 8:30am

9:00am 2.75 3 7 3.6 9:00am 1.75

9:30am 8.75 9.2 5.6 21 9:30am 8.75

10:00am 6.5 12 11.6 6.8 10:00am 14.75 12

10:30am 8.25 9.6 18.2 2.8 10:30am 7.75 18.25

11:00am 17.75 5 18.8 3 11:00am 11 18

11:30am 8.75 7.8 11 3.6 11:30am 13.25 14.75

12:00pm 7 8 5 7 12:00pm 9.5 14

12:30pm 11.75 4.8 4 5.4 12:30pm 14.25 13.5

1:00pm 6.5 11.6 5.6 4.6 1:00pm 17.75 14.5

1:30pm 6.75 14.8 10.8 8.4 1:30pm 24.75 27.25

2:00pm 6.25 16.6 9.8 9.8 2:00pm 28.25 38.5

2:30pm 12 16 8.8 17.8 2:30pm 32.5 44

3:00pm 11 13.8 11.6 15.2 3:00pm 28.5 44.5

3:30pm 9.25 10.6 10.4 14.6 3:30pm 24.25 47

4:00pm 5 6.4 9.2 10.4 4:00pm 26.75 44

4:30pm 9 9.2 10.6 15.2 4:30pm 34.5 39.75

5:00pm 21.75 20.4 17.8 14.8 5:00pm 29 31

5:30pm 30.75 28.8 23.6 13.2 5:30pm 26 29.25

6:00pm 33.25 27.4 26.6 18.2 6:00pm 31.25 28

6:30pm 26 31.8 23 25.6 6:30pm 26.75 27.75

7:00pm 29.5 34.6 28.4 21 7:00pm 21 26.75

7:30pm 36 33.6 28.6 23 7:30pm 24.25 27

8:00pm 22.5 25.8 19.8 25.8 8:00pm 15 15.25

8:30pm 1.75 5.4 7.2 3.6 8:30pm 2 1.75

Studio Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Studio Saturdays Sundays Fitness Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Fitness Saturdays Sundays Pool Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Pool Saturdays Sundays Spa Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Spa Saturdays Sundays 

6:00am 0 0 0.2 0 6:00am 6:00am 3.25 3.2 3.2 1.4 6:00am 6:00am 0 0 1.2 0 6:00am 6:00am 0 0 0 0 6:00am

6:30am 0.5 0.6 0 0 6:30am 6:30am 6.25 4.6 3.8 3 6:30am 6:30am 3 5.4 2.8 2.8 6:30am 6:30am 0 0 0 0.2 6:30am

7:00am 0 0.2 0 0 7:00am 7:00am 4.25 3 2.6 2.2 7:00am 7:00am 2.5 12 1.8 1.8 7:00am 7:00am 0 0 0.2 0.4 7:00am

7:30am 0 0 0 0 7:30am 7:30am 1.75 2 1.6 1 7:30am 7:30am 0.75 7.2 0.8 1.8 7:30am 7:30am 0 0 0.2 0 7:30am

8:00am 0 0 0.2 0 8:00am 8:00am 2 1.2 2.2 1.8 8:00am 8:00am 1.5 0.8 1 0.6 8:00am 8:00am 0 0.6 0.2 0 8:00am

8:30am 0 0 0 0 8:30am 8:30am 1 1 1.8 1.6 8:30am 8:30am 2.25 1.8 3 2 8:30am 8:30am 0 0.2 0.2 0.6 8:30am

9:00am 0 0 0 0 9:00am 0 9:00am 1.25 1.6 1.8 0.6 9:00am 0 9:00am 1 1.2 4.8 2.4 9:00am 0.5 9:00am 0.5 0.2 0.4 0.6 9:00am 0

9:30am 0 0 0 0 9:30am 1.25 9:30am 2.75 1.8 1.2 1.4 9:30am 1.25 9:30am 5 5 3.6 18.2 9:30am 4.25 9:30am 1 2.4 0.8 1.4 9:30am 0.25

10:00am 0 0.2 0 0 10:00am 1.5 1.25 10:00am 2.5 6.4 3.4 2 10:00am 3 0.25 10:00am 3.75 4.6 7.2 4.6 10:00am 10.25 5.25 10:00am 0.25 0.8 1 0.2 10:00am 0.25 0.25

10:30am 0.25 0.4 0 0 10:30am 1.5 3.75 10:30am 4.75 3.2 14.8 0.6 10:30am 2.75 5.25 10:30am 3.25 5.6 3.2 2 10:30am 2.5 7 10:30am 0 0.4 0.2 0.2 10:30am 1.25 1

11:00am 0.25 0.4 0 0 11:00am 1.5 3.75 11:00am 5.25 2.2 15.2 0.2 11:00am 2.5 6.5 11:00am 11.25 2 3.6 2.6 11:00am 5.5 5.25 11:00am 1 0.4 0 0.2 11:00am 0.75 0

11:30am 0.25 2 3.2 0 11:30am 0.25 2.5 11:30am 0.5 3.2 6 0.4 11:30am 3.25 9 11:30am 8 2.6 1.8 3 11:30am 8 4.5 11:30am 0 0 0 0.2 11:30am 1.75 0.75

12:00pm 0.5 2 0 0.4 12:00pm 2 1 12:00pm 2 5 2.8 2.6 12:00pm 3.25 7 12:00pm 4 0.6 2.2 3.6 12:00pm 5.75 6.5 12:00pm 0.5 0.4 0 0.4 12:00pm 1 1.75

12:30pm 0 0.2 0 0 12:30pm 2 1 12:30pm 3 3 2.8 3.4 12:30pm 0.75 4.75 12:30pm 8.25 0.6 1.2 1.2 12:30pm 10.75 6.25 12:30pm 0.5 1 0 0.8 12:30pm 1 1.75

1:00pm 0 0 0 0.2 1:00pm 1.75 2.25 1:00pm 1.25 2.2 1.6 1 1:00pm 0.5 4.5 1:00pm 5 8.2 3.8 3.4 1:00pm 12 7.5 1:00pm 0.25 1.2 0.2 0 1:00pm 1.75 1

1:30pm 0 2.8 3.2 0 1:30pm 4.5 3.75 1:30pm 0.25 1.2 1.2 1.6 1:30pm 2.25 3.75 1:30pm 6.5 10.8 6.2 6.8 1:30pm 13.75 12.5 1:30pm 0 0 0.2 0 1:30pm 1 1.75

2:00pm 0 2.8 3.2 0.6 2:00pm 2.5 3.75 2:00pm 1.25 2 1.8 1.2 2:00pm 5.5 9.25 2:00pm 5 11.4 4.2 7 2:00pm 21 24 2:00pm 0 0.4 0.6 1 2:00pm 2.75 3.75

2:30pm 0 0.4 0 0 2:30pm 2.5 2.75 2:30pm 3.5 2.2 1.8 1.2 2:30pm 2 7 2:30pm 8.5 12.6 7 14.4 2:30pm 26.5 28 2:30pm 0 0.8 0 2.2 2:30pm 2 6.75

3:00pm 0.25 0 0 0 3:00pm 2.5 5 3:00pm 3.75 4 3.8 2.4 3:00pm 1.5 6.5 3:00pm 6.75 9.8 7.6 12.2 3:00pm 23.25 28.75 3:00pm 0.25 0 0.2 0.6 3:00pm 1 4.25

3:30pm 0 0.4 0.4 1.4 3:30pm 1 5.5 3:30pm 3 3.4 3.4 3 3:30pm 1.75 6.5 3:30pm 6.25 6.6 6 9.4 3:30pm 20.25 31.5 3:30pm 0 0.2 0.6 0.8 3:30pm 1.25 3

4:00pm 0 0.4 0 1 4:00pm 0.5 5.75 4:00pm 2 3.8 4.4 3.2 4:00pm 1.75 7 4:00pm 1.5 2 4 5.2 4:00pm 24 27.75 4:00pm 1.5 0.2 0.8 1 4:00pm 1.25 4.25

4:30pm 1.75 0.6 0 1.2 4:30pm 0.5 4.25 4:30pm 4 5 4.6 3.6 4:30pm 1 6.25 4:30pm 3.25 3.2 5.8 9.2 4:30pm 30 27 4:30pm 0 0.4 0.2 1.2 4:30pm 2.25 1.25

5:00pm 5.75 4.4 1.8 1 5:00pm 0.25 0.25 5:00pm 9 5 3.4 2.6 5:00pm 1.75 7.25 5:00pm 6.5 10.6 11 9.6 5:00pm 24.25 22.75 5:00pm 0.5 0.4 1.6 1.6 5:00pm 1.75 2.5

5:30pm 4.5 4.2 1 2 5:30pm 1.25 2.75 5:30pm 13.25 8.2 4.2 2.8 5:30pm 2.75 5.5 5:30pm 12.5 15.6 16.6 6 5:30pm 21.5 19 5:30pm 0.5 0.8 1.8 2.4 5:30pm 0.75 2.25

6:00pm 4.25 3.6 1 2.4 6:00pm 1 3.25 6:00pm 13.5 9.8 4.8 3.2 6:00pm 2.5 5.25 6:00pm 14.5 12 17.4 11.2 6:00pm 24 19.5 6:00pm 1 2 3.4 1.4 6:00pm 2.5 1.75

6:30pm 0.75 10 0.6 3.8 6:30pm 0.25 3 6:30pm 5.75 10.2 5.2 6.6 6:30pm 3.75 3.5 6:30pm 17.5 11 15.4 13.8 6:30pm 21 19.5 6:30pm 2 0.6 1.8 1.4 6:30pm 2.75 1.75

7:00pm 2.25 10 1.6 1 7:00pm 0 2.25 7:00pm 8 10.4 7 5.4 7:00pm 2.75 3.5 7:00pm 16.25 11.2 16.6 13 7:00pm 17.75 18.25 7:00pm 3 3 3.2 1.6 7:00pm 1.5 2.5

7:30pm 3 10.2 2.6 0.2 7:30pm 0 0.75 7:30pm 10.5 6.8 6.4 6 7:30pm 1.75 3.75 7:30pm 19.75 12 16.2 14.4 7:30pm 20.5 19.75 7:30pm 2.75 4.6 3.4 2.4 7:30pm 2 3.75

8:00pm 1.75 5.4 2.6 0.4 8:00pm 0 0 8:00pm 7.5 7 6.8 6 8:00pm 1.75 2.75 8:00pm 12 10.2 9 16.2 8:00pm 12 10 8:00pm 1.25 3.2 1.4 3.2 8:00pm 0.75 1.5

8:30pm 0.75 2.2 0.6 0 8:30pm 1.5 0 8:30pm 1 2.2 2.2 3.6 8:30pm 2.25 3.75 8:30pm 0 1 4.4 0 8:30pm 0.5 0 8:30pm 0 0 0 0 8:30pm 0 0

66



 

Unfinished Business  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 

Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-11 

Page 1 of 81 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-11 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE 
CHAPTER 14 – HARBORS AND PORTS 

SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code.   

SECTION 2. Amendments. Bethel Municipal Code Chapter 14 – Harbors and Ports, is 
amended as follows (old language is stricken, new language is underlined):  

Chapter 14.02 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sections: 
14.02.000    Title. 
14.02.005    Purpose. 
14.02.010    Equality. 
14.02.015    State and federal law. 
14.02.020    Definitions. 
14.02.030    Port director. 
14.02.040    Regulations. 
14.02.050    Establishment of rates, charges and tariffs. 
14.02.055    Payments. 
14.02.060    Administrative inspection. 
14.02.070    Facility damage. 
14.02.080    Reporting injury or damage. 
14.02.085    Expenses of corrective action. 
14.02.086    Penalty for noncompliance. 
14.02.090    City not responsible for loss or damage. 
14.02.095    Revenues. 
14.02.100    Disposition of watercraft and property. 

14.02.000 Title. 
This title shall constitute the “Port of Bethel Facilities Code” of the city of Bethel, Alaska, 
hereafter referred to as city and may be cited as such. 

14.02.005 Purpose. 
The purpose of this title is to protect and preserve the lives, health, safety, and well-
being of the people of the city who have property in, use or work upon boats using the 
city’s port facilities, or who make sales and deliveries of goods, merchandise and 
services to boats therein, or who use these facilities in the course of visits for 

Note: Amended Table at end of Ordinance

68

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.000
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.005
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.015
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.055
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.070
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.080
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.085
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.086
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.095
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.100


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 2 of 81 

commercial or pleasure purposes; to protect the property of such boat owners by 
regulating the port and its facilities to deter nuisances, fire, and health hazards; to 
make reasonable charges for the use of certain facilities to enable the city, insofar as 
possible, to pay the cost of maintenance, operation and supervision of the city’s port 
facilities from the revenue derived therefrom; all provisions of this title are to be 
liberally construed to promote the general welfare; and to allow the port facilities to 
operate upon a nonprofit basis.  
 
14.02.010 Equality. 
The city port facilities will be available on an equal basis regardless of race, color, sex, 
creed or national origin 
 
14.02.015 State and federal law. 
This title shall not be construed to contravene any applicable state or federal law or 
regulation.  
 
14.02.020 Definitions. 
As used in this title: 
A. “City” means the city of Bethel. 
B. “Beam” means the greatest overall width of a vessel. 
C. “Boat owner” means the actual or registered owner, charterer, master, agent or the 
person in navigational control or person responsible for the operation of the boat. 
D. “Delinquent list” means the record of vessels, their owners or agents, or other users 
of the port of Bethel who have failed to pay charges when due or who have not 
furnished proper cargo statements to the port director. 
E. “Derelict” means any watercraft moored or otherwise located within the port which is 
forsaken, abandoned, deserted or whose owner fails to contact the port director within 
seven (7) days after written notice declaring the watercraft to be abandoned is attached 
to said watercraft. 
F. “Dockage” means a charge made for vessels at wharves or moored on city property. 
G. “Floating docks/floats” means docks/floats equipped with or without gangways that 
are secured to the seawall or appurtenant to it for the use of small vessels. 
H. “Handling” means the service accorded to cargo movement to or from a vessel. 
I. “LOA” means the overall length of a watercraft measured from the most forward 
point at the stem to the aftermost part of the stern of the watercraft, to include the 
motor. 
J. “Local boats” means watercraft operating out of the port and whose owners or 
operators are residents of Bethel. 
K. “Mooring” means any weight, chain, rope, float, structure, or any appliance used for 
anchoring purposes by a watercraft which is not carried aboard a watercraft as part of 
it. 
L. “Motor vehicle” means a vehicle which is self-propelled except a vehicle moved by 
human or animal power. 

69



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 3 of 81 

M. “Person” means an individual, firm, association, organization, partnership, business 
trust, corporation, company or any other business entity. 
N. “Port director” means the director of the port or the port director’s designee. 
O. “Port facilities” means all docks, floats, berths, wharfs, seawalls, and other landing, 
launching, mooring, cargo or other facilities located within the port of Bethel. 
P. “Port of Bethel” or “port” means all navigable streams, rivers, continuous waterways, 
the adjacent shorelines and facilities thereto under the ownership or control of the city 
located within the corporate limits of the municipality, including, but not limited to, the 
petroleum dock, the city cargo dock, the small boat harbor, the city seawalls and any 
other similar facilities excepting those areas within the exclusive jurisdiction of the state 
or federal government. 
Q. “Small vessel” means boats or other crafts, less than thirty-two (32) feet LOA 
including but not limited to motor boats, steam ships, floatplanes, canal boats, tugs, 
barges, sailing vessels, and every structure or vehicle designed or adapted to be 
navigated either wholly or partially on water and used to transport people or property. 
R. “Seawall” means the bulkhead constructed of pipe piling, or other material along the 
waterfront of Bethel. 
S. “Transient watercraft” means a watercraft whose home port is other than Bethel, or 
any watercraft that is not registered by an exclusive or term moorage agreement with 
the Bethel small boat harbor. 
T. “Vessel” means ships or crafts of all types, in excess of thirty-two (32) feet LOA 
(length overall), including but not limited to: motor ships, steam ships, canal boats, 
tugs, barges, sailing vessel, motor boats, and every structure adapted to be navigated 
from place to place for the transportation of property and persons by any means. 
U. “Wharf” means and includes every pier, bulkhead, dock, seawall, landing, float, grid 
iron, and other structure to which vessels make fast or upon which persons or cargo are 
discharged from a vessel or from which persons or cargo are loaded upon a vessel. 
V. “Wharfage demurrage” means the charge made against any cargo and commodities 
left on city premises beyond the time specified in Rule 200 of the Port of Bethel 
Terminal Tariff. 
W. “Terminal charges” means the charges included in the current Port of Bethel Tariff 
as filed with the Federal Maritime Commission. “Terminal charges” includes only 
charges for facilities, goods, or services provided by the city. 
X. “Watercraft” or “boat” means any vessel or small vessel including but not limited to 
houseboats, floatplanes, waterborne aircraft, floats, scows, rafts, pile drivers, or any 
other floating structure adapted to be navigated from place to place, used for 
recreational, commercial, or other purpose upon the waterways within the port or 
moored at any place within the port. 
Y. “Small boat harbor” or “harbor” means that area so designated as the Bethel small 
boat harbor. 
Z. “Loading area” means that area designated by the port director for the purpose of 
loading and unloading small items into a boat for noncommercial purposes and is not 
subject to wharfage charges. 

70



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 4 of 81 

AA. “Launching area” means that area designated by the port director for the purpose 
of launching and retrieving boats. 
BA. “Parking area” means that area designated and posted by the port director for the 
purpose of parking motor vehicles and boat trailers. 
CA. “Tariff charges” include all dockage, wharfage demurrage, terminal charges, 
moorage fees, rentals and any other charges or fees authorized by the port commission 
and approved by the city council for use of the port. Tariff charges shall also include 
any amounts a person owes the port under BMC 14.02.070, 14.02.085 or 14.08.030(G).  
 
14.02.030 Port director. 
A. The city manager shall appoint the port director. 
B. The port director shall: 
1. Be the chief administrator of the port under the supervision of the city manager; 
2. Perform the duties imposed by state or federal law upon harbor masters, port 
directors, and administrative directors of harbors and ports; 
3. Regulate and allocate the use of port facilities; 
4. Remove, or cause to be removed to a place of safety, any motor vehicle found 
parked within the port in violation of this title, or in such a manner as to create a 
significant danger to the safety of persons or property; 
5. Take corrective action if a watercraft or person fails to comply with the provisions of 
this chapter, an order of the port director, or a rule or regulation promulgated pursuant 
to this title by rendering such performance himself. 
C. Port Director – Subordinates. Whenever a power is granted to, or a duty is imposed 
upon the port director, that power may be exercised or the duty may be performed by 
any duly authorized representative or such other person as the port director may 
designate for the enforcement of this title. 
D. The port director shall enforce the provisions of this title and shall enlist the aid of 
any duly authorized police officer of the city to take appropriate action for violation of 
the provisions of this title. 
E. Port Director – Refusal to Obey. No person shall intentionally fail or refuse to comply 
with a lawful order of the port director in any matter pertaining to the operation of the 
port or its facilities.  
 
14.02.040 Regulations. 
All operations within the port including, but not limited to, the seawall, petro port, cargo 
dock, and small boat harbor, if not provided for specifically by ordinance, shall be 
conducted in accordance with  
 
14.02.050 Establishment of rates, charges and tariffs. 
A. The port commission, subject to approval by the city council, shall establish the 
rates, charges and fees to be charged for the use of any and all port facilities including, 
but not limited to, charges assessed against watercraft, their owners, agents or 
operators which load or discharge cargo at any of the terminals within the area under 

71

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.070
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.085
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1408.html#14.08.030


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 5 of 81 

the commission’s jurisdiction; charges for dockage while loading or discharging cargo; 
charges for administrative expenses in serving the carrier; charges for freight-handling 
operations; and wharfage, handling, loading, unloading, wharf demurrage rates, 
storage rates, fuel thru-put fees, mooring to the seawall, small boat harbor, derelicts, 
delinquent accounts, and use of adjacent property. 
B. Such rates, charges and classifications shall be just, reasonable and 
nondiscriminatory and shall be established after a public hearing conducted by the port 
commission. Notice specifying the time and place of such hearing shall be given by at 
least one (1) publication at least fifteen (15) days before the hearing in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the city. 
C. At the hearing, interested parties may make such arguments before the port 
commission, whether in person or by attorney, as they consider proper, addressing 
matters at issue, and thereafter the port commission shall prepare a schedule of rates 
to be submitted to the council at its next regular meeting. 
D. The council may adopt the commission’s proposed schedule of rates by ordinance 
but the date upon which the rates established or regulated go into effect may not be 
less than ten (10) days after passage and approval by the council. 
E. Terminal tariffs  
 
14.02.055 Payments. 
A. Tariff charges are due prior to commence of service from, or use of, the port 
facilities. When the port director determines that the exact amount of the tariff charges 
cannot be ascertained prior to the commencement of service or use, the director may 
accept a deposit of an estimated amount of the tariff charges which amount will be 
applied to the total tariff charges when the exact amount of such charges is 
determined. 
B. A user of the port’s facilities may request from the port director a waiver from the 
requirement to pay for service or use in advance. If the port director determines that it 
is in the port’s interest to grant the waiver, the director will require the user to make a 
deposit instead of advance payment. The amount of the deposit shall not be less than 
seventy-five (75) percent of the amount expected to be due nor more than one 
hundred twenty-five (125) percent of the amount expected to be due. Upon completion 
of the service, the director will provide the user with an invoice stating the exact 
amount due. Payment of the invoice is due thirty (30) days after it is mailed, delivered 
or faxed to the user. In the event the user does not pay an invoice when due, the port 
director will apply the deposit to the unpaid invoice. In the event the deposit exceeds 
the amount due, the director will apply the deposit to the invoice and send the user a 
check for the amount on deposit, which is in excess of the amount due. 
C. All tariff charges are due and payable in United States currency. Failure to pay 
invoices when due shall place the watercraft, its owners or agents or the user of the 
port facilities upon a delinquent list. A watercraft whose owner or agents have been 
placed on the delinquent list shall not be allowed to utilize the port facilities until all 
past-due balances and late charges have been paid in full. When a watercraft has been 

72



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 6 of 81 

placed on the delinquent list, the past-due balance shall accrue a late charge at the rate 
of one and one-half (1 1/2) percent per month on the unpaid balance.  
14.02.060 Administrative inspection. 
A. The port director may make a warrantless inspection of any watercraft for the 
purpose of determining whether it poses a threat to the health, safety or welfare of the 
public or port facilities. The port director may take such other action as necessary to 
prevent an immediate and substantial danger to the public health, safety or welfare. 
B. The port director may make a warrantless inspection of any common carrier utilizing 
port facilities to ascertain the kind, quality, and quantity of cargo aboard. Utilization of 
the port facility shall constitute consent for such inspection. 
C. Except as specified in subsections A and B of this section, the port director shall 
apply to the trial courts of the state for an inspection warrant. The application shall 
identify the vessel to be inspected, the authority to make the inspection, the nature and 
the extent of the inspection, and those facts or circumstances which demonstrate the 
valid public purpose and the effect and force of this title sufficient to justify such 
inspection. Inspections to ensure that proper terminal tariffs or other charges are 
assessed and paid shall be sufficient justification for such warrant. 
D. No person shall refuse 
 
14.02.070 Facility damage. 
Any person who damages a port facility or any property owned by the port shall be 
strictly liable to the city, without regard for fault or negligence, for all damages 
including, but not limited to, costs incurred in repairing or replacing damaged property, 
administrative overhead, and collection costs 
 
14.02.080 Reporting injury or damage. 
A person who is involved in an incident within the port or any port facility which results 
in the injury or death of a person, or any property damage, shall immediately notify the 
port director. If the office of the port director is closed, notification shall be given to the 
Bethel police department. The notification shall include the name and address of the 
person, the type and extent of the injury and the time when the injury occurred, and 
such other information as shall be requested in an accident form provided by the port 
director.  
 
14.02.085 Expenses of corrective action. 
A. If a person or watercraft fails to comply with the duties specified by this chapter, and 
this failure requires the port director to take corrective action as permitted by this title 
or regulations promulgated under it, the person and the watercraft that employs that 
person shall be responsible for the expenses incurred by the port director in the 
enforcement of this title or regulations promulgated under it. 
B. If the port director has to assume possession or control of a watercraft or other 
property pursuant to this title, then such possession or control may be maintained until 
all expenses, including attorneys fees, storage fees, custodial fees and any other cost or 

73



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 7 of 81 

fee, incurred by the port director in taking or maintaining possession or control of the 
watercraft or other property are paid. All persons and watercraft that owe fees or 
expenses under this section shall be denied use of the port facilities until such fees are 
paid. 
 
14.02.086 Penalty for noncompliance. 
A. Failure to comply with the provisions of this title shall subject the offender to a 
penalty not to exceed three hundred dollars ($300). Each day of continuing 
noncompliance shall constitute a separate violation for purposes of this penalty. The 
city may seek injunctive relief in order to restrain noncompliance with provisions of this 
title or regulations promulgated under it. 
B. Notwithstanding the availability of any other remedy, the city or any aggrieved 
person may bring a civil action to enjoin any violation of this title or to obtain damages 
for any injury the plaintiff suffered as a result of the violation 
 
14.02.090 City not responsible for loss or damage. 
The city shall not be responsible for loss or damage from fire or other casualty, theft, 
vandalism, or any other cause of injury to vessels or property moored or located within 
the port 
 
14.02.095 Revenues. 
Two cents ($0.02) of fuel through-put revenue produced by the port shall be 
transferred to a designated deferred seawall maintenance account upon payment. All 
other revenues produced by the port excluding amounts received from fines imposed 
under this title shall be held in the port enterprise fund for the maintenance and 
operation of the port.  
 
14.02.100 Disposition of watercraft and property. 
Any watercraft or other personal property that is abandoned, derelict or a public 
nuisance, or for which tariff charges are past due more than thirty (30) days may be 
disposed of as provided in this section. 
A. The port director will post a written notice on the watercraft and send a duplicate by 
registered or certified mail to the registered owner of the watercraft at the registered 
owner’s last known address and to all known lien holders. The notice must contain a 
brief description of the vessel, a statement of the amount owed to the city by the 
watercraft and its owner, the watercraft’s location, and the intended disposition of the 
vessel, including the date, place and manner of the intended disposition if not 
redeemed within thirty (30) days after the mailing of the notice. The notice shall also 
inform the owner that the watercraft can be redeemed if payment of all amounts due 
the city is made prior to disposition of the watercraft. A notice need not be sent to a 
purported owner or any other person whose interest in the vessel is not recorded with a 
state department or federal agency. The director shall also cause the notice to be 

74



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 8 of 81 

published in a newspaper of general circulation at least one (1) week prior to sale or 
other disposition. 
B. If the watercraft is not redeemed within thirty (30) days after the mailing of the 
notice, the watercraft may be disposed of by public auction, through oral tenders or by 
sealed bids or negotiation. If the port director is unable to dispose of the watercraft 
through any of the means described in this subsection, the watercraft may be disposed 
of as junk, donated to a governmental agency or local nonprofit agency, or destroyed.  
 

Chapter 14.03 
PORT COMMISSION 

Sections: 
14.03.010    Composition, term of office and procedures. 
14.03.020    Duties. 
14.03.030    Vacancies. 
14.03.040    Administrative support. 
 
14.03.010 Composition, term of office and procedures. 

A. The port commission shall consist of seven (7) members who shall be residents of 
the city and shall be appointed by the mayor subject to confirmation by the city council. 
One (1) of the seven (7) members shall be a city councilmember. Initial appointments 
to the port commission shall be for staggered terms with two (2) members appointed 
for a one- (1-) year term, three (3) members appointed for a two- (2-) year term and 
two (2) members appointed for a three- (3-) year term. All appointments after the 
initial appointments shall be for three- (3-) year terms except where an interim 
appointment is necessary to complete the term of a commissioner who resigns, dies, or 
is otherwise removed from office. In the event of vacancies, the mayor, subject to 
confirmation by the city council, shall make appointments to fill the vacant positions. A 
chairperson shall be elected by the commission and shall serve in this capacity for a 
one- (1-) year term. Commissioners can be removed from office for cause only. The city 
shall supply staff support for the commission. 

B. The commission shall use Robert’s Rules of Order. Regular meetings of the 
commission will be at least quarterly. Special meetings may be called at the discretion 
of the chairperson or by two (2) members of the commission. All meetings of the 
commission shall be open to the public. 

C. A majority of the commission shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business. Four (4) affirmative votes shall be necessary to carry any question. 

D. An agenda of meetings shall be prepared and published according to established 
rules of the city council. 

E. Permanent records, or minutes, shall be kept, for all meetings held. All resolutions 
and minutes of the port commission or a similar report shall be presented to the city 
council by a member of the council appointed to serve on the commission, or in his 
absence, by the city manager. The minutes shall be properly filed in the office of the 
city clerk and shall be open to inspection by the public.  

75

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1403.html#14.03.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1403.html#14.03.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1403.html#14.03.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1403.html#14.03.040


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 9 of 81 

F. Alternate Members. The mayor shall appoint up to two (2) additional members to 
serve as alternate members, subject to confirmation by the council. An alternate 
member will be activated as a voting member whenever there is an absence or conflict 
of interest of another member. At all other times the alternate member shall be an ex 
officio member.  
14.03.020 Duties. 

The port commission shall: 
A. Regulate the operation of the port facilities by promulgating a terminal tariff and 

rates, charges, rent, fee schedules, rules, and regulations applicable at the port and 
subject to the approval of the city council and the Federal Maritime Commission if 
applicable; 

B. Advise the city council with respect to the port facilities concerning the acquisition, 
ownership, exchange, transfer, lease, rent, conveyance, or disposal, and use of real or 
personal property and interest therein; 

C. Review contracts prior to execution and monitor and periodically report to the city 
council concerning the status of all contracts executed with respect to the port facilities; 

D. Advise the city council with respect to the construction, improvement, alteration, 
or repair of port facilities; 

E. Assist the city council in developing ways and means whereby the city may 
encourage and permit the development of port facilities by private and public 
developers and builders; 

F. Hear appeals resulting from actions of the port director and take action on matters 
referred to the commission by the port director or city council; 

G. Periodically review the budget, capital improvement programs, funding of port 
facilities and systems and report its findings to the city council; 

H. Perform other such duties as the city council may refer to it from time to time; 
I. Do other such acts as are necessary and proper for the performance of the duties 

and functions set forth in this title; 
J. The port commission may, at its discretion, hold formal public hearings on any 

question which may come before it; 
K. The city council shall be the board of appeals for all port commission action.  
 

14.03.030 Vacancies. 
A vacancy shall be declared by the commission and filled as provided when a 

member: 
A. Fails to qualify and take his office within thirty (30) days after confirmation by the 

city council; 
B. Departs from the city with the intent to remain away for a period of one hundred 

twenty (120) days or more; 
C. Submits a resignation to the city mayor; 
D. Is physically or mentally unable to attend port commission meetings or attend to 

commission business; 

76



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 10 of 81 

E. Is absent from three (3) or more consecutive, regular meetings of the port 
commission without an excuse approved by the commission; 

F. Is convicted of a felony, or misdemeanor, an element of which is a violation of the 
oath of office; 

G. Is or becomes so directly interested in port or harbor matters in the course of their 
private affairs that a membership on the port commission creates a conflict or the 
pervasive appearance of a conflict of interest.  
14.03.040 Administrative support. 

The port commission shall receive full cooperation and support from the city manager 
including full access to any and all information concerning the port of Bethel.  
 

Chapter 14.04 
CARGO DOCK/PETRO PORT 

Sections: 
14.04.040    Manifest. 
14.04.050    Preferred vessels. 
14.04.060    Fishing from city cargo dock and petroleum dock prohibited. 
14.04.070    Fine. 
 
14.04.040 Manifest. 

Masters, owners, agents or operators of vessels are required to furnish the port with 
complete copies of vessel manifests and bills of lading, showing names of consignees 
and a listing of commodities with weights of all freight loaded or discharged at the 
facilities of the port. The port director must receive manifests and bills of lading prior to 
the arrival of inbound vessels. Outbound manifests and bills of lading listing cargo 
loaded across the port will be furnished to the port director concurrent with the 
departure of outbound vessels.  

 
14.04.050 Preferred vessels. 

Common carriers shall have priority use of the cargo dock. Resupply tanker barges 
shall have priority use of the petroleum dock during the time of discharge or taking on 
fuel. However, after the fueling operation is completed, the subject vessel no longer has 
priority. When more than one (1) vessel is brought up river by the river pilot together, 
the first (1st) vessel arriving at the pilot bar shall have first (1st) berthing with the port 
cargo dock.  

 
14.04.060 Fishing from city cargo dock and petroleum dock prohibited. 

Fishing from the petroleum dock and the city cargo dock is prohibited.  
 

14.04.070 Fine. 
For each violation of BMC 14.04.060, the city may assess a penalty in the amount of 

twenty-five dollars ($25). The city may assess and collect this penalty without a court 
appearance.  

77

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1404.html#14.04.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1404.html#14.04.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1404.html#14.04.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1404.html#14.04.070
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1404.html#14.04.060


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 11 of 81 

Chapter 14.08 
SEAWALL 

Sections: 
14.08.020    Mooring. 
14.08.030    Berth regulations and privileges. 
14.08.040    Safety ladders. 
14.08.050    Seawall fence. 
14.08.020 Mooring. 

A. No watercraft shall be allowed to moor or tie up to the city seawall without prior 
approval having been obtained from the port director and without the execution of a 
moorage agreement with the port. 

B. Mooring of watercraft along the seawall shall be limited to designated areas only. 
C. Adequate bumpers or fenders must be placed by the watercraft to prevent damage 

to the seawall. 
D. The watercraft shall be secured only to mooring bits that are installed 

independently of the bulkhead. 
E. Mooring bits may only be placed by the city or with the city’s permission, after 

approval by the city engineer as to the mooring bit’s location. No mooring bit may be 
placed such that tie backs are damaged. 

F. Mooring agreements will be issued by the port director upon advance payment of 
moorage fees. All watercraft mooring along the seawall without executing a moorage 
agreement and paying the fee due under the agreement will be moved and/or 
impounded by the port director consistent with federal and state law. 

G. No watercraft shall be allowed to moor alongside another watercraft moored at 
the seawall for the purpose of loading or unloading without the port director’s approval. 

H. The floating docks situated along the seawall are for the use of small vessels only 
and only as authorized by the port director. 

I. No floatplanes shall be allowed to moor at the floating docks or the seawall. 
J. No hazardous nor explosive freight or material may be stored along the seawall or 

loaded/unloaded to/from watercraft over the seawall. 
K. Small vessels using the floating docks shall not load, discharge or transport over 

the seawall to the docks any boxes, packages, or other freight that is too large or heavy 
to safely carry down the gangways. Heavy or bulky freight shall be loaded either at the 
small boat harbor or at the slough by the bridge. 

L. No small vessel shall be allowed to refuel or transfer gasoline or other flammable 
liquids while moored at any floating docks. 

M. Persons under the influence of intoxicating liquors or drugs shall not be allowed on 
the floating docks.  

 
14.08.030 Berth regulations and privileges. 

A. The vessel owner shall neither sublease nor allow another vessel to use its 
assigned space. When a vessel leaves its mooring for a day or more, the owner or 

78

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1408.html#14.08.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1408.html#14.08.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1408.html#14.08.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1408.html#14.08.050


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 12 of 81 

operator shall notify the port director, who may temporarily assign another vessel the 
vacant space. 

B. There shall be no refueling of vessels moored to the seawall. Vessels must be 
moved to the petroleum dock or other designated fueling location. 

C. The vessel owner or operator shall not allow another vessel to moor alongside the 
permitted vessel, except for the purpose of loading or unloading fish or cargo. When 
loading or unloading operations are completed, the outside vessel must move out. 

D. Fish or freight which is loaded or unloaded to, from or across the permitted vessel, 
except for vessel provisions and ice, shall be subject to the payment of wharfage 
charges, as provided for by Rules 220 and 230 of the Port of Bethel Terminal Tariff, 
FMC-T No. 1. 

E. The vessel mooring permit is limited to the moorage of a specific vessel, assigned 
to a specific location for a specific period of time, and does not provide for any shore-
side facilities or property use. 

F. The vessel owner shall be responsible for conducting his/her operations in a safe 
and lawful manner. 

G. The vessel owner, master or agent shall indemnify and hold harmless the city from 
any and all claims and damages, including costs and attorney fees, caused by or 
resulting from any negligent, intentional or malicious act or omission while the vessel is 
moored to the seawall or other port property. 

H. No welding shall be permitted without the permission of the port director, and 
then only after all possible precautions have been made to prevent fire and/or 
explosion. 

 
14.08.040 Safety ladders. 

A. Mooring to safety ladders is prohibited. 
B. Mooring in a manner that blocks safety ladders in unassigned areas is prohibited.  
 

14.08.050 Seawall fence. 
A. Damaging, tampering with or removing of life rings is prohibited. 
B. Removal of the seawall fence for access to moored vessels may only be done with 

the permission of the port director. 
C. Replacement of the seawall fence is the responsibility of the permit holder, and 

must be replaced whenever the vessel is not at its moorings. 
D. The permit holder is responsible for damage to the seawall fence at the assigned 

space for the period of the permit. 
E. No modifications to the seawall fence are permitted without the approval of the 

port director, and the fence must be restored to its original form at the end of the 
period of the permit, unless otherwise authorized by the port director.  
 

Chapter 14.10 
SMALL BOAT HARBOR AND PORT FACILITIES 

Sections: 

79



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 13 of 81 

14.10.010    Port director. 
14.10.020    Transactions to be conducted. 
14.10.030    Registration. 
14.10.040    Classification and use of mooring facilities. 
14.10.045    Logs and log rafts on port facilities. 
14.10.050    Unlawful acts. 
14.10.060    Acts prohibited without the approval of the port director. 
14.10.070    Rentals and fees. 
14.10.080    Port facilities privilege agreement. 
14.10.090    Duties of boat owners and operators. 
14.10.100    Revocation of privileges. 
14.10.110    Lien. 
14.10.120    Removal of abandoned property. 
 
14.10.010 Port director. 

A. The port director and required assistants will supervise and manage the port 
facilities. The port director may hire a harbor master or other designee, and delegate 
duties as necessary for the operation and maintenance of the port facilities. 

B. The port director shall supervise and manage the assignment of moorage stalls, 
the assignment of dry land storage and the use of the boat lift, launching ramps, grid 
iron and all other facilities made available by the city. The port director may, in the 
interest of safety or convenience, require any boat owner to change from one (1) 
moorage to another and may, in the absence of the boat owner, move the boat without 
incurring liability to the city. 

C. The port director may, at his discretion, refuse moorage or storage to any boat 
which is cumbersome or may become a menace to the safety or welfare of another 
boat or its occupants. He may refuse the use of any facilities to a boat that may cause 
damage to the facilities. He may, at his discretion, refuse berthing to boathouses, 
floats, scows, log rafts, barges and other cumbersome floating structures. 

D. Use of the port facilities by floating boat shelters, floating storage buildings, or 
houseboats is prohibited. The port director may refuse moorage or use of any of the 
port facilities to any boat or boat owner violating any provision of this code. 

E. The port director shall have the duty and exclusive power to post signs and to 
thereby designate the limit of port facilities speeds, classification and use of port 
facilities moorage and storage areas, and such other signs and notices necessary to 
inform the public, and is authorized to direct all waterborne and vehicular traffic within 
the limits of the port facilities boundaries, including designated parking and storage 
areas 

 
14.10.020 Transactions to be conducted. 

All registration of boats, payments of moorage and other charges, and other port 
facilities business shall be conducted at the port office.  

 

80

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.045
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.070
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.080
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.100
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.120


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 14 of 81 

14.10.030 Registration. 
Every boat owner using the port facilities shall register his/her name, address, 

telephone number and the name and/or number of the boat with the port director on 
forms provided for that purpose.  

 
14.10.040 Classification and use of mooring facilities. 

A. All of the mooring spaces in the port facilities can be classified as either open 
mooring or reserved mooring. The use of either classification of mooring facilities is 
contingent upon payment of the appropriate fee as set forth in this chapter. 

B. Areas designated as open mooring shall be open to all members of the public. 
Such areas shall be used primarily for temporary mooring. Open mooring spaces shall 
be utilized on a first- (1st-) come, first- (1st-) served basis. No boat owner shall have 
exclusive rights to open mooring space. Should any boat leave, it shall have no 
exclusive right to return to the same space. 

C. Use of Reserved Mooring Facilities. 
1. Every boat owner desiring to guarantee the availability of a mooring space, or 

to moor temporarily at any vacant reserved mooring space, shall apply to the port 
director. No such space shall be so reserved or assigned until the mooring fee has been 
paid. 

2. Possession of a reservation for a reserved mooring space does not guarantee 
the holder any right to exclusive use of the reserved mooring for the duration of the 
reservation agreement. Possession of a reservation is a guarantee that the reserved 
mooring shall be available for the use of the holder of the reservation during those 
periods when the boat is within the port facilities. The port director may temporarily 
assign another boat to a reserved mooring as he determines it expedient when the boat 
assigned to a reserved mooring is away from the port facilities. 

3. In the event that the holder of a reserved mooring returns to the port facility 
and finds his reserved mooring occupied, the holder shall contact the port director. The 
port director will cause the temporarily assigned boat to be moved to another location. 

4. The boat owner who possesses a reserved mooring shall not sublease or in 
any other manner permit the use of the mooring by another boat owner without prior 
notification of the port director. 

5. No property rights are created by this section. The holder shall only have a 
permit to use the mooring reserved to him as provided for in this chapter. 

6. A waiting list will be maintained by the port director of names of persons 
requesting reserved moorings at times when no reserved moorings exist. As reserved 
moorings become available they will be offered to the first (1st) name on the waiting 
list whose LOA fits the criteria for the mooring available. 

D. No boat shall be moored in any area designated by the port director as a loading 
area any longer than it is necessary for loading/unloading the boat. No unattended 
boats shall be left at any loading area. 

E. No boat shall block or be moored in any area designated by the port director as a 
launching area any longer than necessary for launching/hauling out the boat. 

81



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 15 of 81 

F. Any person moving a boat they do not own shall report to the port director where 
the boat was moved from and where the boat has been moved to. 

G. Any person having knowledge of a petroleum spill within the port facilities shall 
immediately report such spill to the port office; if the port office is closed, the spill shall 
be reported to the police department. 

H. No person shall bring into, moor or berth within the port facilities any boat which 
is unseaworthy or is in such a badly deteriorated condition that it is liable to sink or 
damage port facilities or other boats or which may become a menace to navigation, 
except in cases of extreme emergency, in which case the boat owner shall be liable for 
any damage caused by such boat. In the event a boat sinks within the port facilities, 
the boat owner shall mark its location and provide for the raising and disposition of the 
boat and assume all liabilities for damage to city property and other boats in the port 
facilities. 

I. No aircraft or float plane shall land, operate within, or take off from the port 
facilities or the entrance thereto. 

J. Vehicles and boat trailers must be removed from the launching areas after the boat 
has been launched and parked only in areas designated and posted by the port director 
as parking areas. Vehicles and boat trailers parked in areas not designated and posted 
as parking areas may be removed and impounded. 

K. Launching or hauling out of boats on skids is prohibited; trailers or other wheeled 
conveyances shall be used for launching or hauling out boats. Boats shall be launched 
at designated launching areas only. 

L. Beach storage of supplies, merchandise, or other property of boat owners shall be 
limited to areas designated by the port director. Boat owners shall obtain a space 
assignment for storage of property from the port director and pay storage fees in 
advance. 

M. Except as provided in BMC 14.10.045, no logs or firewood shall be unloaded and 
placed on the beach of the port facilities, and no log rafts shall be allowed within the 
port facilities or the entrance thereto. 

N. No vessels will be allowed to be more than one (1) beam’s width from the dock.  
 

14.10.045 Logs and log rafts on port facilities. 
A. Any person may request permission from the port director or designee to bring 

logs or a log raft into port facilities for off-loading. The purpose for the logs must be for 
personal use and not commercial use; commercial operations use the cargo dock or 
beach No. 1. Personal use includes use of the logs for home heating, artistic purposes, 
steambaths, or constructing shelters, fish racks, or fences. 

B. A request must be submitted to the port director at least eight (8) hours in 
advance. 

1. The port director has the sole discretion to grant, deny, or cancel a request. 
2. The decision of the port director to deny or cancel a request may only be 

reversed for abuse of discretion if appealed under subsection I of this section. 

82

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1410.html#14.10.045


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 16 of 81 

C. The request will state the size and number of logs, method for removing logs from 
the water, the location for storing and off-loading the logs or log raft, cutting, off-
loading, and/or removing the logs in the port facilities. 

D. A request is good for allowing logs or a log raft in the port facilities for three (3) 
days. The logs or log raft, as well as all debris from the logs or log raft, must be 
removed within three (3) days from the port facilities unless extended at the discretion 
of the port director or designee. 

E. Any logs, log raft, and/or debris that remains after the three- (3-) day request shall 
be declared abandoned and a public nuisance, and may be impounded, removed, sold, 
or otherwise disposed of in the following manner: 

1. The port director shall send a registered or certified letter, with a return 
receipt, notifying the person at the address listed on the user’s request, that the logs, 
log raft, and/or debris has been impounded and may be removed, sold or otherwise 
disposed of within seven (7) days after the date of the letter, unless the user: 
a. Redeems the property by payment of all the charges listed in the letter, which shall 
include expenses for clearing and storing the logs, log raft, and/or debris; or 
b. Timely submits a written appeal to the port commission under subsection I of this 
section. 

2. If the property is not redeemed and no appeal is filed, the logs, log raft, 
and/or debris may be disposed of by public auction if valued by an independent 
appraiser at over one thousand dollars ($1,000), or, if valued at one thousand dollars 
($1,000) or less, may be disposed of as junk, donated to a governmental agency or 
local nonprofit agency, or destroyed. 

F. The user is liable for any expenses incurred by the city for the removal, storage, 
and/or disposal of the logs, log raft, and/or debris. Additionally, even if the logs, log 
raft, and/or debris are sold, the user shall be liable for any remaining charges not 
covered by the sales proceeds. Interest and collection costs shall be included regarding 
any charges that are not paid within thirty (30) days of the billing by the port director 
under subsection E of this section. Penalties may also be imposed and the city may 
seek injunctive relief in accordance with BMC 14.02.086. Additionally, the user shall be 
subject to loss of privileges for use of the port facilities until all charges, interest, 
collection costs, and any penalties are paid. 

G. Repealed by Ord. 10-06. 
H. In accordance with BMC 14.02.070, any person acting under this section shall be 

strictly liable to the city without regard to fault or negligence for any damage to the 
port facilities or any property owned by the city caused directly or indirectly by the log 
raft or logs while entering into or while in the port facilities. 

I. Any appeal must be filed in writing with the port commission within seven (7) days 
after the port director denies or cancels a permit, or issues a letter that assesses 
charges, interest, collection costs, and/or penalties, or denies the user use of the port 
facilities. Any appeal of a decision of the port commission issued under this subsection 
shall be in writing and filed with the city council within seven (7) days of the date of the 
written decision by the port commission.  

83

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.086
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.070


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 17 of 81 

 
14.10.050 Unlawful acts. 

It is unlawful for any person within the small boat harbor to: 
A. Operate or to be in actual control of any boat when under the influence of 

intoxicating liquor, illicit narcotics, or other dangerous drugs; 
B. Operate or cause to be operated any boat within the small boat harbor that 

exceeds the posted speed limit or causes a wake or wave action; 
C. Operate or cause any boat to be operated recklessly or otherwise engage in a 

course of conduct that is dangerous or a nuisance to persons or property; 
D. Throw or otherwise cause to be deposited any gasoline, oil, sewage, trash, 

garbage or debris of any type into the water’s entrance or upon the grounds of the 
small boat harbor; 

E. Create, become or maintain any nuisance; 
F. Allow dogs or any other animal to run at large. Dogs shall be on a leash and 

accompanied by the owner who shall be responsible for removing any offal left by the 
dog; 

G. Allow children under the age of twelve (12) years within the float or beach area of 
the small boat harbor unless they are accompanied by a responsible adult; 

H. Disregard, deface, remove, tamper with, or damage any sign or notice posted by 
the port director; 

I. Fail to register with the port director any boat prior to occupying the small boat 
harbor facilities; 

J. Pump bilge water into the small boat harbor; 
K. Deposit, place or leave any cargo, merchandise, supplies, articles or things upon 

any float, ramp, decline, walk or other public place except at such places as may be 
designated as loading areas; 

L. Dump any offal or refuse, including but not limited to waste materials from 
canneries, fish processors, and other land- or water-based facilities within the small 
boat harbor or in such close proximity as to cause overflow or drift of such material into 
the small boat harbor or the entrance thereto; 

M. Store any explosives, gasoline, or any other flammable substance in drums, cans, 
or any other type of containers; 

N. Set any net or fish-taking device unless it is attended at all times and does not 
interfere with the movement of boats within the small boat harbor; 

O. Swim, waterski, jetski; 
P. Refuse to comply with any lawful order of the port director or his designee; 
Q. Operate on any wharf or float any wheeled conveyance including, but not limited 

to, three (3) wheelers, motorcycles, bicycles, tricycles, in or on which a person or 
persons is carried or transported, with the exception of wheel chairs, and those 
conveyances used only to transport provisions to and from the boat.  

 
14.10.060 Acts prohibited without the approval of the port director. 

The following acts are prohibited without the approval of the port director: 

84



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 18 of 81 

A. Using a boat as a residence; 
B. Major maintenance and repair work, including but not limited to sandblasting, 

welding, burning and outfitting; 
C. Tapping, connecting, disconnecting, or interfering or tampering with electrical 

outlets, meters or devices installed within the small boat harbor facility; 
D. Building any type of float, shed, floating boat shelter, or structure within the small 

boat harbor; 
E. Moving or altering any wharf, float, gang plank, ramp or other facility; 
F. Posting of signs; 
G. Conducting any commercial business within the small boat harbor.  
 

14.10.070 Rentals and fees. 
A. A schedule of mooring charges and fees shall be established by the port 

commission. The charges and fees shall be effective if approved by ordinance adopted 
by the city council. 

B. The rental of moorage space shall be on a seasonal basis. At the discretion of the 
port director, monthly rentals or moorage may be charged by prorating the seasonal 
fees. 

C. At his discretion, the port director may charge a new renter on a prorated basis 
from the date of entry into the small boat harbor. 

D. Mooring, rental, storage, or other small boat harbor facility fees shall be paid in 
advance. The watercraft or other equipment or gear of a person who fails to register 
with the port director or to pay moorage, rental, storage or other fees in advance of 
using the small boat harbor facilities will be moved and/or impounded by the port 
director consistent with federal and state law. 

E. The port director shall prepare a receipt for all moneys paid for small boat harbor 
fees. The receipt shall be prepared in triplicate. The payer shall be given the original 
copy, a copy shall be given to the city clerk with the payment, and a copy shall be 
retained by the port director. 

 
14.10.080 Port facilities privilege agreement. 

A small boat harbor privilege agreement in a form approved by the city council shall 
be signed by the applicant and, in the event the applicant is not the boat owner, 
endorsed by the boat owner agreeing to the terms and provisions thereof. The 
following terms and provisions shall be made part of the small boat harbor privilege 
agreement. 

A. Applicant also agrees to pay, in advance, moorage, rental, storage and other fees 
and charges at rates established by the city. 

B. The applicant agrees that any unpaid fees and charges shall become a lien against 
the boat described in this agreement. 

C. Nothing herein contained shall be interpreted to impose upon the city any 
obligation or responsibility for the care and protection of any private property, including 
boats, this agreement being limited to privileges of moorage space only. Applicant 

85



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 19 of 81 

expressly consents and authorizes the city to move the boat in the event that rents, 
fees or charges are not paid, ordinances or regulations are violated, or in the event of 
necessity or emergency. Applicant further agrees to hold the city harmless against the 
loss, damage or theft of the boat, including its equipment, nets, gear, tanks, lines or 
other personal property on, attached, or related to said boat.  

 
14.10.090 Duties of boat owners and operators. 

A. Every boat owner using the small boat harbor facilities shall take reasonable 
precautions to see that their boat is kept clean, well secured, free from fire hazards of 
all types, sufficiently pumped out to float and otherwise attend to the requirements of 
the boat to avoid damage to other boats or to the small boat harbor. 

B. The port director may but is not obligated to replace defective mooring lines, 
pump out boats which are in danger of sinking, or move any boat which may be 
creating a hazard to other boats or the small boat harbor facilities. The boat owner shall 
pay the city’s actual costs for these services. 

 
14.10.100 Revocation of privileges. 

Small boat harbor privileges will be revoked in the event of the default in the 
performance of any obligation or failure to comply with any ordinance or regulation of 
the small boat harbor. Small boat harbor privileges may be revoked by the port director 
if the noncompliance continues for a period of thirty (30) days from the date a certified 
letter noticing the default is mailed to the permittee.  

 
14.10.110 Lien. 

The city shall have a lien upon any watercraft or other property for which rent, fees, 
moorage, wharfage or other fees, charges or services are not paid when due.  

 
14.10.120 Removal of abandoned property. 

Any nets, gear, tanks, lines and other personal property which is deposited, stored, or 
otherwise placed on any of the small boat harbor facilities without a permit for a period 
of over twenty-four (24) hours is declared to be abandoned and a public nuisance and 
may be impounded, removed, sold, or otherwise disposed of in the manner provided for 
in BMC 14.02.100. 
 

Chapter 14 – PORT OF BETHEL 
 

14.01 Port Administration 
14.01.010 Jurisdiction 
14.01.020 Administrative Powers 
14.01.030 Administration and Government of Port Facilities 
14.01.040 Regulations/Conflicts with Other Laws 
14.01.050 Policy and Intent 
14.01.060 Use of Facilities; Implied Agreement 

86

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel14/Bethel1402.html#14.02.100


Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 20 of 81 

14.01.070 Closures 
14.01.080 Non-Discrimination 
14.01.090 Fees 
14.01.100 Funds – Accounting System 
14.01.110 Use of Moneys 
 
14.01.010 Jurisdiction 
The City of Bethel, in the exercise of its police power, assumes control and jurisdiction 
over all waters within its limits as now and hereafter constituted. The provisions of this 
title shall be construed to supplement federal laws and regulations, in cases of concurrent 
jurisdiction. 
 
14.01.020 Administrative Powers 
This title and the Bethel Port and Harbor Tariff shall be deemed an exercise of the powers 
of the City for the protection, safeguarding, and orderly moorage and control of vessels, 
and for the protection and general welfare of the public and all of its provisions shall be 
liberally construed for the accomplishment of that purpose.  The City, through its properly 
appointed representatives, shall have the authority to board any vessel utilizing the 
harbor or port facilities for the purpose of enforcing this tile and the Bethel Port and 
Harbor Tariff.   
 
14.01.030 Administration and Government of Port Facilities 
The Bethel Port, which includes, but is not limited to, the Small Boat Harbor, Beach 1, 
Beach 2, the Cargo Dock, the Petro Dock and the seawalls, shall be under the 
administration of the Port Director who shall have the authority to classify and designate 
areas of the Bethel Port in accordance with this chapter and all federal laws. 
 
14.01.040 Regulations/Conflicts with Other Laws 
A. All operations within the Port, including, but not limited to, the seawall, petro dock, 

cargo dock, and small boat harbor, if not provided for specifically, shall be conducted 
in accordance with the rules and regulations established by the Port Commission and 
approved by the City Council.  

B. When any section of this title is found to be in conflict with federal laws and regulations 
governing the equipping, operation and licensing of vessels on navigable waters of 
the United States, then such federal laws and regulations shall prevail, but the 
remaining section of this title shall not be affected.   

 
14.01.050 Policy and Intent 
It is hereby declared to be the intent of this title to favor the use of the Port Facilities, 
seawalls, docks, and small boat harbor by commercial fishermen, government vessels, 
commercial vessels in trade and commerce, and pleasure craft, and by the general public 
at large.  It is further the intent of this title to prevent and discourage the use of the 
facilities of the Bethel facilities by boats which have been abandoned by their owners to 

87



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 21 of 81 

the point of becoming derelicts as defined in 14.08 or becoming a charge and nuisance 
to the City, the Port Director, and the general public, or which are unsafe, or which are 
not used, or are not fit to be used, regularly for transportation on the water. 
 
14.01.060 Use of Facilities; Implied Agreement 
The mooring or use or presence of any vessel within any portion of a City of Bethel 
controlled Port Facility shall constitute an agreement by the owner, operator, master or 
managing agent to conform to the provisions of this title and any rule, regulation or order 
made pursuant thereto. 
 
14.01.070 Closures 
The City, through its Port Director or other duly authorized agent, may prohibit the use 
of any wharves, docking facilities, storage facilities, stalls, and other facilities owned or 
controlled by the City at any time when closing the facilities is required to protect and 
preserve the public welfare and/or safety. 
 
14.01.080 Non-Discrimination 
The City port facilities will be available on an equal basis to all persons regardless of race, 

color, religion, sex, sexual identity, sexual orientation, national origin, handicap, age, 

status as a disabled veteran, or veteran of the Vietnam War Era.   

14.01.090 Fees 
Fees for the approved use of Bethel port facilities and services as set forth in the Bethel 
Port and Harbor Tariff or the Bethel Fee and Rate Schedule, may be changed by the City 
Council by resolution; provided that a public hearing has first been held. 
   
14.01.100 Funds – Accounting System 
The Port of Bethel, owned and operated by the City, shall be operated from a fund 
separate from the general fund.  An accounting system for each such fund shall be 
established within the department of finance and shall be set up and maintained so as to 
reflect the financial condition of the enterprise, its income and expense.  A balance sheet 
and statement of income and expense shall be made for each such fund annually and as 
often as the city council may request. 
 
14.01.110 Use of Moneys. 
A. All revenues from the Port of Bethel shall be expended for the maintenance, operation 

and improvement of the Port of Bethel and other lawful purposes as the City Council 
may direct. Revenues from the Bethel boat harbors shall be expended solely for the 
furtherance of financial stability and self-sufficiency of the Bethel Port Facilities.  

B. Accounting within this fund shall be on the enterprise fund basis. 
C. None of the income money or property of the Port of Bethel enterprise shall be placed 

in the general fund or be used for the benefit of anything outside of the fund to which 
it belongs without due compensation or due value received and returned. 

88



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 22 of 81 

   
14.02 Port Director 

14.02.010 Port Director - General 
14.02.020 Duties and Responsibilities of Port Director 
14.02.030 Administrative Inspection 
14.02.040 Harbormaster 
14.02.050 Fiscal Management 
14.02.060 Compliance with Orders of Port Director 
14.02.070 Authority to Board Vessels 
14.02.080 Promulgation of Rules and Regulations 
14.02.090 Services of Port Director; Fees 
14.02.100 Limitation of Liability 
 
14.02.010 Port Director - General 
A. The Port Director, under the direction of the City Manager, is the chief 

administrative officer of the Bethel Port Facilities.   
B. The Port Director shall enforce the provisions of this title and shall enlist the aid of 

any duly authorized police officer of the City to take appropriate action for violation 
of the provisions of this title. 

C. The Port Director shall have general control and supervision of public landings and 
related Port of Bethel Facilities and shall preserve order at all times about the same.   

D. Aid. In order to render aid to distressed persons and vessels in the Bethel Port 
Facilities, the Port Director and any of the Port Director's authorized deputies and 
any police officer of the City Bethel shall have the authority to:  
1. Perform any and all acts necessary to rescue and aid persons, and protect and 

save property.  
2. Take charge of and protect all property saved from marine disasters until such 

property is claimed by persons legally authorized to receive it, or until otherwise 
disposed of in accordance with this title or other pertinent ordinances or 
applicable regulations.  

E. Assignment of Moorage Facilities:  The Port Director shall supervise and manage the 
assignment of all mooring spaces in the Port Facilities; and, may from time to time, 
in the Port Director’s discretion, in the interests of safety, order, convenience and 
health, require the owner or operator of any boat, vessel or floating structure to 
change from one mooring space to another, and may move any boat which is 
unoccupied and in violation of this chapter.   

F. Moving Boats: The Port Director and the Port Director’s assistants are hereby 
authorized to direct all waterborne traffic, either in person or by means of visible or 
audible signal, in conformation with the provisions of this title; provided, that where 
necessary to expedite waterborne traffic, or to prevent or eliminate congestion or to 
safeguard persons or property the Port Director or the Port Director’s designee, or in 
the event of a fire or other emergency, such officers and other authorized officers of 

89



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 23 of 81 

appropriate governmental agencies or authorities, may direct waterborne traffic as 
conditions may require.   

G. Posting. The Port Director shall have the duty and the exclusive power to post signs 
and to thereby designate the limit of Port Facility speeds, classification and use of 
Port Facility moorage and storage areas, and the numbers designating exclusive 
mooring spaces within the mooring areas where such is allowed, and such other 
signs and notices as would inform the public at large and all boat owners and 
operators of authorized and prohibited uses of the Port Facilities, as established by 
the Port Director or by the Port Commission and is authorized to direct all 
waterborne and vehicular traffic within the limits of the Port Facilities boundaries, 
including designated parking and storage areas. The Port Director shall have the 
power to order the making of appropriate signs to give notice of regulations relating 
to the use of the facilities. 

H. Powers and Duties: The Port Director is the chief administrator of the Port and shall 
be responsible for the overall supervision and direction of the City Port, harbors and 
waters.  The Port Director is hereby charged with the duty of enforcing all of the 
provisions of this title and of this Code as they may pertain to the Port Facilities and 
the municipal waters, and any rules and regulations duly adopted under this title, 
and is hereby empowered to do so.  In the performance of such duties, the Port 
Director shall have all of the powers of a police officer of the City of Bethel.   

I. Refusal of Mooring Facilities: The Port Director may, in the Port Director’s discretion, 
refuse mooring facilities to any boat, vessel or floating structure which is 
cumbersome or may become or create a dire hazard or otherwise become a menace 
to the safety and welfare of other boats and their occupants; when the moorage 
facilities are crowded, the Port Director may refuse mooring facilities to floats, 
scows, rafts, pile drivers, boat shelters and other cumbersome floating structures.  
Upon refusal of mooring facilities, the boat owner, operator, master or managing 
agent shall be entitled to a pro rata refund of moorage fees paid in advance, less 
any other fees or charges the City may have against the boat, its owner, operator, 
master or managing agent.   

J. Storage:  The Port Director shall supervise and manage the assignment of dry land 
storage; 

K. Subordinates. Whenever a power is granted to, or a duty is imposed upon the Port 
Director, that power may be exercised or the duty may be performed by any duly 
authorized representative or such other person as the Port Director may designate 
for the enforcement of this title. 

L. Supervision:  The Port Director shall supervise and manage the use of the boat lift, 
launching ramps, grid iron and all other facilities made available by the City.   

M. Traffic direction. The Port Director and the Port Director's assistants are hereby 
authorized to direct all waterborne traffic, either in person or by means of visible or 
audible signal, in conformance with the provisions of this title; provided, that where 
necessary to expedite waterborne traffic, or to prevent or eliminate congestion or to 
safeguard persons or property the Port Director or the Port Director's designee, or in 

90



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 24 of 81 

the event of a fire or other emergency, such officers and other authorized officers of 
appropriate governmental agencies or authorities, may direct waterborne traffic as 
conditions may require, notwithstanding provisions of this title.  

 
14.02.020 Duties and Responsibilities of Port Director 
The Port Director is responsible for the overall supervision and direction of the Port, 

harbors and waters.  The authority and duties of the Port Director shall include, but are 

not limited to, the following: 

1. Manage and operate the Bethel Ports, small boat harbor, boat ramps and other 
water-related areas; 

2. The Port Director may prohibit the use of any wharves and docking facilities 
owned or controlled by the City at any time when closing the facilities is required 
to protect and preserve the public welfare and safety. 

3. Perform all duties imposed by state and federal law upon Port Directors, 
harbormasters and administrative directors of ports and harbors; 

4. Promptly report to the appropriate federal or state agency any violation of the 
laws of the United States or the State of Alaska for the protection of navigation 
and preservation of navigable waters and wetlands;  

5. Enforce all ordinances and regulations pertaining to the management and 
operation of the Bethel Port;  

6. Make recommendations to the City Personnel Officer regarding the appointment, 
hiring, promotion, layoff, suspension, demotion or removal of all employees of 
the Bethel Port; 

7. Regulate the use of municipal wharves, including the allocation of wharf space 
and its use; 

8. Regulate and allocate the use of all Port Facilities, docks and waterways located 
within or adjacent to the city limits of the City of Bethel; 

9. Classify areas within the Bethel Port and harbors for various uses; mark mooring 
spaces to be assigned, and post such signs, numbers, markings or other 
informational devices as will notify and inform interested parties of authorized 
and prohibited uses of the Bethel Port Facilities.   

10. Remove, or cause to be removed to a place of safety, any motor vehicle found 
parked within the Port Facilities in violation of this title, or in such a manner as to 
create a significant danger to the safety of persons or property; 

11. Take corrective action if a vessel or person fails to comply with a provision of this 
chapter, an order of the Port Director, or a rule or regulation promulgated 
pursuant to this title by rendering such performance himself; 

12. Classify areas within the harbor for various uses, mark mooring spaces to be 
assigned, and post such signs, numbers, markings or other informational devices 
as will notify and inform interested parties of authorized and prohibited uses of 
the Bethel Port and harbor facilities; 

13. Allocate and assign all mooring spaces; 

91



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 25 of 81 

14. Order any vessel improperly anchored, moored or berthed within the Port to 
move to a location designated or cause such vessel to be so moved if the order 
is not complied with; 

15. Prepare and submit to the City Manager an annual budget; 
16. Prepare and submit to the City Manager at the end of each fiscal year a report 

on the finances and administrative activities of the Bethel Port;  
17. Prepare and make available for public distribution an annual report on the Bethel 

Port; 
18. Prepares such reports as may be required on any phase of Port activity; 
19. Attends all meetings of the Port Commission; 
20. Perform any other duty that may be necessary in the interest of the Port 

Facilities or waterways in and adjacent to the city limits for Bethel; 
21. Assume such other authority and perform such other duties as may be lawfully 

prescribed by the Bethel City Council. 
 

 

14.02.030 Administrative Inspection 
A. The Port Director may make a warrantless inspection of any vessel, its crew or its 

cargo for the purpose of determining whether they pose a threat to the health, safety 
or welfare of the public, Port Facilities or personnel.  The Port Director may take such 
other action as necessary to prevent an immediate and substantial danger to the 
public health, safety or welfare. 

B. Where the Port Director finds that such action is necessary to prevent an immediate 
and substantial danger to the public health, safety or welfare, the Port Director may 
make an inspection permitted under subsection (A) of this section without an 
administrative inspection warrant, provided the Port Director has announced to the 
City Manager and City Attorney or their designees the intention to enter.  Such 
inspections shall be done peaceably and without violence or harm to person or 
property. 

C. The Port Director may make a warrantless inspection of any common carrier utilizing 
Port Facilities to ascertain the kind, quality, and quantity of cargo aboard.  Utilization 
of the Port facility shall constitute consent for such inspection. 

D. Except as specified in subsections (A) and (B) of this section, the Port Director shall 
apply to the trial courts of the State for an inspection warrant.  The application shall 
identify the vessel to be inspected, the authority to make the inspection, the nature 
and the extent of the inspection, and those facts or circumstances which demonstrate 
the valid public purpose and the effect and force of this title sufficient to justify such 
inspection.  Inspections to ensure that the proper terminal tariffs or other charges are 
assessed and paid shall be sufficient justification for such warrant.  Warrants issued 
under this section shall be returned within ten (10) calendar days. 

E. No person shall refuse to allow the Port Director to enter upon a vessel for purposes 
specified in this Title.   

92



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 26 of 81 

 
14.02.040 Harbormaster 
The harbormaster is an agent and designee of the Port Director and empowered to 
exercise day to day oversight of Port Facilities and users.  In addition, if the office of Port 
Director is vacant for any reason, the harbormaster shall fulfill the duties and 
responsibilities of the Port Director and shall have all the rights and authority otherwise 
vested therein, including but not limited to enforcement of this Code, rules, regulations, 
and Tariff of the Port of Bethel.  Under those circumstances, all reference to “Port 
Director” in the Code, tariff, regulations or other documents should be construed to 
include the harbormaster as well. 
 
14.02.050 Fiscal Management 
A. There shall be an annual independent audit of the accounts and financial transactions 

of the Bethel Port.  The audit shall be performed by a public accountant who has no 
personal interest, direct or indirect, in the fiscal affairs of the City.  Copies of the audit 
shall be available to the public upon request. 

B. The fund or funds of the Bethel Port shall at all times remain separate from the general 
fund of the City. 

C. The City shall pay for the use of the Bethel Port at the same standard rate set for 
other comparable users.   

 
14.02.060 Compliance with Orders of Port Director 
 No person may intentionally fail or refuse to comply with a lawful order of the Port 
Director in any matter pertaining to this title. 
 
14.02.070 Authority to Board Vessels 
 The utilization of any City-owned or City-operated Port Facility or waterway within 
City limits shall be deemed as a grant of authority to the Port Director and other 
appropriate City officials to board the vessel for the purpose of enforcing City ordinances 
and to move the vessel if it is moored in violation of a provision of this chapter or if 
required by an emergency or other conditions as set forth in this chapter.   
 
14.02.080 Promulgation of Rules and Regulations 
The Port Director is empowered and authorized to establish additional rules and 
regulations governing the use of the Bethel harbors, assignment of stalls, and the general 
conduct in, around and on harbor facilities and parking areas.  Such rules and regulations 
shall become effective upon approval by the Port Commission.  The Port Commission shall 
provide for an effective date.  The Port Director shall print and make available to the 
public, copies of regulations adopted pursuant to this section.   
 
14.02.090 Services of Port Director; Fees 
The Port Director is hereby granted the power and authority to, from time to time, but 
without any obligation or duty to do so, and without any obligation or liability on the Port 

93



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 27 of 81 

Director's part or that of the City for his or her failure to do so, replace defective mooring 
lines, pump boats which are in dangerous condition for lack thereof, and to move any 
boat for the purpose of protecting the boat from fire or other hazard, or for the protection 
of other boats therefrom. Whenever the Port Director shall perform any of the acts 
hereinbefore authorized, after having given notice to the boat owner or operator at the 
registered address of the immediate need therefore, or having attempted to give such 
notice, the boat and owner thereof is hereby required to pay to the City such fees as are 
set forth by the Port Commission. 
 
14.02.100 Limitation of Liability 
The authority granted to the Port Director shall not create an obligation or duty requiring 
the Port Director to take any action to protect or preserve any vessel or property located 
within the Port of Bethel or utilizing Port of Bethel facilities.  The City shall not be 
responsible for loss or damage from fire or other casualty, or theft, vandalism or any 
other causes of injury to vessels or property moored or located within the Port of Bethel.  
The City shall not be responsible for any items which have been impounded.   
 

14.03  General Provisions 
14.03.010 Jurisdiction 
14.03.020 General Provisions 
14.03.030 Port Facilities Defined 
14.03.040 Definitions 
14.03.050 Fees and Charges – General Use of Facilities 
14.02.060 Fees and Charges - Tariff 
14.03.070 Delinquent Accounts 
14.03.080 Lien Created 
14.03.090 Other Remedies 
14.03.100 Annual Review Required 
14.03.110 Duty to Register 
14.03.120 Required Equipment 
14.03.130 Vessel Seaworthiness 
14.03.140 Safekeeping of Vessels 
14.03.150 Sale or Solicitation of Goods or Services 
14.03.160 Motor Vehicle Parking 
14.03.170 Wheeled Vehicles Prohibited 
14.03.180 Aircraft on Water 
14.03.190 Obstructions to Navigation 
14.03.200 Logs and Log Rafts on Port Facilities 
14.03.210 Blinding Lights 
14.03.220 Regulations of Signs 
14.03.230 Fishing Prohibited 
14.03.240 Vessels in Dangerous Condition 
14.03.250 Fire Hazards Prohibited 

94



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 28 of 81 

14.03.260 Vessel Departure 
14.03.270 Facility Damage 
14.03.280 Reporting Injury or Damage 
14.03.290 Liability for Cost of Corrective Action 
14.03.300 City Not Responsible for Loss or Damage 
14.03.310 Obligation of Port 
14.03.320 Dry Storage Area – Short Term Only 
14.03.330 Storage on Floats or Docks 
14.03.340 Charges for Facilities and Services 
14.03.350 Persons Under the Age of Sixteen 
14.03.360 Responsibility for Animals 
14.03.370 Occupancy of Vessels 
14.03.380 Disposal of Waste, Litter and Garbage 
14.03.390 Reckless Operation 
14.03.400 Violation - Penalty 
14.03.410 Revenues 
 
14.03.010 Jurisdiction 
The City of Bethel, in the exercise of its police power, assumes control and jurisdiction 
over all waters within its limits as now and hereafter constituted.  In cases of concurrent 
jurisdiction, the provisions of this chapter shall be construed to supplement federal laws 
and regulations. 
 
14.03.020 General Provisions 
A. Conditions for using any Port of Bethel properties are subject to specific authorization 

by the Port Director or his designee and may include provisions to protect public 
safety, security, environment and health. The Port Director or his designee may waive 
the provision contained in this chapter whenever such action is in the best interests 
of the Port of Bethel. 

B. Vessels utilizing Port of Bethel properties or facilities shall fully comply with provisions 
of applicable federal, state, local statutes, laws, ordinances and regulations. 

C. The use of Port of Bethel properties or services shall be deemed complete acceptance 
of the terms and conditions named in this chapter. 

 
14.03.030 Port Facilities Defined 
The Port Facilities include all that portion of the Small Boat Harbor, Beach 1, Beach 2, the 
Cargo Dock, the Petro Dock and the seawalls.   
 
14.03.040 Definitions 
Unless otherwise provided in this title or required by the context, definitions set forth in 
the Bethel Port and Harbor Tariff shall apply to this title.   
 
14.03.050 Fees and Charges – General Use of Facilities 

95



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 29 of 81 

A. The owners or operators of vessels using any Port of Bethel facility or service shall 
pay the fees thereon established. 

B. All rates, fees and charges for the use of facilities and services of the Port of Bethel 
shall be approved by resolution of the City Council.   

C. All fees must be paid in advance to the City for the period prescribed and may be 
billed on account to the customer for future periods.  All other fees not paid in 
advance shall be billed on account to the customer.  All fees shall be non-
refundable, except pro-rata refunds of moorage fees may be made, upon the 
written approval of the Port Director, due to death of the owner or accidental loss of 
vessel due to sinking, fire or theft.   

D. Storage and other port, boat harbor and miscellaneous fees are due and payable in 
United States currency. Failure to pay invoices when due shall place the vessel or 
equipment as well as its owners or agents upon a delinquent list. An owner or agent 
who has been placed on the delinquent list shall not be allowed to utilize the Bethel 
waterways until all past-due balances and late charges have been paid in full.  
 

14.03.060 Fees and Charges - Tariff 

A. Tariff charges are due prior to commencement of service from, or use of, the Port 
Facilities.  When the Port Director determines that the exact amount of the tariff 
charges cannot be ascertained prior to the commencement of service or use, the 
Director may accept a deposit of an estimated amount of the tariff charges which 
amount will be applied to the total tariff charges when the exact amount of such 
charges is determined. 

B. A user of the Port Facilities may request from the Port Director a waiver from the 
requirement to pay for service or use in advance.  If the Port Director determines 
that it is in the Port’s interest to grant the waiver, the Director will require the user 
to make a deposit instead of advance payment.  The amount of the deposit shall not 
be less than seventy-five (75%) of the amount expected to be due nor more than 
one hundred twenty-five (125%) percent of the amount expected to be due.  Upon 
completion of the service, the Director will provide the user with an invoice stating 
the exact amount due.  Payment of the invoice is due thirty (30) calendar days after 
it is mailed, delivered or faxed to the user.  In the event the user does not pay an 
invoice when due, the Port Director will apply the deposit to the invoice and send 
the user a check for the amount on deposit, which is in excess of the amount due.   

C. All tariff charges are due and payable in United States currency.  Failure to pay 
invoices when due shall place the vessel, its owners or agents or the user of the Port 
Facilities upon a delinquent list.  A vessel whose owner or agents have been placed 
on the delinquent list shall not be allowed to utilize the Port Facilities until all past-
due balances and late charges have been paid in full.  a late charge at the rate of 
two (2%) percent per month on the unpaid balance.   

 

14.03.070 Delinquent Accounts 

96



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 30 of 81 

A. Delinquent accounts shall be subject to collection procedures as followed by the City 
and as allowed by state and federal laws. 

B. Further, a penalty of thirty-five ($35) dollars shall accrue to such account for each 
calendar month or portion thereof the account is delinquent.  In addition to a 
penalty, delinquent account shall accrue interest at a rate of eighteen (18%) percent 
per year on the unpaid delinquent balance.   

C. Delinquent lists are public documents and may be published.  
D. The City of Bethel may utilize any legal means available in the collection of past due 

balances, including, but not limited to, civil action, liens and seizure of property.  
E. The City reserves any right it may have to offset amounts owed by a vessel owner 

or agent for delinquent fees against any amount owing to the vessel owners or 
agents under a contract between the City and the vessel owner or agent 

 
14.03.080 Lien Created 
A. In addition to any other remedy provided herein at law, rent, fees, moorage, 

wharfage and other miscellaneous Port of Bethel fees or charges shall constitute a 
lien against the vessel, its gear, appurtenances and other similar property to the 
owner or operator, under state and federal law. 

B. Fees and charges delinquent ninety (90) days or longer may be foreclosed on by 
impounding and selling the vessel against which the lien has vested under federal 
law and the provisions of Chapter 14.10. 

 
14.03.090 Other Remedies 
All liens created shall not be exclusive remedies.  A proceeding to foreclose any lien or 
suit thereon by the City shall not preclude any other remedy, including impoundment, 
at law or in equity.   
 
14.03.100 Annual Review Required 
An annual review shall be required of all Port and harbor fees and rates.  Such annual 
review shall be part of the preparation of the Port’s fiscal operating budgets.   
 
14.03.110 Duty to Register 
A. Every owner, operator or agent of any vessel using the facilities of the Port of Bethel 

for any period of time is required to register the name, address and telephone 
number of the registered owner, operator and agent of the vessel; the vessel’s 
length, breadth, registered tonnage (if any) description and uses, the vessel’s name 
and home port, and any other pertinent information required by the Port Director on 
forms provided for that purpose. 

B. All users must pay the required fees immediately but no later than twelve (12) hours 
after first entering the Port Facilities. 

C. In the event of a change of ownership or in operator, a new vessel mooring 
agreement shall be signed within thirty (30) days after the change. 

 

97



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 31 of 81 

14.03.120 Required Equipment 
All watercraft or vessels shall carry the equipment required by any applicable United 
States laws or regulations as now or hereafter amended, and shall be numbered or 
designated in accordance with any applicable United States laws or regulations as now 
or hereafter amended.  In the absence of extenuating circumstances, failure of any 
boat or vessel within the Bethel harbors to comply with applicable United States laws or 
regulations shall be in violation of this title.   
 
14.03.130 Vessel Seaworthiness 
All vessels moored or docked in the Bethel harbor system must meet the following 
criteria: 
A. Be capable of getting underway under its own power at all times; 
B. Be a watercraft constructed and maintained for the primary purpose of navigating 

the waterways of Alaska and not solely for the specific purposes of maintaining a 
stationary place of residence, floating storage shop, office or other non-navigational 
purposes.  

 
14.03.140 Safekeeping of Vessels 
A. The owner or operator of a vessel shall use all reasonable efforts and caution to 

keep the vessel securely moored with lines in a reasonably fit condition, sufficiently 
pumped at all times to keep the vessel afloat, and to otherwise attend the needs of 
the vessel to avoid any necessity for services or equipment from the Port Director. 

B. If the Port Director determines that a vessel must be re-secured, pumped, moved, 
or otherwise attended to protect the vessel or other adjacent vessels or property 
from existing hazards, the Port Director shall give or attempt to give written or 
verbal notice to the vessel owner or operator, at the registered address, of the need 
for services to the vessel. 

C. If a vessel owner or operator fails, within a reasonable period of time after receipt of 
notice, to provide services needed for the protection of the vessel or other vessels or 
property, or if the Port Director is unable within a reasonable period of time to notify 
the owner or operator, the Port Director may replace defective mooring lines, attach 
additional mooring lines, pump vessels that are listing or sinking, move any vessel 
for the purpose of protecting that vessel from fire or other hazard or for the 
protection of other vessels or property, or render such other services as the Port 
Director determines may be needed. 

D. A fee, based upon a schedule of rates and charges adopted by the City Council, shall 
be charged to the vessel owner or operator for each service the Port Director 
performs or causes to be performed for the protection of a vessel or adjacent 
property. 

 
14.03.150 Sale or Solicitation of Goods or Services 
No person may sell or solicit the sale of goods or services upon Port Facilities without a 
written permit authorized by the Port Commission and issued by the Port Director. The 

98



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 32 of 81 

permit may limit sale activity so as to prevent it from interfering with the safe and 
efficient operation of the Port. 
 
14.03.160 Motor Vehicle Parking 
Parking for motor vehicles within the Port of Bethel will be managed by the Port 
Director or their designee.  If parking fees or permits are required for the parking of 
motor vehicles on any Port of Bethel Facility, the Port Director shall allocate such 
parking fees or permit fees to the port fund.  
 
14.03.170 Wheeled Vehicles Prohibited 
No person may drive any bicycle or any motorized wheeled or tracked equipment upon 
any float facility without first obtaining the consent of the Port Director. 
 
14.03.180 Aircraft on Water 
All vessels or watercraft shall keep clear of aircraft landing within any area now or 
hereafter set aside for such purpose. Aircraft on the water shall keep clear of all vessels 
and watercraft and avoid impeding their navigation. 
 
14.03.190 Obstructions to Navigation 
A. No vessel may remain in a position which interferes with the mooring or passage of 

another vessel or creates a danger to persons, vessels or property after the Port 
Director has ordered it to move.  

B. No person may obstruct a municipal slip, basin, channel or wharf so as to interfere 
with the mooring, passage or activity of a vessel. The Port Director may remove any 
such obstruction if the owner thereof fails to do so within twenty-four (24) hours 
after its discovery by the Port Director.  

C. No person may tie or attach a skiff, scow, raft or any other auxiliary craft alongside, 
astern or ahead of a vessel moored within the Port of Bethel if such auxiliary craft 
will obstruct or interfere with the normal movement of any vessel or be likely to 
cause rubbing or chaffing damage to any other vessel.   

D. No structure, material or substance that can sink in water or obstruct navigation 
may be deposited in the small boat harbor, city docks or the shores of the small 
boat harbor or city docks unless written permission is first obtained from the Port 
Director.  

E. When ballast, stone, coal, bricks, scrap, dirt, rubbish or other loose material or 
matter that can sink in water is being unloaded from or loaded onto a vessel, a 
canvas chute or similar contrivance shall be used to prevent spills into the waterway.  

F. The owner of a vessel which sinks, is grounded or is delayed so as to interfere with 
navigation, obstruct the Port, or endanger persons or property shall post warnings 
on the vessel that can be seen during the day and night and remove the vessel as 
soon as possible.  

 
14.03.200 Logs and Log Rafts on Port Facilities 

99



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 33 of 81 

A. Any person may request permission from the Port Director or designee to bring logs 
or a log raft into Port Facilities for off-loading.  The purpose for the logs must be for 
personal use and not commercial use.  Commercial operations may only use the 
Cargo Dock or Beach Number 1.  Personal use includes use of the logs for home 
heating, artistic purposes, steam-baths, or constructing shelters, fish racks, or 
fences. 

B. A request must be submitted to the Port Director at least four (4) hours in advance. 
1. The Port Director has the sole discretion to grant, deny or cancel a request. 
2. If appealed, the decision of the Port Director to deny or cancel a request may 

only be reversed for abuse of discretion. 
C. The request must state the size and number of logs, method for removing logs from 

the water, the location for storing and off-loading the logs or log raft, cutting, off-
loading, and/or removing the logs from the Port Facilities. 

D. A request for allowing logs or a log raft in the Port Facilities is only valid for three 
(3) calendar days from the date the request is received. The logs or log raft, as well 
as all debris from the logs or log raft, must be removed within three (3) calendar 
days unless extended at the discretion of the Port Director. 

E. Any logs, log raft, and/or debris that remains after the three (3) days shall be 
declared abandoned and a public nuisance, and may be impounded, removed, sold, 
or otherwise disposed of as set out in 14.08 – 14.10 

F. The user is liable for any expenses incurred by the City for the removal, storage, 
and/or disposal of the logs, log raft, and/or debris. Additionally, even if the logs, log 
raft, and/or debris are sold, the user shall be liable for any remaining charges not 
covered by the sales proceeds. Interest and collection costs shall be included 
regarding any charges that are not paid within thirty (30) calendar days of the billing 
by the Port Director. Penalties may also be imposed and the City may seek 
injunctive relief. Additionally, the user shall be subject to loss of privileges for use of 
the Port Facilities until all charges, interest, collection costs, and any penalties are 
paid. 

G. Any person acting under this section shall be strictly liable to the City without regard 
to fault or negligence for any damage to the Port Facilities or any property owned by 
the City caused directly or indirectly by the log raft or logs while entering into or 
while in the Port Facilities. 

 
14.03.210 Blinding Lights 
A. No person may operate a vessel searchlight or other bright light in a manner that 

will temporarily blind or interfere with the vision of an operator of any other vessel 
in the harbor. 

B. No person may operate a searchlight or other blinding light on a vessel not 
underway in the Bethel harbors, except in an emergency. 

C. No person may operate a searchlight or other high intensity light on a vessel in such 
a manner that the safety and privacy of other persons in the immediate harbor area 
is disturbed. 

100



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 34 of 81 

 
14.03.220 Regulation of Signs 
A. No person may write or post any written or printed matter in any place within the 

Bethel harbors except upon bulletin boards constructed for that purpose and only 
after obtaining permission from the Port Director. 

B. Signs identifying businesses or products may be erected within the Bethel Port 
Facilities and/or harbors upon approval of the Port Commission only. 

C. No person shall erect, place, post or maintain any advertising matter, sign or other 
printed matter, other than legal notices, on any part of the Port of Bethel Facilities 
without approval thereof from the Port Director.  All unauthorized advertising shall 
be removed by the Port Director.   

 
14.03.230 Fishing Prohibited 
No person may fish from any dock, float, ramp, or any mooring facility operated by the 
City, nor may any person fish within a waterway in a manner which may interfere with 
movement of other vessels. 
 
14.03.240 Vessels in Dangerous Condition 
Any vessel that enters or is within the Port in a condition which renders it dangerous to 
persons or property shall be handled according to the directions of the Port Director. 
 
14.03.250 Fire Hazards Prohibited 
A. No person may leave a fire or flame unattended aboard a vessel within the Bethel 

harbors.  A fire or flame is unattended unless the owner, operator, or other person 
over the age of eighteen (18) years who has demonstrated capability for moving the 
vessel is aboard or within one hundred (100) yards of the vessel. 

B. No person may store, deposit, or leave on any float, dock, or other Port Facility any 
gasoline, lubricating oil, or other combustible liquid of any nature or description, 
except for temporary purposes in conjunction with the loading or unloading of a 
vessel. 

C. A person using a torch or other flame-producing device in or upon any vessel, dock, 
float, or other Port Facility shall provide, and have immediately available for use, an 
approved fire extinguisher or hose connected to a water supply system adequate for 
suppressing any fires that may result from the use of the flame-producing device. 

 
14.03.260 Vessel Departure 
A. The Port Director may direct a vessel to depart for the protection of persons or 

property, to ensure efficient use of the Port, or in response to the vessel's failure to 
remit required charges or tariffs.  

B. Upon the order of the Port Director, a vessel shall immediately vacate its berth so 
that a reserved vessel may berth there. Failure of a vessel to comply with such an 
order shall be a violation of this section and will subject the vessel to fines in 
addition to liability for all damage sustained by the reserved vessel.  

101



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 35 of 81 

 
14.03.270 Facility Damage 
Any person and/or vessel damaging any property interest of the Bethel Port, harbor or 
City property shall be strictly liable to the City without regard for fault or negligence for 
all damages including, but not limited to, costs incurred by the City in repairing or 
replacing the damaged property, administrative overhead and collection costs. 
 
14.03.280 Reporting Injury or Damage 
A. The operator of any boat or vessel involved in an accident resulting in injury, death, 

or in damage to property in excess of Three Hundred ($300) Dollars shall 
immediately stop such vessel at the scene of such accident and shall render aid as 
he or she is capable, give name, address, and the name and number of her or his 
boat, and the name and address of the owner, to the person struck or the operator 
or occupants of the boat collided with, or property damaged. 

B. The master, owner, or operator of the boat or vessel who is involved in the accident 
shall immediately notify the Port Director.  If the office of the Port Director is closed, 
notification shall be given to the Bethel Police Department.  The notification shall 
include the name and address of the person, the type and extent of the injury and 
the time when the injury occurred, and such other information as shall be requested 
in an accident form provided by the Port Director. 

 
14.03.290 Liability for Cost of Corrective Action 
A. If a vessel or person fails to comply with the provisions of this chapter, a rule or 

regulation promulgated pursuant to this chapter or an order of the Port Director, 
and the Port Director initiates corrective action, the vessel or person shall be liable 
for all expenses, including administrative overhead, incurred by the Port in executing 
the corrective action.  

B. If the Port Director takes possession or control of a vessel or other property in the 
course of taking corrective action, such possession or control may be continued until 
such time as the expenses, including attorneys’ fees, storage fees, custodial fees 
and any other cost or fees, required or incurred by the Port Director are paid. If 
expenses remain after ninety (90) days, the port director may treat the vessel or 
property as abandoned and may proceed in accordance with section 14.09. 

C. Initiation of corrective action under this section is a discretionary function of the Port 
Director. 

D. All persons and vessels that owe fees or expenses under this section shall be denied 
use of the Port Facilities until such fees are paid.    

 
14.03.300 City Not Responsible for Loss or Damage 
The City shall not be responsible for loss or damage from fire or other casualty, theft, 
vandalism, or any other cause of injury to vessels or property moored or located within 
the Port, harbor or other waterways within or adjacent to the City of Bethel.  The 
authority granted to the Port Director shall not create an obligation or duty requiring 

102



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 36 of 81 

the Port Director to take any action to protect or preserve any vessel or property 
located within the Bethel harbors or utilizing harbor facilities. The City assumes no 
liability for loss or damage to vessels, equipment, appurtenances, tackle, provisions, 
mooring lines, gear, supplies, or any other article attached or relating to a vessel, 
whether maintained or affixed to a vessel or separately stored at Port Facilities. 
 
14.03.310  Obligation of Port 
The setting forth of rates or charges in this chapter shall not imply an obligation on the 
Port of Bethel’s part to provide such facility or service. 
 
14.03.320 Dry Storage Area – Short Term Only 
A. The storage of boat parts, engine parts, and other miscellaneous items is permitted 

in designated portions of the Port Facilities as designated by the Port Director. 
Persons desiring to utilize this unsecured storage area shall first register with the 
Port Director and provide the requested information regarding the description and 
quantity of items to be stored, as well as the anticipated period for storage. 

B. Each item placed in the dry storage area shall be marked with a tag containing the 
name and number of the vessel to which the gear belongs, the name and address of 
the registered owner, and the name of the operator of the vessel.  The Port Director 
may establish barriers to segregate stored items. 

C. No item may be stored in the dry storage area for a period in excess of ninety (90) 
consecutive days.  Items stored for a period in excess of ninety (90) days shall be 
impounded by the Port Director.  Property so impounded may be sold at the 
expiration of three (3) months from the date of impoundment unless the registered 
owner or the owner’s agent pays accrued storage and impoundment fees and 
removes the property from the designated storage area.  

14.03.330 Storage on Floats or Docks 
A. All floats, docks, ramps, and approaches shall be maintained free and clear of any 

objects or items that are not appurtenances or fixtures to the floats, docks, ramps, 
and approaches. 

B. No person may store or place upon any float, dock, ramp, or approach any repair 
parts, machinery, equipment, or gear, except in conjunction with the loading or 
unloading of a vessel or at work areas designated by the Port Director. 

C. Property of any sort found upon a float, dock, ramp, or approach may be 
impounded by the Port Director if such property is not immediately removed.  

 
14.03.340 Charges for Facilities and Services 
A. Charges required by the City of Bethel to be paid in advance shall be paid at the 

Port Director’s office prior to utilization of any facility or equipment, or receipt of any 
service. 

B. Upon registration for exclusive moorage, the owner or operator of a vessel shall 
annually deposit a sum equal to twenty-five (25%) percent of the annual exclusive 
moorage fee as security for payment of fees that will accrue if the vessel owner or 

103



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 37 of 81 

operator fails to register for the next season and does not advise the Port Director of 
termination of the exclusive moorage agreement and availability of the space for 
reassignment. The security deposit shall be refunded upon notice of termination, 
received on or before June 1, if there are no accrued or delinquent charges for 
services rendered to the vessel by the City. 

C. The fees and charges for other facilities, equipment, and services provided or made 
available within the Bethel Port Facility that are not required to be paid in advance 
shall be paid within thirty (30) days after billing. Billings that are not paid within 
thirty (30) days shall accrue interest at the rate of eighteen (18%) percent per year 
from the due date. 

D. The fees and charges for the use of facilities or services associated with the Bethel 
Port Facilities shall be established by resolution of the City Council. 

 

14.03.350 Persons Under the Age of Sixteen 
No person under the age of sixteen (16) years shall be allowed on the dock and floats, 
or in the boat harbor, unless in the company and under the control of such person's 
parent or guardian or some other person over the age of nineteen (19) years having 
the supervision and control of such person under the age of sixteen (16) years, and for 
the time and place exercising the responsibilities of such person's parent or guardian. A 
person between the ages of sixteen (16) and seventeen (17) years may apply to the 
Port Director and for good cause shown shall be granted a permit to go on the dock 
and floats or in the boat harbor by herself or himself.  Such permit may be restricted 
and conditioned as, in the judgment of the Port Director, is warranted by 
circumstances.  Such permit shall be revocable by the Port Director if the permittee 
abuses the privilege of access to the Port Facilities.  Good cause for the purposes of this 
section shall consist of:  

1. Care of boats; 
2. Entering or exiting the harbor by boat; 
3. Employment requiring access to the boat harbor; or 
4. Other legitimate and compelling reasons where denial of access would create an 

undue hardship on the person. 
 
14.03.360 Responsibility for Animals 
A. A person owning or in charge of any animal within the Bethel Port Facilities shall keep 

that animal restrained on a leash not more than five (5’) feet in length. 
B. The owner or person in charge of any animal shall keep the animal from any loud 

barking and howling. The animal must be securely leashed and all offal deposited on 
deck shall be removed in a manner so as to not prevent or hinder persons from 
crossing a vessel’s deck to board their own vessel, or otherwise disturb the peace and 
good order of the Port Facilities. 

 
14.03.370 Occupancy of Vessels 

104



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 38 of 81 

A. No person may use or occupy a vessel moored at Port Facilities as a place of residence, 
nor may a person rent or lease such a vessel as a place of residence, utilize it as a 
rooming house, or permit it to be occupied for any period of more than five (5) days 
by any person other than the normal crew of the vessel. 

B. A vessel which is not in regular use for the purposes for which it is normally operated 
and which has remained moored to Port Facilities continuously for a period of ninety 
(90) days or more may not be occupied, except that one person may occupy the 
vessel if serving in the capacity of a caretaker. 

 
14.03.380 Disposal of Waste, Litter and Garbage 
A. No person may dump or deposit any waste, litter, garbage, refuse, debris, or 

petroleum product into the waterways or onto any dock, float, or other Port Facility 
not designated and designed for the disposal of trash. 

B. A person in charge of or occupying a vessel shall at all times keep the floats and 
premises adjacent to such vessel in a neat and orderly condition, free from trash, 
refuse, garbage, and debris of any kind. 

C. All garbage, trash, refuse, and waste to be disposed of within the Port Facilities shall 
be deposited in garbage containers located near the loading dock, except as otherwise 
provided in this chapter. 

D. Waste oil shall be deposited in containers designated for the disposal of waste oil and 
shall not be deposited in any other garbage or trash container. 

E. No person may pump any bilge containing oil or gasoline residue within the Bethel 
Port Facilities. 

 
14.03.390 Reckless Operation 
The operation of any vessel in any manner which unreasonably interferes with the free 
and proper use of the Port of Bethel or unreasonably endangers the users of the waters 
of the Port of Bethel is prohibited. 
14.03.400 Violation/Penalties 

A. Violation of any provision of this Title is an infraction subject to a fine.  In 

accordance with AS 29.25.070(a), citations for the following offenses may be 

disposed of as provided in AS 12.25.195-.230, without a court appearance, upon 

payment of the fine amounts listed below plus the state surcharge required by AS 

12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074.  Fines must be paid to the court.  The Rules of Minor 

Offense Procedure in the Alaska Rules of Court apply to all offenses listed below.  

Citations charging these offenses must meet the requirements of Minor Offense 

Rule 3.  If a person charged with one of these offenses appears in court and is 

found guilty, the penalty imposed for the offense may not exceed the fine amount 

for that offense listed below.  If an offense is not listed on this fine schedule or 

another fine schedule, the defendant must appear in court to answer to the 

charges.  These fines may not be judicially reduced.  

105



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 39 of 81 

Violation Code Section Fine  

Failure to Register Vessel 4.03.110 $150 

Failure to timely notify Port of Change in Ownership 4.03.110 $150 

Failure to timely file new vessel mooring agreement 
following change in ownership 

4.03.110 $150 

Failure to maintain proper equipment 4.03.120 $50 - $250 

Vessel not Seaworthy 4.03.130(A) $500 

Docking or mooring a vessel whose primary purpose 
is other than navigating the waterways of Alaska 

4.03.130 $500 

Failure to securely moor vessel 4.03.140 $200 

Failure to sufficiently pump vessel 4.03.140 $150 

Failure to promptly correct deficiencies in vessel 
safekeeping 

4.03.140 $350 

Sale or solicitation of goods without a permit 4.03.150 $250 

Sale or solicitation of goods in violation of or outside 
the scope of permit 

4.03.150 $250 

Improper Parking on Port Facilities 4.03.160 $50 / day 

Wheeled vehicles on float facility 4.03.170 $75 

Obstructing Navigation 4.03.190 $500 

Interfering with mooring or passage of another vessel 4.03.190 $300 

Obstructing municipal slip, basin, channel, or wharf 4.03.190 $300 

Placement structure, material or substance that can 
sink in water without authorization 

4.03.190 $300 

Failure to install, utilize or property use canvas chute 4.03.190(F) $300 

Failure to post warnings around sunken vessel 4.03.190 $500 

Improper or insufficient posting of warning around 
sunken vessel 

4.03.190 $500 

Failure to timely remove sunken vessel 4.03.190 $1000 

Logs or log rafts on Port Facilities without 
authorization 

4.03.200 $200 

Logs on Port Facilities for commercial use in other 
than designated areas 

4.03.200 $300 

Failure to timely file request to bring logs or log rafts 
onto Port Facilities 

4.03.200 $50 

Failure to timely remove logs, log rafts or debris 4.03.200 $250 

Improper Use of Blinding Lights 4.03.210 $200 

Posting Signs without authorization 4.03.220 $100 

Removing, tampering with or destroying signs 4.03.220 $150 

Fishing in Prohibited Areas 4.03.230 $100 

Vessels in Dangerous Condition 4.03.240 $350 

Fire Hazards Created 4.03.250 $350 

Unattended Fire Hazard 4.03.250 $500 

106



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 40 of 81 

Storing gasoline, lubricating oil or other combustible 
liquid 

4.03.250 $500 

Failure to have fire extinguisher or hose available 
when using a torch or other flame producing device 

4.03.250 $500 

Failure to depart upon Port Director directive 4.03.260 $500 

Failure to Report Accident or Injury 4.03.280 $700 

Failure to timely report accident or injury 4.03.280 $650 

Loose animals on Port Facilities 4.03.360 $100 

Failure to properly dispose of animal waste 4.03.360 $100 

Failure to control loud barking or howling 4.03.360 $100 

Occupying vessel moored at Port Facility as a 
residence, rooming house or office 

4.03.370 $750 

Improper disposal or waste, litter or garbage 4.03.380 $50 - $100 

Failure to keep floats and premises adjacent to vessel 
in neat an orderly condition 

4.03.380 $100 

Improper disposal of waste oil 4.03.380 $200 

Pumping Bilge Oil or Gasoline Residue within Bethel 
Port Facilities 

4.03.380 $350 

Reckless Operation of a vessel 4.03.390 $1,000 

 
Each day that a violation occurs is considered a separate offense.   
 
14.03.410 Revenues  
A. Six cents ($0.06) of each dollar of fuel thru-put revenue generated by the Port shall 

be transferred to designated accounts as follows: 
1. Two cents ($0.02) of fuel thru-put revenue generated at the Port shall be 

transferred to a designated deferred seawall maintenance account upon 
payment,    

2. Two cents ($0.02) of fuel thru-put revenue generated at the Port shall be 
transferred to a designated deferred municipal dock fund, and 

3. Two cents ($0.02) of fuel thru-put revenue generated at the Port shall be 
transferred to a designated fund for the small boat harbor. 

B. All other revenues produced by the Port excluding amounts received from fines 
imposed under this title shall be held in the Port Enterprise Fund for the 
maintenance and operation of the Port. 

 
14.04  Port Commission 

14.04.010 Establishment of Port Commission 
14.04.020 Reservation of Powers 
14.04.030 Composition, Term of Office and Procedures 
14.04.040 Duties 
14.04.050 Vacancies 

107



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 41 of 81 

14.04.060 Administrative Support 
14.04.070 Meetings 
14.04.080 Membership in Associations 
14.04.090 Schedule of Fees and Charges 
14.04.100 General Powers 
14.04.110 Rules and Regulations 
14.04.120 Limitation on Authority 
 
14.04.010 Establishment of Port Commission 
A Port Commission shall be established for the purpose of advising the City Council on 
the operation, maintenance and improvement of the Port of Bethel’s facilities, and for 
such additional purposes as the City Council may from time to time designate.   
 
14.04.020 Reservation of Powers 
The City Council reserves to itself the power and authority to approve or disapprove all 
regulations, rates, or the acquisition or disposal of any interest in real property 
pertaining in any manner to the administration of the Bethel Port. 
 
14.04.030 Composition, Term of Office and Procedures 
A. The Port Commission shall consist of seven (7) members who shall be residents of 

the City and shall be appointed by the mayor subject to confirmation by the City 
Council.   

B. Any registered Bethel voter is eligible to be appointed as a Port Commissioner.  No 
person shall be ineligible solely because he or she holds an elected, appointed or 
employee position with the City.  A Commission member who ceases to be eligible to 
be a City voter forfeits his or her office as a Commissioner.   

C. One (1) of the seven (7) members shall be a City Councilmember.  
D. All appointments shall be for staggered three (3) year terms except where an 

interim appointment is necessary to complete the term of a Commissioner who 
resigns, dies, or is otherwise removed from office.  

E. In the event of vacancies, the mayor, subject to confirmation by the City Council, 
shall make appointments to fill the vacant positions. In the event a seat has six (6) 
months or less remaining to the unexpired term, the Council, at its discretion, may 
choose to appoint the member to the remainder of the current term as well as to 
the full term immediately following the expiration date of the unexpired term. 

F. Commissioners can be removed from office for cause only.  
G. The City shall supply staff assistance for the Commission. 
H. Terms shall commence on July 1. 
I. No Commission member, or member of a Commission member's immediate family 

or household, may be employed by the Port Department. 
J. The Commission shall use Robert’s Rules of Order. Regular meetings of the 

Commission will be at least monthly. Special meetings may be called at the 

108



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 42 of 81 

discretion of the chairperson or by two (2) members of the Commission.  All 
meetings of the Commission shall be open to the public. 

K. The Commissioners shall elect annually from its members a chair and vice chair and 
such other officers as it deems necessary. The Commission may appoint such 
committees as it deems necessary. 

L. A majority of the Commission shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business. Four (4) affirmative votes shall be necessary to carry any question. 

M. An agenda of meetings shall be prepared and published according to established 
rules of the City Council. 

N. Permanent records, or minutes, shall be kept for all meetings held. All resolutions 
and minutes of the Port Commission or a similar report shall be presented to the 
City Council by a member of the Council appointed to serve on the Commission, or 
in his absence, by the City Manager. The minutes shall be properly filed in the office 
of the city clerk and shall be open to inspection by the public.  

O. Alternate Members. The mayor shall appoint up to two (2) additional members to 
serve as alternate members, subject to confirmation by the Council. An alternate 
member will be activated as a voting member whenever there is an absence or 
conflict of interest of another member. At all other times the alternate member shall 
be an ex officio member. 

 
14.04.040 Duties 
 The port commission shall: 
A. Regulate the operation of the Port Facilities by promulgating a terminal tariff 

containing rates, charges, rules and regulations applicable at the port and subject to 
the approval of the Council and the Federal Maritime Commission; 

B. Promulgate rules and regulations relating to the operation of terminal and 
transportation facilities at the port;  

C. Advise the City Council with respect to the Port Facilities concerning the acquisition, 
ownership, exchange, transfer, lease, rent, conveyance, or disposal, and use of real 
or personal property on Port property and interest therein; 

D. Review Port contracts prior to their execution and monitor and periodically report to 
the City Council concerning the status of all contracts executed with respect to the 
Port Facilities; 

E. Advise the City Council with respect to the construction, improvement, alteration, or 
repair of Port Facilities; 

F. Review plans for construction and development within the confines of the Port of 
Bethel and shall report to the City Council the expected impact of such construction 
or development on the Port of Bethel.  The Port Commission shall make appropriate 
recommendations to the City Council concerning such construction or development.   

G. Study and make recommendations generally on Bethel port matters such as, but not 
limited to, tariff rates, fiscal matters, management services, personnel staffing, 
safety precautions, expansion or extension of services and public relations; 

109



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 43 of 81 

H. Assist the City Council in developing ways and means whereby the City may 
encourage and permit the development of Port Facilities by private and public 
developers and builders; 

I. Hear appeals resulting from actions of the Port Director and take action on matters 
referred to the Commission by the Port Director or City Council; 

J. Periodically review the budget, capital improvement programs, funding of Port 
Facilities and systems and report its findings to the City Council; 

K. Prepare and submit to the City Council an annual report of operations and finances, 
including recommendations for the safe, efficient and economical operation of the 
Bethel Port.  

L. Perform other such duties as the City Council may refer to it from time to time; 
M. Do other such acts as are necessary and proper for the performance of the duties 

and functions set forth in this title; 
N. The Port Commission may, at its discretion, hold formal public hearings on any 

question which may come before it; 
O. The City Council shall be the board of appeals for all Port Commission action. The 

City Council may delegate to a hearing officer the authority to hear and decide 
appeals.   

 
14.04.050 Vacancies 
A. A vacancy shall be declared by the Commission and filled as provided when a 

member: 
1. Fails to qualify and take office within thirty (30) days after confirmation by the 

City Council; 
2. Departs from the City with the intent to remain away for a period of ninety (90) 

days or more; 
3. Submits a resignation to the City Mayor, City Clerk, Commission or Port Director; 
4. Is physically or mentally unable to attend Port Commission meetings or attend to 

commission business; 
5. Is absent from three (3) or more consecutive, regular meetings of the Port 

Commission without an absence pre-approved by the Commission; 
a.  For purposes of this section, an absence will be considered excused if due to 

the following causes and shall require approval by the Commission at the 
next regularly scheduled meeting: 
(i) The illness or injury of the Commissioner or a family member; 
(ii) The death of a family member; 
(iii) An employment-related commitment; 
(iv) A commitment for City business; or 
(v) Other good cause approved by the Commission. 

b.  Whenever possible absences should be noticed to the Commission chair prior 
to the meeting for purposes of securing a quorum at the meeting. 

c. A Commissioner may participate in a commission meeting by teleconference.  

110



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 44 of 81 

6. Misses forty (40%) percent or more of the regular board meetings in a twelve 
(12) month period;  

7. Is convicted of a felony, or misdemeanor, an element of which is a violation of 
the oath of office; or 

8. Is or becomes so directly interested in Port affairs in the course of their private 
affairs that a membership on the port commission creates a conflict or the 
reasonable appearance of a conflict of interest.  

B. For the purposes of counting attendance, a member participating telephonically shall 
be counted as present. 

C. The chair of the Port Commission shall notify the City Clerk’s office of any vacancy 
on the Commission.   

 
14.04.060 Administrative Support 
 The Port Commission shall receive full cooperation and support from the City 
Manager including full access to any and all information concerning the Port of Bethel.  
 
14.04.070 Meetings 
A. A majority of the membership of the Commission shall constitute a quorum for the 

transaction of all business, and the chairperson shall have the vote on all matters.  
The affirmative vote of a majority of the Commission shall be sufficient to pass upon 
all matters coming before it. 

B. The Commission shall choose a chairperson, vice chairperson and, if desired, a 
secretary, each year at the first meeting following the qualification of one or more 
commissioners appointed that year by the City Council. 

C. The Port Commission shall meet at least nine (9) times each year at a regularly 
scheduled time.  Port Commission meetings shall be held at Bethel City Hall.  All 
meetings of the Commission shall be open to the public.  The secretary (or City 
appointed recorder) shall draft the minutes of all regular and special meetings in a 
manner accurately reflecting the actions of the Commission and shall file the 
minutes of these meetings permanently as public records. 

 
 
 
14.04.080 Membership in Associations 
The Port Commission as a whole may maintain membership in any local, state or 
national group or association organized and operated for the promotion, improvement 
or assistance in the administration of Port and harbor facilities and, in connection 
therewith, pay dues and fees thereto. 
 
14.04.090 Schedule of Fees and Charges 
A. The Port Commission, subject to approval by the City Council, shall establish the 

rates, charges and fees to be charged for the use of any and all Port Facilities 
including, but not limited to, charges assessed against vessels, their owners, agents 

111



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 45 of 81 

or operators which load or discharge cargo at any of the terminals within the area 
under the Commission’s jurisdiction; charges for dockage while loading or 
discharging cargo; charges for administrative expenses in serving the carrier; 
charges for freight-handling operations; and wharfage, handling, loading, unloading, 
wharf demurrage rates, storage rates, fuel thru-put fees, mooring to the seawall, 
small boat harbor, derelicts, delinquent accounts, use of adjacent property and other 
charges as appropriate. 

B. Such rates, charges and classifications shall be just, reasonable and 
nondiscriminatory and shall be established after a public hearing conducted by the 
Port Commission. Notice specifying the time and place of such hearing shall be given 
in at least one (1) publication at least fifteen (15) days before the hearing in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City. 

C. At the hearing, interested parties may make such arguments before the Port 
Commission, whether in person or by representative, as they consider proper, 
addressing matters at issue, and thereafter the Port Commission shall prepare a 
schedule of rates to be submitted to the Council at its next regular meeting. 

D. The Council may adopt the Commission’s proposed rates by approval of modification 
of either the Bethel Fee and Rate Schedule or the Bethel Tariff.  The date upon 
which the rates established or regulated go into effect may not be less than ten (10) 
days after passage and approval by the Council. 

E. Terminal tariffs established for the cargo dock are also subject to the approval of the 
Federal Maritime Commission. 

 
14.04.100 General Powers 
Subject to state laws and City ordinances, the Port Commission shall generally exercise 
all powers necessary and incidental to operation of all Port Facilities in the public 
interest and in a sound business manner. In particular, and without limitation on the 
foregoing, the Commission shall:  

A. Be responsible for the operation, development and marketing of City owned and 
operated Port Facilities, including such facilities as boat harbors, docks, boat 
launching ramps, and related facilities except as designated by the City Council 
by resolution.  

B. Adopt, pursuant to the Bethel Municipal Code, and enforce regulations necessary 
for the administration of the facilities under its management.  

C. Prescribe the terms under which persons and vessels may use the facilities and 
shall establish and enforce standards of operation. 

D. Administer and dispose of City tideland, submerged land, and other land as 
provided by the Council by resolution as subject to Port Commission 
Administration, subject to the following limitations:  
1. No sale, purchase, or trade of land shall be made without prior review by the 

planning commission and approval by the City Council by resolution.  

112



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 46 of 81 

2. Unless otherwise designated in advance by the City Council by resolution, any 
lease of land shall be limited to marine-related uses, and those uses 
accessory to tenancy on the boat harbor or use of the Port.  

3. All land transactions by the Commission in accordance with this section shall 
be consistent with the comprehensive land management plan developed 
under this Code. 

E. Develop, adopt, alter or revise, subject to approval by the City Council, a master 
plan for the physical development of harbor or Port Facilities for the City.  Such 
master plan with accompanying maps, plats, charts, descriptive and explanatory 
matter shall show the Commission’s recommendations for the development of 
City Port Facilities and may include, among other things: 
1. Development of the type, location and sequence of all public Port Facilities; 
2. The relocation, removal, extension or change of use of existing Port Facilities. 

F. Administer the design and construction of all capital improvements on lands 
managed by the Port Commission unless otherwise specified by the City Council 
by resolution. The Commission may propose capital improvement projects to and 
apply for funding from state and federal agencies; provided, that such requests 
shall be subject to prioritization by the City Council with other City capital 
improvement funding requests prior to application for funds.  

G. Subject to City Council review and approval, may enter into Memoranda of 
Understanding and similar agreements with public agencies for Port purposes.  

H. Contracts for public improvements and, whenever practicable, other purchase of 
supplies, materials, equipment, and services, including professional services, 
shall be subject to the procurement procedures established in chapter 4.20, 
provided that the Commission may, for all contracts, a class of contracts, or a 
particular contract, specify prior to issuance of a public solicitation that for 
purposes of applying chapter 4.20, all actions required thereby of the City 
Manager or the purchasing officer shall be performed by the Port Director, and 
provided further that any appeal of any protest of a procurement so 
administered shall be initially decided by the Port Commission instead of the City 
Manager.  

 
14.04.110 Rules and Regulations 
A. The Commission shall propose to the City Council rules and regulations consistent 

with this chapter for the conduct of its meetings and for the orderly, safe and 
efficient operation of the Bethel Port facilities. 

B. Prior to the submission of proposed rules and regulations to the City Council for 
promulgation, the same proposed rules and regulations shall be presented at a 
regularly scheduled meeting of the Commission.  Public notice shall be accomplished 
by the timely publishing in a local newspaper of general circulation of a descriptive 
summary of the proposed rules or regulations, including the date and time of 
consideration for passage by the Commission, and a statement that the full text of 

113



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 47 of 81 

the proposed rules and regulations is available for public inspection at the office of 
the Bethel City Clerk.    

 
14.04.120 Limitation on Authority 
 The Port Commission members may commit the City to long-range Port 
development or capital improvement plans or projects only as authorized in advance by 
the Council by ordinance or resolution. 
 

14.05 Moorage 
14.05.010 Registration 
14.05.020 Mooring without Registration and Other Prohibited Acts 
14.05.030 General Moorage Rules 
14.05.040 Exclusive/Reserved Mooring 
14.05.050 Open/Transient Mooring 
14.05.060 Multiple Boat Moorage 
14.05.070 Reservations 
14.05.080 Rights not Exclusive 
14.05.090 Preferred Vessels 
14.05.100 Safe Condition of Vessel 
14.05.110 Denial of Facilities, Equipment or Service 
14.05.120 Operation of Commercial Businesses 
14.05.130 Houseboats 
14.05.140 Vessel Liable for Damage 
14.05.150 Required Equipment 
14.05.160 Duties of Boat Owners 
14.05.170 Unauthorized Bumpers Prohibited 
14.05.180 Manifests 
14.05.190 Sunken or Obstructive Boats 
14.05.200 Smoking Prohibited 
14.05.210 Fishing Prohibited 
14.05.220 Loading or Unloading Explosives 
14.05.230 Fires, Welding Activities 
14.05.240 Petroleum Products 
14.05.250 Loading or Unloading Petroleum Products 
14.05.260 Depositing Cargo or Other Property without Permission 
14.05.270 Speed Limits  
14.05.280 Safety Ladders 
14.05.290 Seawall Fence 
14.05.300 Tampering with the Facilities 
14.05.310 Violation/Penalties 
 
14.05.010 Registration 

114



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 48 of 81 

Every owner, master, operator or managing agent of any vessel using the Bethel Port 
Facilities is hereby required to register his or her name, telephone number, post office 
and street address, and the name and number of the vessel, its length, its breadth and 
registered tonnage, if any, with the Port Director on forms to be provided by the Port 
Director for that purpose. 
 
14.05.020 Mooring without Registration and Other Prohibited Acts 
A. No person may moor, berth, tie, attach, or connect a vessel to any Port Facility without 

registering with the Port Director and paying or executing an agreement to pay 
applicable moorage charges. Vessels operating in the City’s waterways or moored to 
floats or dock facilities, either private or public, within the City limits shall register said 
vessels with the Port Director for the safety and public welfare of the Port of Bethel. 

B. The vessel mooring permit is limited to the moorage of a specific vessel, assigned to 
a specific location for a specific period of time, and does not provide for any shore-
side facilities or property use.   

C. A person registering a vessel with the Port Director shall present the U.S. Coast Guard 
documentation or registration papers for the vessel and provide the name, number, 
type, dimension, description, and uses of the vessel, the name and address of the 
registered owner, operator, and agent for the vessel, the type of registry requested, 
and such other information as may be requested by the Port Director. In the event of 
a change of ownership in, or a change in the operator of, a vessel previously registered 
with the Port Director, the previous owner or operator shall so notify the Port Director 
within thirty (30) days after the change. A new vessel mooring agreement shall be 
signed by the new owner or operator within twenty-four (24) hours after the vessel’s 
first use of any Port Facility following the change. 

D. It is unlawful to moor where signs prohibit moorage at floats, docks, ramps, or loading 
zones. It is unlawful to moor in areas restricted as exclusive moorage without first 
obtaining permission from the Port Director. 

E. A vessel that is moored but not registered with the Port Director may be moved at 
any time by the Port Director, with or without notice to the vessel owner or operator, 
and the owner or operator shall be charged the applicable fee for the Port Director 
services. 

F. It shall be unlawful for any person to make any false statement or knowingly to 
provide any inaccurate information in a vessel mooring agreement or application for 
the use of Port Facilities. 

G. It shall be unlawful for any person who authorizes or permits himself or herself to be 
listed in a vessel mooring agreement as an owner or operator of a vessel to fail to 
respond or to deny association with the vessel when called upon by the Port Director 
to move, pump, or otherwise attend to the vessel. 

H. The vessel owner shall neither sublease or allow another vessel to use its assigned 
space.   

I. The Port Director may require any vessel moored to or otherwise utilizing Port 
Facilities, whether or not the subject of a vessel mooring agreement, to be moved as 

115



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 49 of 81 

necessary to effect repairs or additions to or the replacement of floats, docks, buoys, 
and similar facilities. 

 

14.05.030 General Moorage Rules 
A. The vessel owner is responsible for conducting his/her operations in a safe and lawful 

manner.   
B. Mooring is limited to designated areas only. 
C. The vessel shall be secured only to mooring bits that are installed independently to 

the bulkhead. 
D. Adequate bumpers or fenders must be placed by the vessel to prevent damage to the 

seawall or other moorage location. 
E. Mooring bits may only be placed by the City or with the City’s permission, after 

approval by the Port Director as to the mooring bit’s location.  No mooring bit may be 
placed such that tie backs are damaged. 

F. No vessel is allowed to moor alongside another watercraft moored at a Port Facility 
for the purpose of loading or unloading without the Port Director’s written approval. 

G. No vessel shall block or be moored in any area designated by the Port Director as a 
launching area for any period of time longer than necessary for launching/hauling out 
the boat. 

H. The floating docks situated along the Port Facilities are for the use of small vessels 
only and only as authorized by the Port Director. 

I. No floatplanes shall be allowed to moor at the floating docks or any other Port Facility. 
J. No hazardous or explosive freight or material may be stored along the seawall/cargo 

dock or either Beach or loaded or unloaded to/from watercraft over any of the 
mentioned locations. 

K. Small vessels using the floating docks shall not load, discharge or transport over the 
Port Facilities to the docks any boxes, packages, or other freight that is too large or 
heavy to safely carry down the gangways.  Heavy or bulky freight shall be loaded 
either at the Small Boat Harbor or at the Slough by the Bridge. 

L. No small vessel shall be allowed to refuel or transfer gasoline or other flammable 
liquids while moored at the floating docks. 

M. There shall be no refueling of vessels moored to a Port Facility.  Vessels must be 
moved to the Petroleum Dock or other designated fueling location. 

N. The vessel owner, master or agent, shall indemnify and hold harmless the City from 
any and all claims and damages, including costs and attorney’s fees, caused by or 
resulting from any negligent, intentional or malicious act or omission while the vessel 
is moored to any Port Facility.  

 
 
14.05.040 Exclusive/Reserved Mooring 
A. Every vessel owner desiring to guarantee the availability of a mooring space shall 

apply directly to the Port Director and enter into a mooring agreement provided by 

116



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 50 of 81 

the City.  No space shall be reserved or assigned until the appropriate fee has been 
paid in full.   

B. The Port Director shall lease such space, if available, on a seasonal basis only.   
C. The Port Director shall assign or re-assign such reserved moorage so as to achieve 

the most efficient use of the Port of Bethel space. 
D. Space designated for exclusive/reserved moorage shall be assigned by the Port 

Director for the exclusive use of one vessel per stall or space. 
E. Exclusive moorage rights may not be assigned or subleased.  
F. The owner or operator of a vessel utilizing exclusive/reserved moorage space shall 

notify the Port Director each time the space will be unoccupied.  
G. During such periods when the assigned vessel will not be utilizing exclusive/reserved 

moorage space, the Port Director may assign such space for transient moorage. Upon 
not less than two (2) hours’ notice by the vessel entitled to exclusive moorage, the 
Port Director shall cause the removal of any transient vessel utilizing the exclusive 
moorage space.  

H. When the party holding exclusive moorage rights is a corporation or partnership, the 
sale or other conveyance of a controlling interest in that corporation or partnership 
shall automatically result in a termination of the exclusive moorage rights. 

I. If a vessel owner with reserved moorage sells the vessel or loses the vessel to fire, 
sinking or natural disaster, he may retain the reserved space for the remainder of that 
season. The Port Director may assign such stalls for temporary use during their 
vacancy.  

J. No property rights are created by this section or this title. The holder shall have only 
a license to use the space reserved to him or her as provided in this title.  

K. Both the owner and the operator of a vessel which moors in a reserved mooring space 
without the written permission of the Port Director or executing the required moorage 
agreement shall be guilty of an infraction and the vessel shall be deemed to trespass. 

 
14.05.050 Open/Transient Mooring 
A. Areas designated for open/transient mooring shall be open to all members of the 

public.  Such areas shall be used primarily for temporary mooring.  Transient mooring 
spaces shall be utilized on a “first-come-first-served” basis.  No vessel or vessel owner 
or operator shall have any exclusive right to transient mooring space. Should any 
vessel leave a transient mooring space for any purpose, it shall have no exclusive right 
to return to the same space if, upon return, that space is occupied by another vessel.   

B. A vessel mooring alongside another vessel shall moor adjacent to a vessel of similar 
size. 

C. Immediately upon notice from the Port Director, the owner or operator of such 
temporarily assigned transient vessel shall remove the vessel from the assigned space.  
If the vessel owner fails to move immediately upon receipt of such notice, the Port 
Director may move the vessel from the reserved space, and the owner shall be 
charged such fee as established by the Bethel Fee and Rate schedule.  In case the 

117



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 51 of 81 

Port Director is unable to contact the owner or operator of such temporarily assigned 
transient vessel, the Port Director may move the vessel from the reserved space. 

 
14.05.060 Multiple Boat Moorage 
A. Not more than one vessel may be moored in a stall at any one time except with the 

prior consent of the Port Director. The Port Director may permit multiple occupancy 
of a single stall or float area if the Port Director determines that multiple occupancy 
would be safe and would facilitate maximum use of Port Facilities. 

B. The vessel owner or operator shall not allow another vessel to moor alongside the 
permitted vessel, except for the purpose of loading or unloading fish or cargo.  When 
loading or unloading operations are completed, the outside vessel must move out.   

C. Fish or freight which is loaded or unloaded to, from or across the permitted vessel, 
except for vessel provisions and ice, shall be subject to the payment of wharfage 
charges, as provided in the Bethel Tariff.   

D. If a person utilizing moorage facilities owns or operates more than one boat which 
may from time to time be moored to the float, the moorage charge shall be based on 
the applicable rate as set by the Bethel City Council. 

E. A person who owns or operates more than one vessel is permitted to lease only one 
exclusive stall unless there is no waiting list for the size of exclusive stall required by 
the second vessel. The second or other vessel(s) owned or operated by such a person 
shall be accommodated on a transient basis. 

 
14.05.070  Reservations 
Vessels are requested to submit reservations for berth with the Port of Bethel as far in 
advance as possible, but not less than five (5) working days prior to expected arrival, 
subject to final confirmation of berth arrangements forty-eight (48) hours in advance of 
expected time of docking. Any changes in expected time of arrival must be reported 
promptly. Vessels which fail to notify the Port of Bethel of cancellation of a scheduled call 
at least five (5) working days prior to its expected arrival shall be subject to a charge of 
one-half the dockage rates provided in the Bethel Tariff. 
 
14.05.080 Rights not Exclusive 
Berth assignments shall include only the right to dock vessel at the assigned berth and 
to assemble and distribute the cargos of such vessel over, through or upon the assigned 
area or facility, subject to the provision that when the assigned area or facility is not 
required in whole or in part for the use of the vessel, the Port Director or his designee 
may make temporary assignments of the berth, wharf, wharf premises or other facility, 
or any part thereof, to any other vessel. 
 
14.05.090 Preferred Vessels 
Common carriers will have priority use of the cargo dock.  Resupply tanker barges shall 
have priority use of the petroleum dock during the time of discharge or taking on of fuel.  
However, after the fueling operation is completed, the subject vessel no longer has 

118



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 52 of 81 

priority.  When more than one (1) vessel is brought up the river pilot together, the first 
(1st) vessel arriving at the pilot bar shall have first (1st) berthing with the port cargo dock.   
 
14.05.100 Safe Condition of Vessel 
A. To qualify or remain qualified for moorage space a vessel must: 

1. At all times meet federal, state and local laws which include those pertaining 
to navigational and safety equipment;  

2. Have a fixed propulsion system and have sufficient motor power to permit the 
vessel to be maneuvered and controlled safely while transiting, entering or 
leaving the Port of Bethel under wind and water conditions which are not 
unusual; 

3. Be completely seaworthy and ready for immediate cruising in local waters; 
and 

4. Shall not discharge sewage into the waterways of the Port of Bethel. 
B. Whenever the Port Director has probable cause to believe that a vessel is not 

qualified under the conditions of this section, he or she may require, upon seventy-
two (72) hours’ notice to the owner or operator of any such vessel, that such vessel 
demonstrates that it is or remains qualified. An exception may be made where 
repairs are being diligently pursued or where other extenuating circumstances 
prevent demonstration of qualification, but such exception shall be for only a 
reasonable time, considering the circumstances.  

C. The Port Director may refuse mooring space to any vessel which does not qualify; it 
shall be a condition of every moorage agreement that any vessel authorized to moor 
in the Port of Bethel shall remain qualified so long as it remains in the Port of Bethel. 
The Port Director may terminate the moorage agreement for any mooring space 
which is occupied by a vessel which is authorized to occupy such space, but which 
vessel is not qualified in accordance with this section. Upon failure of a vessel to 
qualify, the Port Director may require, upon notice to the owner or operator of such 
vessel that the moorage agreement has been terminated, that such vessel is illegally 
moored and must be removed from the Port of Bethel within seven (7) calendar 
days. Any such vessel remaining after the time specified in the notice shall be 
subject to impoundment or removal as a nuisance under Chapters 04.08 through 
04.10. 
  

14.05.110 Denial of Facilities, Equipment or Services 
A. When moorage facilities are crowded, the Port Director may refuse mooring facilities 

to houseboats, floats, scows, rafts, pile drivers, and other cumbersome floating 
structures. 

B. The Port Director may refuse moorage to any vessel which is or may become or 
create a fire hazard or otherwise become a menace to the safety or welfare of other 
boats or their occupants. 

119



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 53 of 81 

C. As a condition to permitting a vessel access to mooring facilities, the Port Director 
may require satisfactory evidence of seaworthiness of the vessel or evidence of 
adequate insurance coverage. 

D. The Port Director may refuse moorage facilities or other services or equipment to 
any person or vessel in violation of the provisions of this chapter or delinquent in the 
payment of any authorized fee or charge. 

E. An owner or operator of a vessel may not fail or refuse to remove the vessel from 
any facility in the Bethel Ports and may not cause or permit the vessel to be 
moored, tied, affixed, or located adjacent to any Port Facilities in the Bethel harbor 
after the Port Director has notified the owner or operator of the vessel that moorage 
or mooring facilities are refused, terminated, or withdrawn. 

1. Notice of refusal, withdrawal, or termination of facilities or other services or 
equipment to a vessel that is not registered may be given verbally by the Port 
Director and shall be effective immediately.  Verbal notices will be followed by 
a written notice.   

2. Notice of refusal, withdrawal, or termination of moorage facilities to a 
registered vessel may be given by the Port Director verbally followed by 
written notice.  Verbal notice relating to services and equipment shall be 
effective immediately. Verbal or written notice personally delivered to the 
owner or operator relating to the refusal, withdrawal, or termination of 
mooring facilities shall be effective twenty-four (24) hours after the time of 
delivery unless a later effective date is specified in writing. 

3. Written notice of refusal, withdrawal, or termination of mooring facilities for a 
registered vessel may be mailed to the address designated on the registration 
information or may be posted in a conspicuous place on the vessel. A written 
notice that is posted or mailed shall be effective at 4:30 p.m. on the fifth (5th) 
day following posting or mailing of such notice. 

 
14.05.120 Operation of Commercial Businesses 
Except for vessel rentals or charters, or other businesses directly related to navigation 
or commerce on the sea, including fishing, no commercial businesses shall be allowed 
to operate in mooring spaces in the Port of Bethel unless recommended by resolution of 
the Port Commission and approved by both the Planning Commission and the City 
Council. 
 
14.05.130 Houseboats 
A. Houseboats must meet the following requirements to qualify for moorage within the 

Port of Bethel:  
1. All houseboats shall be restricted to space available on a Float. If such space is 

not available, those vessel owners requesting such moorage may be placed on a 
slip assignment waiting list.  

2. Maximum length allowed is forty (40’) feet. 

120



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 54 of 81 

3. Maximum beam allowed for one slip is sixteen (16’) feet. Houseboats with beams 
over sixteen (16’) feet, must reserve and pay for two (2) slips.  

4. Maximum height allowed from waterline to roof peak must not exceed two-thirds 
of vessel's beam measurement.  

B. A houseboat is defined as any vessel capable of being used or maintained primarily 
as a residence. 

 
14.05.140 Vessel liable for damage 
Any vessel assigned a berth, wharf, wharf premises or other facility or attempting to 
use or using any of the facilities or services of the Port of Bethel shall be responsible 
and liable to the Port of Bethel for any damage occurring during their tenancy and 
occupancy, unless such vessel secures and furnishes the Port Director or his designee 
with adequate information and evidence fixing the responsibility and liability for any 
such damage on some other responsible person and such other person reimburses the 
Port of Bethel for any such damage.  Upon the refusal, failure or neglect of any such 
vessel to accept responsibility and liability in the manner and under the circumstances 
aforesaid, the Port Director or his designee may immediately revoke the assignment to 
any such vessel without notice and may refuse the use of any wharf, berth, or other 
facility to any such vessel until the Port of Bethel has been fully reimbursed for any 
such damage. Anything contained in this section shall not be construed, nor is it 
intended, to be a sole remedy of the City.  
 
14.05.150 Required Equipment 
All watercraft or vessels shall carry the equipment required by any applicable United 
States laws or regulations as now or hereafter amended, and shall be numbered or 
designated in accordance with any applicable United States laws or regulations as now 
or hereafter amended. In the absence of extenuating circumstances, failure of any boat 
or vessel within the Port Facility to comply with applicable United States laws or 
regulations shall be a violation of this chapter. 
 
14.05.160 Duties of Boat Owners 
In addition to the duties of registration and identification as herein provided, every 
owner, master, operator or managing agent of any boat using the mooring or other 
facilities of the Port Facilities shall be obliged to use due diligence in performing the 
following requirements:  

1. Use all reasonable precautions in keeping the boat in his or her charge in a 
reasonably clean and sanitary condition, with special attention to potable water 
and sanitary toilets.  

2. Use all reasonable precautions in keeping the boat in her or his charge free from 
fire hazards of any type or nature.  

3. Use all reasonable effort and precautions in keeping the boat in his or her charge 
well secured, securely moored with lines in reasonably fit condition, sufficiently 

121



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 55 of 81 

pumped out at all times to keep the boat afloat, and to otherwise attend the 
needs of the boat to avoid need for attention by the Port Director.  

4. Use adequate precautions to lock up and stow and otherwise safeguard all 
movable gear and tackle.  

5. To promptly pay all charges and taxes assessed or levied either against the 
vessel or its owner, and all rentals and charges for utilities requested and 
ordered by the vessel occupant or its owner.  

6. Supply and use adequate fenders to safeguard floats and vessels from chafing 
and other damages.  

 
14.05.170 Unauthorized Bumpers Prohibited 
No person may utilize in the Port of Bethel, float bumpers that are attached, 
permanently or temporarily, to the float facilities that are made from used tires, old fire 
hose, or similar materials. The owner or operator of a vessel assigned moorage space 
may only install standardized rubber or vinyl bumper of commercial manufacture as 
approved by the Port Director.   
 
14.05.180 Manifests 
Masters, owners, agents, or operators of vessels are required to furnish the Port of 
Bethel with complete copies of vessel manifests. 
 
A. Required Information: All manifests must include, but are not limited to, the 

specifications listed: 
1. A list of all cargo, including company gear, empty containers or equipment, that 

is going to be loaded or unloaded at the Port Facility; 
2. A description of cargo, gross weight, quantities, shipper, consignee, destination 

port, originating port. 
3. Carrier information including the name of the carrier, vessel name(s) and arrival 

date. 
4. All manifests must be certified as correct by an authorized official of the 

company and must also designate the basis of weight or measurement on which 
the freight was assessed.  In lieu of manifests, freight bills containing all 
information as required above may be accepted. 

B. Time Due:  
1. Inbound Manifest:  Must be furnished forty-eight (48) hours prior to the vessel’s 

arrival. 
2. Outbound Manifest: Must be furnished twenty-four (24) hours prior to the 

vessels loading or unloading. 
3. Lighterage Vessels: with inbound or outbound cargo, must furnish the Port 

Director with a cargo manifest with estimated weights prior to loading or off-
loading.     

C. Revised Manifest:  Revisions to the manifest shall be turned into the Port Director’s 
office no later than twenty-four (24) hours after loading and unloading is completed.   

122



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 56 of 81 

D. Penalty for Failure to timely provide Manifest: Failure to submit a manifest as 
required herein may result in a fine of two hundred fifty ($250.00) dollars and a 
denial of Port use privileges.  If the Port of Bethel or the City is required to provide 
personnel for the purpose of checking freight on or off any vessel at any Port 
facility, the master, owner, agent, or operator of said vessel shall be charged the 
hourly man-hour labor rate for Port personnel established under Section 2, Item 207 
of the Bethel Tariff. 

 
14.05.190 Sunken or Obstructive Boats 
When any vessel or watercraft or obstruction has been sunk or grounded, or has been 
delayed in such manner as to stop or seriously interfere with or endanger navigation, 
moored boats or any harbor vessels, the Port Director may order the same immediately 
removed, and if the owner or other person in charge thereof after being so ordered does 
not proceed immediately with such removal the Port Director may take immediate 
possession thereof and remove the vessel or watercraft or obstruction, using such 
methods as in the Port Director's judgment will prevent unnecessary damage to such 
vessel or watercraft or obstruction, and the expense incurred by the Port Director in such 
removal shall be paid by such vessel or watercraft or obstruction or the owner or other 
person in charge thereof; and in case of failure to pay the same, the City may maintain 
an action for the recovery thereof. 
 
14.05.200 Smoking Prohibited 
No person may smoke while on Port Facilities.  A person in violation of this section shall 
be required to leave the area and may be fined. 
 
14.05.210 Fishing Prohibited 
Fishing from the Petroleum Dock and the City Cargo Dock is prohibited. 
 
14.05.220 Loading or Unloading Explosives 
A. No explosive may be transported between the dock or seawall and vessel except 

with the permission of and pursuant to safety conditions imposed by the Port 
Director. A special permit shall be obtained from the Port Director before any 
explosives are placed on a Port Facility.  

B. Upon the written permission of the Port Director, explosives may be transported 
only between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. A safety watch shall be 
maintained at the expense of the cargo owner while explosives are being 
transported.  

C. If the transportation of explosives cannot be completed between the hours of 6:00 
a.m. and 6:00 p.m., the person in charge or control of the vessel shall cause such 
vessel to haul away from the dock or seawall and anchor in such part of the Port as 
may be designated by the Port Director until such time as the activity may continue 
under this section.  

123



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 57 of 81 

D. A red flag shall be displayed as a danger signal at the fore topmast head of the 
vessel while explosives are being transported between a vessel and the wharf. 

 
14.05.230 Fires, Welding Activities 
A. Bonfires and open fires are prohibited at the Port. 
B. No person may leave a fire or flame unattended aboard a vessel in the Port of 

Bethel. 
C. No person may store, deposit or leave on any float, dock or other Port of Bethel 

Facility any gasoline, lubricating oil or other combustible liquid of any nature or 
description, except for temporary purposes in conjunction with the loading or 
unloading of a vessel.   

D. No person may bring welding equipment or engage in welding activity on Port 
Facilities without prior written permission from the Port Director. 

E. A person using a torch or other flame-producing device in or upon any vessel, dock, 
float or other Port of Bethel Facility shall provide and have immediately available for 
use an approved fire extinguisher adequate for suppressing any fires that may result 
from the use of the flame producing device. 

F. No person shall ignite or detonate fireworks within the boundaries of the Port of 
Bethel except by permit from the Port Director and Fire Chief.   

 
14.05.240 Petroleum Products 
A. It is unlawful for any vessel owner or owner’s agent or any other person to spill or 

allow to be spilled any petroleum product within the Port of Bethel. 
B. All vessels moored in the Port of Bethel shall be required to have aboard them at all 

times absorbent materials designed to soak up petroleum products. 
C. Any person having knowledge of a petroleum spill within the Port of Bethel shall 

immediately report such spill to the Port Director, US Coast Guard or the Police 
Department (in that order).   

 
14.05.250 Loading or Unloading Petroleum Products 
A. A vessel berthed at the Petro Port or lying alongside another vessel so berthed may 

load gasoline or distillate only with the approval of the Port Director and only when 
the vessel is otherwise ready to depart. Delivery shall be made directly to the vessel 
from a motor vehicle, which shall leave the wharf immediately upon completion of 
the loading or unloading.  

B. No person may possess or keep acids, coal oil, gasoline, distillate other liquid 
petroleum products or empty drums which previously contained such products on a 
wharf except by special permit issued by the Port Director.  

C. No vessel loaded with oil which will flash below 110 degrees Fahrenheit may haul 
alongside a vessel, wharf or structure without prior permission from the Port 
Director. 

D. A vessel engaged in the business of supplying fuel oil may haul or lie alongside a 
vessel on the Petro Dock only for so long as is required to discharge the fuel oil.  

124



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 58 of 81 

E. Each user of a wharf shall furnish an absorbent material approved by the Port 
Director for absorption of waste oil. When saturated, absorbent material shall be 
removed immediately from the Port. 
 

14.05.260 Depositing Cargo or Other Property without Permission 
No person may deposit cargo, merchandise, equipment, tools or other property upon 
any area of the Port without the permission of the Port Director or the lessee of that 
area of the Port. 
 
14.05.270 Speed Limits 
A. No person shall operate, or allow the operation by a person under his or her 

supervision or in her or his behalf, a boat, vessel or an aircraft in any area within 
250 feet of the Port at a speed in excess of five nautical miles per hour.  

B. This section shall be effective only at such times as there are commercial boats over 
150 feet in length and regularly engaged in the transport of persons, either tied up 
at the Port or riding at anchor in the harbor within one mile of the Port.  

C. Any person violating the provisions of this section is guilty of an infraction. 
 
14.05.280 Safety Ladders 
A. Mooring to safety ladders is prohibited. 
B. Mooring in a manner that blocks safety ladders in unassigned areas is prohibited. 
 
14.05.290 Seawall Fence 
A. Damaging, tampering with or removing of life rings is prohibited. 
B. Removal of the seawall fence for access to moored vessels may only be done with the 

permission of the Port Director. 
C. Replacement of the seawall fence is the responsibility of the permit holder, and must 

be replaced whenever the vessel is not at its mooring space. 
D. The permit holder is responsible for damage to the seawall fence at the assigned 

space for the period of the permit. 
E. No modifications to the seawall fence is permitted without the approval of the Port 

Director, and the fence must be restored to its original form at the end of the period 
of the permit, unless otherwise authorized by the Port Director. 

 
14.05.300 Tampering with the Facilities 
A. No person may tap, connect, disconnect, or interfere with any water outlet, water 

pipe, water connection, telephone equipment, electrical outlet, or electrical device 
maintained or operated by the City in the Bethel Port without first obtaining the 
permission of the Port Director. 

B. No person may remove, alter, damage, or interfere with any wharf, float, gangplank, 
ramp, or any other Port Facility operated by the City. 

 
14.05.310 Violation/Penalties 

125



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 59 of 81 

A. Violation of any provision of this Title is an infraction subject to a fine.  In 

accordance with AS 29.25.070(a), citations for the following offenses may be 

disposed of as provided in AS 12.25.195-.230, without a court appearance, upon 

payment of the fine amounts listed below plus the state surcharge required by AS 

12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074.  Fines must be paid to the court.  The Rules of Minor 

Offense Procedure in the Alaska Rules of Court apply to all offenses listed below.  

Citations charging these offenses must meet the requirements of Minor Offense 

Rule 3.  If a person charged with one of these offenses appears in court and is 

found guilty, the penalty imposed for the offense may not exceed the fine amount 

for that offense listed below.  If an offense is not listed on this fine schedule or 

another fine schedule, the defendant must appear in court to answer to the 

charges.  These fines may not be judicially reduced. 

Violation Code Section Fine  

Failure to Register Vessel 14.05.010 $300 

Improper/Incomplete Vessel Registration 14.05.010 $150 

Mooring, Berthing, Attaching, etc., w/o Registration 14.05.020 $350 

Failure to present US Coast Guard Documentation 14.05.020(C) $150 

Failure to provide necessary information for 
registration 

14.05.020(C) $150 

Failure to timely notify Port Director of change of 
ownership 

14.05.020(C) $200 

Failure to timely enter into new mooring agreement 
after change of ownership 

14.05.020(C) $300 

Mooring where prohibited 14.05.020(D) $150 

Making False Statement  14.05.020(F) $750 

Providing Inaccurate information in a vessel 
mooring agreement or application 

14.05.020(F) $750 

Failure to respond or denial of association with 
vessel 

14.05.020(G) $750 

Subleasing Moorage Space 14.05.020(H) $500 

Allowing another to use moorage space 14.05.020(H) $250 

Mooring in undesignated space 14.02.030(B) $200 

Improperly securing vessel 14.02.030(C) $250 

Inadequate bumpers 14.02.030(D) $350 

Placement of mooring bits without authorization 14.02.030(E) $300 

Mooring alongside another moored watercraft 
without authorization 

14.02.030(F) $300 

Improper use of floating dock 14.02.030(G) $250 

Floatplane moored at floating dock or Port Facility 14.02.030(I) $500 

126



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 60 of 81 

Unauthorized storage of hazardous or explosive 
freight/material 

14.02.030(J) $1000 

Improper use of Floating docks by small vessels 14.02.030(K) $200 

Refueling or while moored at a Port Facility 14.02.030(L) $1000 

Improper use/handling of hazardous materials or 
fuel by small vessel 

14.05.030(L) $1000 

Improper refueling of vessels 14.05.030(M) $1000 

Mooring more than 1 vessel per stall 14.05.060 $500 

Allowing another vessel to moor alongside 14.05.060(B) $500 

Refusal to move vessel at direction of Port Director 14.05.110 $1000 

Operation of Commercial Business w/o Consent 14.05.120 $1000 

Unauthorized Houseboat 14.05.130 $1000 

Failure to keep vessel reasonably clean & sanitary 14.05.160(1) $150 

Failure to use reasonable precautions to keep 
vessel free of fire hazards 

14.05.160(2) $300 

Failure to keep vessel secure 14.05.160(3) $250 

Failure to use adequate precautions to safeguard 
moveable gear and tackle 

14.05.160(4) $150 

Failure to supply and/or use adequate fender 14.05.160(5) $500 

Use of unauthorized bumpers 14.05.170 $500 

Incomplete Manifests 14.05.180 $250 

Untimely Manifests 14.05.180 $250 

Manifests not certified 14.05.180 $250 

Manifests improperly certified 14.05.180 $250 

Failure to timely remove sunken or obstructive 
vessel 

14.05.190 $1000 

Smoking on Port Facility 14.05.200 $150 

Fishing in prohibited area 14.05.210 $150 

Improper Loading/Unloading of Explosives 14.05.220 $1000 

Failure to obtain proper authorization for transport 
of explosives 

14.05.220(A) $1000 

Failure to obtain proper permit prior to placing 
explosives on any Port Facility 

14.05.220(A) $1000 

Transporting explosives during non-designated 
hours 

14.05.220(B) $1000 

Failure to maintain a safety watch while explosives 
are being transported 

14.05.220(B) $1000 

Failure to haul away from Port  14.05.220(C) $1000 

Failure to or improper display of red flag 14.05.220(D) $750 

Bonfire or open fire on Port Facility 14.05.230(A) $500 

Leaving a fire or flame unattended 14.05.230(B) $750 

127



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 61 of 81 

Storing, depositing or leaving gasoline, lubricating 
oil or other combustible liquid 

14.05.230(C) $1000 

Bringing or engaging in welding activity without 
consent 

14.05.230(D) $1000 

Using torch or other flame-producing device 
without proper fire suppression 

14.05.230(E) $1000 

Igniting fireworks within the boundaries of the Port 
without a permit 

14.05.230(F) $1000 

Spilling or allowing a spill of any petroleum product 14.05.240(A) $1000 

Failure to have absorbent materials aboard a vessel 14.05.240(B) $700 

Failure to report a petroleum spill 14.05.240(C) $1000 

Loading or unloading petroleum or distillate without 
permission 

14.05.250(A) $1000 

Possession of acids, coal oil, gasoline, distillate, etc. 
on a wharf without permission 

14.05.250(B) $1000 

Hauling alongside a vessel while loaded with oil with 
a flash below 110 degrees Fahrenheit 

14.05.250(C) $1000 

Depositing cargo or other property without 
permission 

14.05.260 $250 

Basic Speed 14.05.270 $150 

Mooring to a safety ladder 14.05.280(A) $100 

Mooring in a manner that blocks a safety ladder 14.05.280(B) $250 

Damaging, tampering with or removing life ring 14.05.290(A) $300 

Removal of seawall fence without permission 14.05.290(B) $500 

Modification of seawall fence without permission 14.05.290(E) $500 

Tampering with Port Facilities 14.05.300 $500 

 
Each day that a violation occurs is considered a separate offense.   
 
 

14.06  Tariff 
14.06.010 Adoption of Tariff 
14.06.020 Payments 
 
14.06.010 Adoption of Tariff 
The rates, charges, rules and regulations for wharfage, terminal storage, demurrage 
and other terminal services and privileges are set forth in the Bethel Port and Harbor 
Tariff as filed with the Federal Maritime Commission.  The Bethel Port and Harbor Tariff 
may be amended from time to time by resolution of the City Council.   
 
14.06.020 Payments 

128



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 62 of 81 

A. All tariff charges are due and payable in United States currency. Failure to pay 
invoices when due shall place the vessel, its owners or agents or the user of the Port 
Facilities upon a delinquent list. A vessel whose owner or agents have been placed 
on the delinquent list shall not be allowed to utilize the Port Facilities until all past-
due balances and late charges have been paid in full. When a vessel has been 
placed on the delinquent list, the past-due balance shall accrue a late charge at the 
rate of eighteen (18%) percent per annum on the unpaid balance. 

B. No vessel may leave the Port before payment of all tariff charges incurred by that 
vessel, and such cargo as was discharged from or loaded upon that vessel, has been 
tendered to the Port Director, or such alternative arrangements as are satisfactory 
to the Port Director have been made.  

C. An owner, shipper, consignee or agent for cargo discharged from or loaded upon a 
vessel shall pay the tariff charges incurred with respect to that cargo. Payment shall 
be made before such cargo leaves the Port.  

 
14.07 Small Boat Harbor 

 
14.07.010 Administration and Government of Harbor Facilities 
14.07.020 Small Boat Harbor Defined 
14.07.030 Conducting Transactions 
14.07.040 Duties of Boat Owners and Operators 
14.07.050 Vessel Restrictions 
14.07.060 Securing of Auxiliary Vessels 
14.07.070 Float Bumpers 
14.07.080 Launch Ramp 
14.07.090 No Wake Zone 
14.07.100 Recreational Water Activity 
14.07.110 Responsibility for Children  
14.07.120 Cleaning Fish/Game 
14.07.130 Garbage Facilities 
14.07.140 Acts Requiring Port Director Approval 
14.07.150 Prohibited Acts 
14.07.160 Unlawful Disposal 
14.07.170 Revocation of Privileges 
14.07.180 Violation/Penalties 
 
14.07.010 Administration and Government of Harbor Facilities 
The small boat harbor facilities shall be under the administration of the Port Director who 
shall have the authority to classify and designate areas of the small boat harbor in 
accordance with the classifications of this title. 
 
14.07.020 Small Boat Harbor Defined 

129



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 63 of 81 

The area of the Small Boat Harbor is outlined in Area B of Plat #82-13, filed on at the 
Recorder’s Office in the Fourth Judicial District at Bethel, Alaska.  The Small Boat Harbor 
includes, but may not be limited to, the entire channel, the turning basin and the moorage 
basin.   
 
14.07.030 Conducting Transactions 
All registration of boats, payments of fees, charges, and other port facilities business shall 
be conducted at the Port Office. 
 
14.07.040 Duties of Small Boat Harbor Users 
A. Every boat owner using the small boat harbor facilities shall take reasonable 

precautions to see that their boat is kept clean, well secured, free from fire hazards 
of all types, sufficiently pumped out to float and otherwise attend to the 
requirements of the boat to avoid damage to other boats or to the small boat 
harbor. 

B. The Port Director may, but is not obligated to, replace defective mooring lines, 
pump out boats which are in danger of sinking, or move any boat which may be 
creating a hazard to other boats or the small boat harbor facilities. The boat owner 
shall pay the city’s actual costs for these services. 

C. Any person moving a boat they do not own shall report to the Port Director where 
the boat was moved from and where the boat has been moved to. 

D. Any person having knowledge of a petroleum spill within the Port Facilities shall 
immediately report such spill to the Port Office; if the Port Office is closed, the spill 
shall be reported to the Police Department. 

 
14.07.050 Vessel Restrictions 

A. No person may operate a vessel in the small boat harbor which has an overall length, 
beam, or draft in excess of that which may be safely operated within the harbor under 
tidal and other conditions present. A person who operates within the small boat harbor 
a vessel which exceeds or may exceed the limits for safe operations shall do so at the 
operator’s own risk. 

B. No person may operate a vessel within the waterway which does not meet all 
applicable requirements of the United States Coast Guard. 

C. No person may operate a vessel with an outboard or inboard motor that is not 
equipped with an adequate exhaust muffler. 

D. No person shall bring into, moor or berth within the Port Facilities any boat which his 
unseaworthy or is in such a badly deteriorated condition that it is liable to sink or 
damage Port Facilities or other boats or which may become a menace to navigation, 
except in cases of extreme emergency, in which case the boat owner shall be liable 
for any damage caused by such boat.  In the event a boat sinks within the Port 
Facilities, the boat owner shall mark its location and provide for the raising and 
disposition of the boat and assume all liabilities for damage to city property and other 
boats in the Port Facilities.   

130



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 64 of 81 

E. No vessels will be allowed to be more than one (1) beam’s width from the dock.   
 
14.07.060 Security of Auxiliary Vessels 
No person may tie or attach a skiff, scow, raft, or any other auxiliary craft alongside, 
astern, or ahead of a vessel moored within the small boat harbor if such auxiliary craft 
will obstruct or interfere with the normal movement of any vessel or be likely to cause 
rubbing or chafing damage to any other vessel. 
 
14.07.070  Float Bumpers 
No person may utilize in the small boat harbors float bumpers that are attached, 
permanently or temporarily, to the float facilities made from used tires, old fire hose, or 
similar materials.   
 
 
14.07.080 Launch Ramp 
A. The City boat launch facility shall be open to the public. 
B. The City of Bethel launching facilities shall be open to the public upon reasonable 

terms and conditions as provided by regulation. 
C. It is unlawful to block access to either of the launch ramps or float facilities.  

“Blocking access” means leaving a boat, trailer or vehicle upon a launch ramp or 
float in such a position as to prevent the launching or retrieval of boats. 

D. Persons blocking access to the ramp or float facilities shall be subject to a penalty as 
provided in section 14.07.170.  Each one (1) hour for which the ramp or float is 
blocked shall be considered a separate offense for the purpose of penalties.   

E. No person may utilize skids for the purpose of hauling out any boat. Trailers or other 
wheeled conveyances shall be used for launching or hauling out boats.   

F. Boats may be hauled out only on the boat harbor loading ramp and only by using a 
trailer or other wheeled conveyance. 

G. No boat shall block or be moored in any area designated by the Port Director as a 
launching area any longer than necessary for launching/hauling out the boat.   

H. Short term parking is available for trailers.   
I. Long term parking is available in designated areas and requires a fee as set out in 

the Bethel Fee and Rate schedule.   
J. Vehicles and boat trailers must be removed from the launching areas after the boat 

has been launched and parked only in areas designated and posted as parking 
areas.  Vehicles and boat trailers parked in areas not designated and posted as 
parking areas may be removed and impounded.   

 
14.07.090 No Wake Zones 
A. The Port Director is authorized to establish no wake zones within the Bethel Small 

Boat Harbor as needed to protect the public and private property, and or public 
safety. 

B. No wake zones may be established on a temporary or permanent basis. 

131



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 65 of 81 

C. Established no wake zones shall be marked with appropriate signage in a manner to 
provide reasonable public notice. 

D. A violation of this section shall be punishable as provided in BMC 4.07.170. 
 
14.07.100 Recreational Water Activity. 
A. It is unlawful for any person to engage within the Small Boat Harbor in any 

recreational activity in which the body of the person comes into physical contact 
with water, including, but not limited to, swimming, wind surfboarding, paddle 
boarding or diving, unless written application is made and permission is obtained in 
advance from the Port Director.  

B. Upon notification to the Port Director it shall be lawful for a person to engage within 
the Small Boat Harbor in the activity of diving unless the purposes for which the dive 
is being conducted are related:  

1. To the inspection, maintenance or repair of any vessel moored within the 
Small Boat Harbor, or of any equipment attached thereto; or  

2. To the inspection, maintenance, repair, construction or improvement of Small 
Boat Harbor facilities. All divers shall prominently display a diver's-down flag 
in the area in which the diving occurs with a minimum size of twelve inches 
by twelve inches. No diver shall be submerged below the surface of the water 
without providing an observer at the surface. All divers shall observe all 
appropriate diving safety precautions.  

 
14.07.110 Responsibility for Children 
No parent or other adult person responsible for the care or custody of any child under 
the age of sixteen (16.) years may permit that child to be on or near any dock or float 
within the Small Boat Harbor unless accompanied by an adult. 
 
14.07.120 Cleaning Fish/Game  
It is unlawful to dispose of any fish or other animal, or waste parts of fish or other 
animal, into the Bethel harbor system waters, so as to not attract birds which create a 
hazard with aircraft. 
 
14.07.130 Garbage Facilities. 
Objects too large to fit into the trash dumpster(s) located at the Small Boat Harbor shall 
be disposed of at the City Landfill by the owner at his/her own expense. 
 
14.07.140 Acts Requiring Port Director Approval 

The following acts are prohibited at the small boat harbor without the approval of the 
port director: 

A. Major maintenance and repair work, including but not limited to sandblasting, 
welding, burning and outfitting; 

B. Tapping, connecting, disconnecting, or interfering or tampering with electrical 
outlets, meters or devices installed within the small boat harbor facility; 

132



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 66 of 81 

C. Building any type of float, shed, floating boat shelter, or structure within the 
small boat harbor; 

D. Moving or altering any wharf, float, gang plank, ramp or other facility; 
E. Conducting any commercial business within the small boat harbor. 
F. Storing of supplies, merchandise or other property of boat owners.  Such 

storage, if approved, shall be limited to assigned space which shall only be 
granted after payment of appropriate storage fees.   

 
14.07.150 Prohibited Acts 
It is unlawful for any owner, master, operator or managing agent or other person to 
commit any of the following acts within the small boat harbor:  

A. To operate or cause to be operated any boat in a reckless manner and in willful 
and wanton disregard for the safety of persons or property within the limits of 
the boat harbor.  

B. To operate or cause to be operated any boat in a negligent manner likely to 
endanger the safety of persons or property, within the limits of the boat harbor.  

C. To operate any boat in a manner which shall unreasonably or unnecessarily 
interfere with other watercraft or vessels or with the free and proper navigation 
of the waterways of the boat harbor. 

D. To operate or cause any boat to be operated recklessly or otherwise engage in a 
course of conduct that is dangerous or a nuisance to persons or property;  

E. Throw or otherwise cause to be deposited any gasoline, oil, sewage, trash, 
garbage or debris of any type into the water’s entrance or upon the grounds of 
the small boat harbor. 

F. Create, become or maintain any nuisance.  
G. To leave any boat, vessel or floating structure moored at any of the boat harbor 

facilities unattended while any fire is burning thereon, unless such fire is in a 
range, stove, space heater or furnace. The fuel flow to such range, stove, space 
heater or furnace shall not be controlled by a drip-valve carburetor, but rather by 
a safe control of a type approved by the port director. Any fire shall be deemed 
unattended unless the owner or operator is within 100 feet of the boat, or some 
person over the age of 18 years and capable of moving the boat or vessel is 
aboard or within 100 feet of the same.  

H. To deposit, place, or leave any cargo, merchandise, supplies, freight, articles or 
other objects upon any float, ramp, decline, walk or other public place in the 
boat harbor excepting at such places as may be designated as loading and 
unloading spaces by the Port Director. Materials used in repairing or rebuilding 
boats shall not be stored on any float or dock.  

I. To tap, connect, disconnect, interfere with or tamper with any water outlet, 
water pipe, water connection or any electrical wiring, electrical outlet or electrical 
device of any kind, installed or maintained in the boat harbor, without first 
having obtained the permission of the Port Director; or to interfere with or 

133



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 67 of 81 

tamper with any wharf, float, gangplank, ramp or any other facility of the boat 
harbor.  

J. To write or post any written or printed matter or sign upon any bulletin board 
constructed or maintained by the City in the boat harbor without first having 
obtained permission of the Port Director. To disregard, deface, remove, tamper 
with, or damage any sign or notice posted by the Port Director.   

K. Fail to register with the Port Director any boat prior to occupying the Small Boat 
Harbor facilities. 

L. To land an aircraft or float plan, operate either within, or cause an aircraft or 
float plan to take off from the Small Boat Harbor or the entrance thereto. 

M. Pump bilge water into the Small Boat Harbor. 
N. To erect, place, post or maintain any advertising matter, sign or other printed 

matter other than legal notices on any part of the boat harbor facilities, without 
approval thereof first being obtained from the assembly. All unauthorized 
advertising and signs shall be removed by the port director. 

O. To disregard, deface, remove, tamper with or damage any sign or notice posted 
or erected by the port director relating to the use of mooring areas or other uses 
of the boat harbor.  

P. To moor or anchor any boat, vessel or other floating structure within 200 feet of 
any of the float, dock facilities or entrances or exits of the boat harbor in such a 
manner as to obstruct access to the boat harbor or its float and dock facilities.  

Q. To install or secure to any float, dock or stall, either permanently or temporarily, 
any bumper other than standardized pre-molded rubber or vinyl bumpers of a 
commercial manufacturer approved by the port director.  

R. To conduct any commercially oriented business enterprise at the boat harbor 
facilities unless specifically authorized as provided under this title. Preparation 
and repair of a commercial fishing boat or its gear and the pick-up and discharge 
of charter passengers by boats or aircraft renting space in the boat harbor is not 
conduct of a commercially oriented business within the meaning of this 
subsection.  

S. To allow dog(s) or any other animal to run at large.  Dog(s) shall be on a leash 
and accompanied by the owner who shall be responsible for removing any offal 
left by the animal.  To allow or permit any dog or animal to be tethered or 
restrained to any part of a float, or to permit any dog to urinate or defecate on 
the floats. Only the dogs of owners of boats legally moored in the harbor, or the 
dogs of the guests of such boat owners, shall be permitted on the floats, but 
then only when on a leash and for such minimum time as is necessary to go 
between the boat and shore.  

T. Operate on any wharf or float any wheeled conveyance including, but not limited 
to, three (3) wheelers, motorcycles, bicycles, tricycles, in or on which a person or 
persons is carried or transported, with the exception of wheelchairs, and those 
conveyances used only to transport provisions to and from the boat.   

134



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 68 of 81 

U. Dump any offal or refuse within the Small Boat Harbor or in such close proximity 
as to cause overflow or drift of such material into the Small Boat Harbor or the 
entrance thereto. 

V. Store any explosives, gasoline, or any other flammable substance in drums, cans 
or other type of container within the Small Boar Harbor or a vessel located in the 
Small Boat Harbor facilities.  

W. Refuse to comply with any lawful order of the Port Director or his designee.   
 
14.07.160 Unlawful Disposal 
It is unlawful to: 

A. Dump garbage or trash into any boat harbor, harbor uplands or associated 
tidelands; 

B. Abandon or leave old boats, hulks or wrecks within the Bethel harbor system; 
C. Spill, dump, discharge or in any other manner dispose of flammable waste such as 

gasoline, lubricating oil or other consumable liquids into any boat harbor, uplands or 
associated tidelands; and 

D. Leave or dispose of spoiled fish, bait or gear on the City floats.  Vessel owners will 
tend to their gear promptly.  Any failure to provide necessary cleanup action will be 
considered a nuisance.   

 
14.07.170 Revocation of Privileges 

Small boat harbor privileges will be revoked in the event of the default in the 

performance of any obligation or failure to comply with any ordinance or regulation of 

the small boat harbor.  Small boat harbor privileges may be revoked by the port director 

if the noncompliance continues for a period of thirty (30) days from the date a certified 

letter noticing the default is mailed to the permittee. 

 

14.07.180 Violation/Penalties 

Violation of any provision of this Title is an infraction subject to a fine.  In accordance 

with AS 29.25.070(a), citations for the following offenses may be disposed of as 

provided in AS 12.25.195-.230, without a court appearance, upon payment of the fine 

amounts listed below plus the state surcharge required by AS 12.55.039 and AS 

29.25.074.  Fines must be paid to the court.  The Rules of Minor Offense Procedure in 

the Alaska Rules of Court apply to all offenses listed below.  Citations charging these 

offenses must meet the requirements of Minor Offense Rule 3.  If a person charged 

with one of these offenses appears in court and is found guilty, the penalty imposed for 

the offense may not exceed the fine amount for that offense listed below.  If an offense 

is not listed on this fine schedule or another fine schedule, the defendant must appear 

in court to answer to the charges.  These fines may not be judicially reduced. 

135



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 69 of 81 

Violation Code Section Fine 

Boat unclean, unsafe or unsecure 14.07.030(A) $150 

Boat contains fire hazard(s) 14.07.030(A) $500 

Boat insufficiently pumped out to float 14.07.030(A) $500 

Failure to attend to requirements of boat 14.07.030(A) $200 

Failure to report movement of non-owned boat 14.07.030(C) $500 

Failure to report petroleum spill 14.07.030(D) $250 

Operation of vessel exceeding safety limits 14.07.040(A) $500 

Operating vessel not meeting US Coast Guard 
requirements 

14.07.040(B) $250 

Operating vessel with inadequate exhaust muffler 14.07.040(C) $150 

Bringing unseaworthy vessel into SBH 14.07.040(D) $250 

Failure to mark sunken vessel or object 14.07.040(D) $1000 

Failure to timely mark sunken vessel or object 14.07.040(D) $500 

Failure to properly mark sunken vessel or object 14.07.040(D) $500 

Vessel more than on beam width from dock 14.07.040(E) $100 

Securing alongside, astern or ahead of moored 
vessel 

14.07.050 $250 

Utilizing improper float bumpers 14.07.060 $150 

Blocking access to launch ramps 14.07.070(C) $100 

Blocking access to float facilities 14.07.070(C) $100 

Use of skids for hauling out of vessel 14.07.070(E) $175 

Failure to properly haul out vessel 14.07.070(F) $175 

Blocking launching area 14.07.070(G) $100 

Failure to timely remove vehicle and/or boat trailer 
from launching area 

14.07.070(J) $150 

Basic Speed (No Wake Zone) 14.07.080 $125 

Swimming, wind surfing, other recreational activity 
in small boat harbor 

14.07.090 $200 

Diving without permission  14.07.090 $250 

Improper care or custody of child(ren) 14.07.100 $200 

Improper disposal of fish/game 14.07.110 $175 

Improper trash disposal 14.07.120 $100 

Major maintenance/repair without authorization 14.07.130(A) $500 

Interfering with or utilizing electrical devices 
without authorization 

14.07.130(B) $750 

Building float, shed, or other structure without 
authorization 

14.07.130(C) $250 

Moving or altering wharf, float, or other facility 
without authorization 

14.07.130(D) $300 

Conducting unauthorized commercial business 14.07.130(E) $500 

136



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 70 of 81 

Unauthorized storage 14.07.130(F) $100 

Operate vessel is reckless, negligent or dangerous 
manner 

14.07.140(B)(C)(E) $500 

Unreasonable or unnecessary interference 14.07.140(D) $500 

Improper disposal 14.07.140(F) $750 

Nuisance 14.07.140(G) $250 

Unattended Fire 14.07.140(H) $1000 

Unattended Cargo 14.07.140(I) $200 

Interfering or unauthorized use of utility 14.07.140(J) $750 

Unauthorized use of bulletin board 14.07.140(K) $25 

Failure to register 14.07.140(L) $150 

Land aircraft 14.07.140(M) $500 

Pumping bilge water into Small Boat Harbor 14.07.140(N) $500 

Unauthorized advertisements 14.07.140(O) $50 

Deface, remove, tamper with or damage signs or 
notices 

14.07.140(P) $75 

Moor or anchor within 200 feet  14.07.140(Q) $100 

Improper installation or securing of bumper 14.07.140(R) $75 

Unauthorized commercial business 14.07.140(S) $450 

Animal at large 14.07.140(T) $50 

Failure to properly dispose of animal waste 14.07.140(T) $50 

Operating wheeled conveyance on a float 14.07.140(U) $150 

Improper disposal of offal or refuse 14.07.140(V) $350 

Improper storage of hazardous or flammable 
materials 

14.07.140(W) $350 

Refusal to comply with order of Port Personnel 14.07.140(X) $400 

Improper refuse disposal 14.07.150 $300 

Abandoning vessel or property 14.07.150(B) $200 

Improper disposition or handling of hazardous or 
flammable waste 

14.07.150(C) $500 

Improper handling or disposition of fish, bait or 
gear 

14.07.150(D) $200 

Each day that a violation occurs is considered a separate offense. 
 

14.08  Nuisances 
14.08.010 Nuisances Declared – Removal 
14.08.020 Abatement  
14.08.030 Custody of Nuisances 
14.08.040 Notice 
14.08.050 Post-Removal Hearing 
 
14.08.010 Nuisances Declared - Removal 

137



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 71 of 81 

A. Derelicts. For the purposes of this Title and in the interest of the greatest use of the 
Facilities of the Port Facilities and the municipal waters by the general public, a 
vessel is a nuisance if: 
1. The vessel is in violation of the parking, mooring or traffic regulations of the Port 

of Bethel; 
2. Any rent, fee or charge due to the City for the vessel has not been paid within 

ninety (90) days of the rent, fee or charge due date; 
3. The vessel is not properly identified by name and/or number and the owner, 

operator or agent is not on board; 
4. The vessel causes an obstruction to navigation; 
5. The vessel is unfit, unseaworthy or maintained in such a manner as to make it 

liable to sink for lack of being pumped or other maintenance; 
6. The vessel is unqualified under the provisions of BMC 14.05.100 (Safe Condition 

of Vessel); 
7. The vessel constitutes a fire hazard; or 
8. The vessel is sunken or is in imminent danger of sinking. 

B. Other nuisances.  
1. Refuse of all kinds, structures or pieces of any structure, dock sweepings, dead 

animals or parts thereof, timber, logs, piles, broom sticks, lumber, boxes, paint, 
empty containers and oil of any kind floating uncontrolled on the water, and all 
other substances or articles of a similar nature are hereby declared to be public 
nuisances, and it shall be unlawful for any person to throw or place in or cause 
or permit to be thrown, or placed any of the articles or substances named in this 
subsection in the Port Facilities or the municipal waters, or upon the shores 
thereof or in such position that the article or substance may or can be washed 
into said Port Facilities or municipal waters, either by high tides, storms, floods or 
otherwise.  

2. Nets, gear, and other material left on any float or dock for more than ninety-six 
(96) hours is hereby declared a nuisance.  

C. Any person causing or permitting the nuisances to be placed as provided in this 
subsection shall remove the same and upon his or her failure to do so, the same 
may be removed or caused to be removed by the Port Director. When the Port 
Director has authorized such nuisances to be removed or stored commercially, all 
costs of such commercial removal or storage shall be paid by and recoverable from 
the person creating said nuisance. The abatement of any such public nuisances shall 
not excuse the person responsible therefore from prosecution under this section.  

D. Upon the Port Director’s written determination that a nuisance described in 
subsections (A) or (B) of this section exist that constitute a clear and present danger 
to the public health, safety or general welfare, the nuisance may be summarily 
abated by the Port Director according to BMC 14.08.020 without prior notice.   

E. A vessel declared to be a nuisance is subject to abatement and removal from the 
Port of Bethel or other waterway by the City or its agents, without liability to the City 

138



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 72 of 81 

or its agents for any damage done by virtue of the removal or for any of its 
consequences.   

F. Vessels or other property declared a nuisance under this chapter that do not 
constitute a clear and present danger to the public health, safety and general 
welfare may be moved, impounded or disposed or according to the procedure 
provided in BMC 14.10. 

 
14.08.020 Abatement  
A. Nuisances described under this chapter constituting a clear and present danger to 
the public health, safety or general welfare may be summarily abated and are not 
subject to the notice requirements of BMC 14.08.040…. or the pre-impoundment 
hearing requirements of section 14.10.050(C).  Nuisances constituting a clear and 
present danger to the public health, safety or general welfare are subject to the post-
impoundment hearing requirements of 14.10.060. 
B. Vessels declared nuisances that do not constitute a clear and present danger to the 
public health, safety or general welfare may be removed, impounded and disposed of 
as provided in sections 14.08 through 14.10. 
C. Other nuisances under this title may be impounded, disposed of by destruction, 
private sale or any other means deemed reasonable by the Port Director.  The City 
holds no liability to the owner of the nuisance for the disposition of the nuisance. 
  
 
 
14.08.030 Custody of Nuisances 
The Port of Bethel shall not accept ownership or custody of sunken or derelict vessels 
or nuisance as declared under this title unless expressly accepted by the Port Director in 
writing.   
 
14.08.040 Notice 
When action is taken to impound, remove, or otherwise abate a nuisance vessel or 
property, notice of such action shall be placed on the vessel or property if possible, and 
within twenty-four (24) hours a copy of the notice shall be personally delivered or 
placed in the US mail addressed to the owner of the vessel or property.  The notice 
shall include the following substantive provisions: 
 
ATTENTION: The vessel _____________ or      property has been 
impounded/removed/abated by the City of Bethel Port Director as a public nuisance for 
the following reasons:  

              

As the owner of the vessel/property you have the following options (those that apply 
are checked): 

139



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 73 of 81 

 The vessel/property has been impounded and you may recover possession of the 
vessel/property by paying to the person having custody of the vessel/property the 
towing, storage, and other charges that may have accrued. The vessel/property is at 
the following location:          ___  

 The vessel/property has been removed and you may recover possession of the 
vessel/property at the following location:         
__________________________________________________________________ 

 The vessel/property has been destroyed. You may direct any inquiries to the City 
of Bethel Port Director. 

 The following action has been taken, and any option you may have is described 
below:              

              

If you believe the vessel/property was improperly impounded, removed, or otherwise 
abated, you may: 

i. In the case of an impoundment, recover possession of the vessel by paying any 
towing, storage, or other charges that have accrued, and you may claim a refund 
or reimbursement by filing a demand (on a form provided by the City) for an 
administrative hearing before a hearing officer as to whether the Port Director 
had a sufficient factual and legal basis to impound the vessel; or 

ii. In the case of an impoundment, you may demand return of the vessel without 
paying the towing, storage, or other charges by filing a demand (on a form 
provided by the City) for an administrative hearing before a hearing officer as to 
whether the Port Director had a sufficient factual and legal basis to impound the 
vessel; or 

iii. You may in any other case file a demand (on a form provided by the City) for an 
administrative hearing before a hearing officer as to whether the Port Director 
had a sufficient factual and legal basis to impound, remove, or abate the vessel 
or property. 

14.08.050 Post-Removal Hearing 
A. If demand is timely made, the owner or person entitled to possession of the vessel 

or property is entitled to an administrative hearing to determine whether there was 
a sufficient factual and legal basis for the action to impound, remove, or otherwise 
abate the item in question. To be entitled to such a hearing, a written demand must 
be filed with the City Clerk: 
1. Within five (5) workdays after you learned or reasonably should have learned 

that your vessel or property was impounded, removed, or otherwise abated or  

140



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 74 of 81 

2. Within fifteen (15) workdays after the City mailed notice to the vessel/property 
owner of the action taken, whichever is earlier.  

3. If you fail to make a timely request for a hearing you will lose all right to 
challenge the sufficiency of the basis for the action taken. 

B. The hearing will be held within seven (7) calendar days after the filing of a written 
demand, not including Saturdays, Sundays and City holidays, unless the person 
demanding the hearing waives a speedy hearing. 

C. The hearing officer shall not be bound by formal rules of evidence. A copy of the 
Port Director’s written determination that a public nuisance exists will constitute 
prima facie proof of a sufficient factual and legal basis for the action. The burden 
will be on the vessel owner to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there 
was not sufficient factual or legal basis for impounding, removing, or otherwise 
abating the vessel or property. 

D. At the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing officer shall prepare a written decision, 
including the reasons for the decision. A copy of such decision shall be provided to 
the person demanding the hearing and the owner of the vessel or property. The 
hearing officer’s decision in no way affects any criminal charges that may be 
pending. The decision of the hearing officer is final and may only be appealed to the 
Superior Court. 

E. A determination by the hearing officer that there was not a sufficient factual or legal 
basis for the action taken will require the release of the vessel to the owner or other 
person entitled to possession without payment of the towing, storage, or the 
accrued charges, and will entitle the person to a refund or reimbursement by the 
City if the charges have already been paid. If the hearing officer determines there 
was a sufficient factual and legal basis for the action taken, the Port Director may 
proceed to dispose of the vessel by sale according to BMC 14.10.090 or the Port 
Director may destroy or otherwise dispose of the vessel or property without sale if 
he makes a good faith determination that the value of the vessel or property does 
not exceed the costs of towing, storage, sale, and other harbor charges accrued 
against the vessel or property. 

 
14.09  Abandoned/Derelict Property 

 
14.09.010 Abandoned/Derelict Property 
14.09.020 Removal of Abandoned Property 
14.02.030 Floating Objects 
14.09.040 Lost, Abandoned or Stolen Property 
 
14.09.010 Abandoned/Derelict Property 
Any vessel or object in the Port of Bethel or in any waterway that is abandoned may be 
impounded, sold or otherwise disposed of as provided in 14.10.  A vessel or object is 
considered abandoned if the owner, master, operator or managing agent has failed to 

141



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 75 of 81 

register or pay moorage or service fees for the vessel or object as is required under this 
chapter.   
 
14.09.020 Removal of Abandoned Property 
Any nets, gear, tanks, lines and other property which is deposited, stored, or otherwise 
placed on any of the small boat harbor facilities or other Port Facilities without a permit 
for a period of twenty-four (24) hours is declared to be abandoned and a public 
nuisance and may be impounded, removed, sold or otherwise disposed of in the 
manner provided for in 14.10. 
 
14.09.030 Floating Objects 
All vessels, watercraft, logs, piling, building material, scows, houseboats or any other 
article of value found adrift in the waterways of the Port of Bethel may be taken in 
charge by the Port Director and may be subject to the reclamation by the owner thereof 
on the payment to the City of any expenses incurred by the City, and in case of a 
failure to reclaim within ninety (90) calendar days, may be sold or disposed of as 
abandoned property. 
 
14.09.040 Lost, Abandoned or Stolen Property 
The Port Director may assume custody of apparently lost, abandoned or stolen vessels 

or property found within all port facilities and shall dispose of it pursuant to section 

14.10, except that the Port may recover the costs incurred by it for recovery and 

storage of the vessel or property, if any, from the proceeds of sale. If the vessel or 

property is timely claimed by the owner, the Port may require reimbursement for the 

costs incurred prior to releasing the property or vessel. 

 

14.10 Impoundment 
 
14.10.010 Authority to Impound 
14.10.020 Effective Date of Impoundment 
14.10.030 Securing Impounded Items 
14.10.040  Storage Charges 
14.10.050 Notice to Owner 
14.10.060 Right to Post Impoundment Hearing 
14.10.070 Deposit in Contested Cases 
14.10.080 Notice of Sale 
14.10.090 Sale 
14.10.100 Other Disposition 
14.10.110 Redemption 
14.10.120 Interference with Impoundment Prohibited 
14.10.130 Additional Remedies 
 

142



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 76 of 81 

14.10.010 Authority to Impound 
A. The Port Director may impound a vessel that is in violation of this Title.  
B. The Port Director may, pursuant to this section impound a boat by immobilizing it or 
removing or having it removed from the water and placed in City or commercial storage 
with all expenses and risks of haul-out and storage to be borne by the owner of such 
vessel or property.  
 
14.10.020 Effective Date of Impoundment 
An impoundment is effective when a written order of impoundment is placed on a vessel.  
An order of impoundment shall identify the vessel, state the reasons for impoundment, 
and be dated and signed by the Port Director or their authorized designee.  An impounded 
vessel may be immediately towed or otherwise removed upon the order of the Port 
Director.  Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the City from using 
alternatives to impoundment, including without limitation, removal or other means to 
abate an issue.   
 

14.10.030 Securing Impounded Items 
Any vessel or obstruction impounded by the Port Director shall be secured by chaining or 
otherwise mooring the same to a work float or other suitable stationary object or by 
removing, or having it removed, from the water and placed in City or commercial storage 
with all expenses and risks of haul-out and storage to be borne by the owner or other 
person responsible for such vessel or obstruction. 
 
14.10.040 Storage Charges 
Any impounded vessel or the owner, master, operator or managing agent thereof, shall 
be subject to and liable for a storage charge set by the Port Commission and shall be 
subject to and liable for all costs incurred by the City by reason of the impounding or 
removal.  
 
14.10.050 Notice to owner  
A. Except as provided in 14.08.010, the owner of a vessel or person entitled to 

possession of the vessel has the right to a pre-impoundment administrative hearing 
to determine whether there is probable cause to impound the vessel if the owner or 
person entitled to possession of the vessel files a written demand for a hearing with 
the Port Director within ten (10) calendar days of the notice required by this section 
being mailed.  

B. At least ten (10) calendar days prior to impounding any vessel or property, the City 
shall cause to be posted on the vessel or property, in the Port Director's office, the 
City Clerk's office and on the bulletin board at the entrance of the United States Post 
Office, notice of such action to be taken by the City. A copy of the notice shall be 
mailed to the owner, master or registered agent of the vessel at their last known 
address.  

143



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 77 of 81 

1. Contents of Notice.  The notice of proposed impoundment or the notice of 
impoundment shall contain the following information: 

a) A description of the vessel or obstruction, its name and number, if any, 
and its location; 

b) The name and address of the owner, if known; 
c) The grounds for impoundment and, if the boat or obstruction has been 

impounded, the date of such impoundment; 
d) Statement that if a written request for a hearing is filed with the Port 

Director at the Port Director’s office within ten (10) calendar days after 
the completion of service of the notice, a hearing will be conducted within 
seven (7) calendar days to determine whether there is a cause to 
impound the boat or obstruction or, if the boat or obstruction has been 
impounded, whether the impound was proper under applicable local, state 
or federal law, ordinances, rules and regulations, unless the right to a 
hearing within such seven (7) day calendar day period is waived; 

e) Statement that the right to a hearing shall be deemed waived if not timely 
requested as provided herein and statement that upon the waiver of the 
right to a hearing, the Port Director may proceed with impoundment and 
disposition of the vessel or obstruction by sale, destruction or other 
disposition as authorized by this Title; 

f) The notice of proposed impoundment shall state that if the vessel or 
obstruction is impounded and is not redeemed within thirty (30) calendar 
days after the date of service of notice of such proposed impoundment, 
title to the vessel or obstruction, and its contents, shall vest in the City 
and the vessel or obstruction, and its contents, will be sold or otherwise 
disposed of as provided in this Title; 

C. Pre-impoundment administrative hearing. As to any vessel or property proposed for 
impoundment pursuant to this chapter by or at the request of the City, its agents or 
employees, a person in lawful possession of the vessel or property has the right to a 
pre-impoundment administrative hearing to determine whether there is probable 
cause to impound the vessel or property if such person files a written demand, on 
forms so provided for such a hearing, with the City within ten (10) calendar days 
after such person has learned or reasonably should have learned such vessel or 
property will be impounded or within ten (10) calendar days after the mailing of the 
notice required by section 14.08.040 whichever occurs first.  

D. Conduct of hearing. A hearing shall be conducted before a hearing officer within 
seven (7) calendar days of receipt of a written demand therefore from the person 
seeking the hearing unless such person waives the right to a speedy hearing. The 
hearing officer shall be someone other than the person who will direct the 
impounding and storage of the vessel or property. The sole issue before the hearing 
officer shall be whether there is probable cause to impound the vessel or property in 
question. "Probable cause to impound" shall mean such a state of facts as would 
lead a person of ordinary care and prudence to believe that there was a breach of 

144



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 78 of 81 

local, municipal, state, or federal law or regulations rendering the vessel or property 
subject to impoundment. The hearing officer shall conduct the hearing in an 
informal manner and shall not be bound by technical rules of evidence. The person 
demanding the hearing shall carry the burden of establishing that such person has 
the right to possession of the vessel or property. The Port Director shall carry the 
burden of establishing that there is probable cause to impound the vessel or 
property in question. At the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing officer shall 
prepare a written decision. A copy of such decision and the reasons therefore shall 
be provided to the person demanding the hearing and the owner of vessel or 
property if such owner is not the person requesting the hearing. The hearing 
officer's decision in no way affects any civil proceeding in connection with the 
impoundment in question and any civil charges involved in such proceeding may 
only be challenged in the appropriate court. The decision of the hearing officer is 
final. Failure of the owner, operator, master, or managing agent to request or 
attend a scheduled pre-impoundment hearing shall be deemed a waiver of the right 
to such hearing.  

E. Determination of Probable Cause. The hearing officer shall only determine that as to 
the vessel or property in question either that there is probable cause to impound the 
vessel/property or that there is no such probable cause. In the event that the 
hearing officer determines that there is no probable cause, the hearing officer shall 
prepare and date a certificate of no probable cause, copies of which shall be given 
to the owner, operator, master or managing agent and to the Port Director. In the 
event that the hearing officer determines that there is probable cause, the hearing 
officer shall prepare and date a certificate of probable cause, copies of which shall 
be given to the owner, operator, master or managing agent and the Port Director. 
Upon receipt of such certificate of probable cause, the Port Director may proceed 
with impoundment and disposition of the vessel or property by removal, sale, or 
destruction as authorized by this chapter.  

 
14.10.060 Right to Post-Impoundment Hearing 
A. Unless otherwise provided, the procedure set forth in this section shall apply 

whenever a vessel or property has been impounded or removed or a nuisance 
abated pursuant to BMC 14.08.020 (Abatement) or the pre-impoundment hearing 
procedures under BMC 14.10.050 (above) were not followed. 

B. When a vessel or property poses a clear and present danger to the public health, 
safety or general welfare notice shall be personally delivered or mailed to the owner 
of the vessel/property, if the name and location of the owner is known, within 
twenty-four (24) hours after the vessel's impoundment, removal or abatement.  

C. The owner of the vessel/property or person entitled to possession of the vessel or 
property has a right to a post-impoundment hearing if that person submits a written 
demand for a post-impoundment hearing to the Port Director within ten (10) 
calendar days after the City mailed the impoundment notice. The post-impoundment 
hearing shall be held within ten (10) calendar days after a written demand is timely 

145



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 79 of 81 

submitted. The hearing officer shall be someone other than the persons who 
directed the impounding and storage of the vessel or property. The hearing officer 
shall conduct the hearing in an informal manner and shall not be bound by technical 
rules of evidence.  

D. A post-impoundment hearing officer shall determine whether there was probable 
cause to impound the vessel or property. If the hearing officer determines that there 
was not probable cause to impound the vessel or property, the hearing office shall 
require the release of the vessel or property to the owner without payment of the 
towing, storage or other accrued storage, impoundment, and abatement fees or the 
hearing officer will entitle the owner to a refund or reimbursement if the owner 
already paid the fees. If the hearing officer determines that there was probable 
cause for the impoundment of the vessel or property, the Port Director may proceed 
to dispose of the vessel or property as provided in this Chapter.  

E. Failure of the owner or person entitled to possession of the vessel or property to 
request or attend a post-impoundment hearing shall be deemed a waiver of the 
right to such hearing.  

 
14.10.070 Deposit in Contested Cases 

If an impoundment is contested, the aggrieved party may, in addition to the remedy 
of redemption as outlined in this section, provided such person has requested a 
hearing, obtain return of the boat or obstruction or contents impounded upon tender of 
one of the following forms of security pending outcome of the hearing to be conducted 
as provided in this section: 

1) A surety bond in an amount equal to any fees due and owing plus costs incurred 
in impounding the boat or obstruction or contents at issue in the proceedings 
(including for storage and towing); 

2) A cash deposit equal to ten (10%) percent of the sum of: the fees at issue, if 
any, plus the costs incurred in impounding the boat or obstruction or contents 
(including for storage and towing) at issue in the proceedings; provided, 
however, that if the amount of such loss and costs is One Hundred ($100.00) 
Dollars or less the entire amount shall be deposited. If the impoundment is found 
after hearing to have been improper the security deposit provided under this 
subsection shall be released.  Should the impoundment be found after hearing to 
have been proper, or in the event the person requesting the hearing has waived 
the right to a hearing, the cash security deposited pursuant to this subsection 
shall be applied to the amounts due.  Any amount remaining after payment of all 
amounts due shall be returned to the person making the deposit without 
interest. 

 
14.10.080 Notice of sale.  
Any vessel or property impounded shall be held by the City for a period of not less than 
thirty (30) calendar days during which the City shall publish in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the City a notice describing the vessel (or property) in general terms, the 

146



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-11   

  Page 80 of 81 

name and number, if any, the name and address of the owner, master operator or 
managing agent, if known, or if not known shall so state the location of the vessel (or 
property) and the intention of the City to sell the same at public auction, on a day and 
at a place and time certain, not less than ten (10) calendar days prior to the sale, for 
cash to the highest and best bidder. At any time prior to the date of the auction, the 
owner, master, operator or managing agent may redeem the vessel (or property) by a 
cash payment of all City charges against the vessel or property.  
 
14.10.090 Sale 
The minimum acceptable bid shall be a sum equal to the City's charges against the 
vessel/property. The proceeds of the sale shall be first applied to the costs of sale, then 
to overdue fees and storage charges, and the balance, if any, shall be held in trust by 
the City for the owner of the vessel (or property) to claim; and if not claimed within one 
(1) year, the balance shall be deposited into the Port of Bethel enterprise fund. Upon 
the sale being made, the City shall make and deliver its bill of sale, without warranty, 
conveying the vessel to the buyer.  
 
14.10.100 Other Disposition 
If at the public sale there are no responsive bidders for the vessel or the Port Director 
determines the value of the vessel or property does not exceed the costs of towing, 
storage, sale and other Port of Bethel charges, the Port Director may use alternative 
means for disposition of the vessel or property.  Such disposition shall be without 
liability on the City, including loss of use or profits or other consequential, direct or 
indirect damages. 
 
14.10.110 Redemption 
A person who presents to the Port Director satisfactory proof of ownership or right to 
possession of an impounded boat or obstruction or contents may redeem such vessel or 
obstruction or contents at any time before sale or other disposition by paying to the 
Port Director all fees, costs, and charges incurred or imposed by reason of 
impoundment or removal, including towing, hauling, mooring, storage and notice. 
Storage charges shall be calculated at the current daily rate per foot plus Thirty ($30) 
Dollars per day if stored by the City, or such charges the City is required to pay for any 
commercial storage. 
 
14.10.120 Interference with Impoundment Prohibited 
A. Unless authorized by the Port Director, it is unlawful for any person to remove an 

impoundment order from a vessel or property upon which it has been posted. 
B. Unless authorized by the Port Director, it is unlawful for any person to move a vessel 

or property after it has been posted with an impoundment order. 
C. It is unlawful for any person to interfere with the Port Director or any other person 

under the Port Director’s authority engaged in the impound, removal or abatement 
of a vessel or other property or public nuisance.   

147



Introduced by: Port Commission 
 Introduction Date March 28, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-11 

  Page 81 of 81 

 
14.10.130 Additional Remedies 
Nothing in this title shall preclude the city from pursuing any and all remedies otherwise 
available at law or in equity in addition to those set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 
 
ENACTED THIS    DAY OF MARCH 2017, BY A VOTE OF   IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED.  
 
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 

148



Suggested Amendments for Ordinance 17-11 from the City Attorney 

Violation Code Section Fine 

Duty to Register Vessel 4.03.110 $150 

Required Equipment 4.03.120 $100 

Vessel not Seaworthy 4.03.130(A) $500 

Vessel Seaworthiness 4.03.130 $500 

Safekeeping of Vessels 4.03.140 $250 

Motor Vehicle Parking 4.03.150 $250 

Improper Parking on Port Facilities 4.03.160 $50 

Wheeled Vehicles 4.03.170 $75 

Aircraft on Water 4.03.180 $175 

Obstructing Navigation 4.03.190 $350 

Failure to timely remove sunken vessel 4.03.190 $1000 

Logs or log rafts on Port Facilities 4.03.200 $200 

Blinding Lights 4.03.210 $200 

Signs 4.03.220 $125 

Fishing in Prohibited Areas 4.03.230 $100 

Vessels in Dangerous Condition 4.03.240 $350 

Fire Hazards 4.03.250 $500 

Vessel Departure 4.03.260 $500 

Reporting Injury or Damage 4.03.280 $700 

Failure to timely report accident or injury 4.03.280 $650 

Dry Storage 4.02.320 $200 

Storage on Floats or Docks 4.02.330 $225 

Unattended Minors 4.02.350 $100 

Responsibility for Animals 4.03.360 $100 

Vessel Occupancy 4.03.370 $750 

Waste Disposal 4.03.380 $75 

Reckless Operation 4.03.390 $1,000 

149



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-17 
Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-17 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN 
EASEMENTS/LAND FOR UTILITY ACQUIRED THROUGH ORDINANCE 16-14 

FROM THE YUKON-KUSKOKWIM HEALTH CORPORATION 

WHEREAS  in accordance with Bethel Municipal Code section 4.08.030 the City Council 
may, by ordinance, provide for the disposal of an interest in real property to a 
municipal, borough, state, federal or other appropriate entity providing a 
necessary public service without seeking bids and for less than the current 
assessed value or current appraised value of that interest in real property; 

WHEREAS  in accordance with Bethel Municipal Code section 4.08.0020 the City Council 
may acquire any interest in real property by purchase, lease, exchange, 
transfer, donation or any other method; 

WHEREAS on May 24, 2016, the City of Bethel acquired an easement from the Yukon 
Kuskokwim Health Corporation (YKHC); 

WHEREAS the easement was more particularly described as follows: 

Easement #2 

WHEREAS The easement consists of portion of Lot 49, U.S. Survey No. 4117, according 
to the official Bureau of Land Management plat thereof, officially filed March 
31, 2004, located in the Bethel Recording District, Fourth Judicial District, State 
of Alaska. 

The easement is more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the southwest corner of said Lot 49, being the True Point of 
Beginning for this description; thence on the west line thereof N00°00’17”E 
497.07 feet to an angle point on said west line; thence N09°45’57”E 74.93 feet 
to the northwest corner of said Lot 49; thence on the north line thereof 
S87°00’03”E 15.11 feet; thence departing said line S09°45’57”W 75.43 feet; 
thence S00°00’17”W 498.40 feet to a point on the south line of said Lot 49; 
thence said line N80°08’48”W 15.22 feet to the True Point of Beginning. Said 
easement embraces an area of 8,594 square feet, more or less as calculated 
from said courses and distances. 

150



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-17 
Page 2 of 2 

WHEREAS the easement is no longer necessary for the institutional corridor; 

NOW, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, the City Council authorizes the disposal and 
release of the above described easement and authorizes the City Manager to complete 
the necessary paperwork to effectuate the release. 

SECTION 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is of a general nature and shall not 
become a part of the Bethel Municipal Code. 

SECTION 2.  Authorization.  Pursuant to Bethel Municipal Code 04.08.030(B) Disposal 
to an Entity Providing Necessary Public Service and Bethel Municipal Code.   

SECTION 3. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon the passage 

by the Bethel City Council.  

ENACTED THIS  DAY OF APRIL 2017, BY A VOTE OF  IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED. 

ATTEST: __________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor 

________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

151



152



153



154



155



156



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-18 
Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-18 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN 
EASEMENTS/LAND FOR UTILITY ACQUIRED THROUGH ORDINANCE 16-32 

FROM KIPUSVIK, LLC 

WHEREAS  in accordance with Bethel Municipal Code section 4.08.030 the City Council 
may, by ordinance, provide for the disposal of an interest in real property to a 
municipal, borough, state, federal or other appropriate entity providing a 
necessary public service without seeking bids and for less than the current 
assessed value or current appraised value of that interest in real property; 

WHEREAS  in accordance with Bethel Municipal Code section 4.08.0020 the City Council 
may acquire any interest in real property by purchase, lease, exchange, 
transfer, donation or any other method; 

WHEREAS on October 25, 2016, the City of Bethel acquired an easement from Kipusvik, 
LLC; 

WHEREAS the easement was more particularly described as follows: 

WHEREAS Tract 3, BNC INDUSTRIAL PARK, according to the official plat thereof, filed 
under Plat Number 2012-2, in the records of the Bethel Recording District, 
Fourth Judicial District, State of Alaska, more particularly described as: 

The Basis of Bearing for this description is a local plane bearing between NGS 
Station BET C and NGS Station BET B. NGS Station BET B bears S 25º43’20.9”W 
a distance of 2672.85 feet from NGS Station BET C. NGS Station BET B has 
Bethel coordinates of 6,266.8084 N, 7,694.8219 E. U.S. Survey Feet. 

Beginning at the northwest corner of said Tract 3, being the True Point of 
Beginning for this description; thence on the northerly line thereof, 
S69°59'15"E 21.00 feet; thence departing said northerly line 
S40°44’46”W135.89 feet to the westerly line of said Tract 3; thence on the 
westerly line thereof, N32°02’29”E 129.95 feet to the True Point of Beginning. 
Said easement embraces an area of 1,335 square feet, more or less as 
calculated from said courses and distances. 

WHEREAS the easement is no longer necessary for the institutional corridor; 

157



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-18 
Page 2 of 2 

NOW, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, the City Council authorizes the disposal and 
release of the above described easement and authorizes the City Manager to complete 
the necessary paperwork to effectuate the release. 

SECTION 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is of a general nature and shall not 
become a part of the Bethel Municipal Code. 

SECTION 2.  Authorization.  Pursuant to Bethel Municipal Code 04.08.030(B) Disposal 
to an Entity Providing Necessary Public Service and Bethel Municipal Code.   

SECTION 3. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon the passage 

by the Bethel City Council.  

ENACTED THIS  DAY OF APRIL 2017, BY A VOTE OF  IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED. 

ATTEST: __________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor 

________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

158



Introduced by: Council Member Watson 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-19 
Page 1 of 5 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-19 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 
1.02 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

WHEREAS, the Bethel Municipal Code was first adopted on February 25, 1985 via 
Ordinance 157; 

WHEREAS, Title 1 of the Code has not been updated since 2007; 

WHEREAS, since being hired with the City, the City Attorney has been tasked with 
updating all of the Bethel Municipal Code; 

WHEREAS, as part of the update, the City Attorney has gone back to the beginning and 
updated section 1.01 (previously adopted); 

WHEREAS, this is a continuation of Title One’s update; 

NOW, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, the City Council adopts the updated section 1.02 
of the Bethel Municipal Code as outlined in this Ordinance;  

SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code.   

SECTION 2. Amendments. Bethel Municipal Code Section 1.02, General Provisions, is 
amended as follows (old language is stricken, new language is underlined):  

Chapter 1.02 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sections: 

.010 Definitions 

.020 Grammatical Interpretation 

.030 Acts by Agents 

1.04.060 Prohibited acts include causing and permitting. 

1.04.090 Repeal shall not revive any ordinances. 

1.04.100 Repeal or amendment of any ordinance. 

1.04.110 Severability clause. 

159

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel01/Bethel0104.html#1.04.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel01/Bethel0104.html#1.04.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel01/Bethel0104.html#1.04.100
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel01/Bethel0104.html#1.04.110


Introduced by: Councilman Watson 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-19   
  Page 2 of 5 

1.02.010 Definitions 

The following words and phrases, whenever used in the ordinances of the City of Bethel, Alaska, 

shall be construed as defined in this section unless from the context a different meaning is intended 

or unless a different meaning is specifically defined and more particularly directed to the use of 

such words or phrases: 
A. “Agent” means a person acting on behalf of another. 
B. “Business day” means a calendar day on which the city’s administrative offices are open to 

provide general services to the public. 
C. “Calendar day” means any day, including Saturdays, Sundays and holidays 
A. “City” and “town” each means the City of Bethel, Alaska, or the area within the territorial limits 

of the City of Bethel, Alaska, and such territory outside Bethel over which the City of Bethel has 
jurisdiction or control by virtue of any constitutional or statutory provision. 

B. “City Attorney” means the city attorney for the City of Bethel. 
C. “City Clerk” means the city clerk of the City of Bethel. 
D. “City Manager” means the city manager of the City of Bethel. 
E. “Code,” means the Bethel Municipal Code. 
F. “Council” means the City council of the City of Bethel, Alaska. “All its members” or “all 

councilmen” means the total number of councilmen holding office provided for in the Code, 
without regard to vacancies or absences. 

G. “Fee” means a sum of money charged by the City for the carrying on of business, profession or 
occupation. 

H. “Knowingly” imports only a knowledge of the facts exists which brings the act or omission within 
the provisions of this Code.  It does not require any knowledge of unlawfulness of such act or 
omission. 

I. “Law” denotes applicable federal law, the Constitution and statutes of the State of Alaska, the 
ordinances of the City of Bethel, and, when appropriate, any and all rules and regulations which 
may be promulgated thereunder.  means the Constitution and statutes of the United States, the 
constitution statutes of the State of Alaska, and the ordinances enacted by the City of Bethel. 

J. “Owner,” applied to a building or land, means and includes any part owner, joint owner, 
organization, business trust, society, tenant in common, joint tenant, tenant by the entirety, 
lessee of the whole or of a part of such building or land. 

K. “Peace Officer” means any officer of the State of Alaska, members of the police force of any 
incorporated city or borough, United States Marshalls and their deputies, and other officers 
whose duty it is to enforce and preserve the public peace;  

L. “Person” includes a natural person, joint venture, joint stock company, partnership, association, 
club, company, corporation, business, firm, trust, organization, or the manager, lessee, agent, 
servant, officer or employee of any of them. 

M. “Personal property” means and includes tangible property, other than real property, such as 
money, merchandise, goods, chattels, effects, evidence of rights things in action and evidences of 
debt all written instruments by which any pecuniary obligation, right or title to property is created, 
acknowledged, transferred, increased, defeated, discharged or diminished and very right or 
interest therein. 

N.  “Preceding” and “following” mean next before and next after, respectively. 
O. “Property” includes real and personal property. 
P. “Real property” means and includes land, tenements and hereditaments of all kinds, together 

with all rights to and interest in land, tenements, and hereditaments and further includes 
buildings, structures, improvements and fixtures upon or affixed to land. 

160



Introduced by: Council Member Watson 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-19 
  Page 3 of 5 

1.02.020 Grammatical Interpretation  
A. In the interpretation and application of any provisions of this Code, it shall be held to the minimum 

requirements adopted for the promotion of the public health, safety, comfort, convenience and 
general welfare.   

B. Where any provision of the Code imposes greater restrictions upon the subject matter than the 
general provisions imposed by the Code, the provision(s) imposing the greater restriction and/or 
regulation shall be deemed to be controlling. 

C. All words and phrases shall be construed according to the common and approved usage of the 
language, but technical words and phrases and such others as may have acquired an peculiar and 
appropriate meaning in the law shall be construed and understood according to such peculiar and 
appropriate hearing.  All words and phrases not specifically defined shall be construed according 
to the rules of grammar and according to their common and approved usage.  Undefined technical 
words and phrases which have acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning shall be construed 
according to the peculiar and appropriate meaning including any relevant industry standard. 

D. Computation of Time.  The time within which an act is required to be done shall be computed by 
excluding the first (1st) day and including the last day, unless the last day is a Saturday, Sunday or 
a holiday, in which case it shall also be excluded.  All reference to “days” shall be calendar days 
unless specifically indicated as working or business days. 

E. Word Construction: The following grammatical rules shall apply in the Ordinances of the City of 
Bethel, unless it is apparent from the context that a different construction is intended: 
1. Generally.  Whenever any word in any section of this Code importing the plural number is 

used in describing or referring to matters, parties or persons, in any single matter, party or 
person shall be deemed to be included, although distributive words may not have been used. 

2. Gender.  Each gender includes the masculine, feminine and neuter genders.  A word importing 
the masculine gender only shall extend and be applied to females, firms, partnerships, 
corporations, et al., and males.   

3. Numerical. The singular number includes the plural and the plural includes the singular.  A 
word importing the singular number only may extend and be applied to several persons and 
things as well as to one person and thing.   

4. Tenses.  Words used in the present tense include the past and the future tenses and vice 
versa, unless manifestly applicable and words in the future tense include the present or past 
tense.   

5. The word “shall” or “must” is mandatory and non-discretionary. 
6. The word “or” may be read “and”, and “and” may be read “or” if the sense requires it. 
7. The words “preceding” and “following” mean next before and next after, respectively.  
8. The word “may” is permissive. 
9. When the word “includes” or “including” is used in an ordinance, it shall be construed as 

though followed by the phrase “but not limited to.” 
10. Employees.  Whenever reference is made in this Code to a City employee by title only, this 

shall be construed as though followed by the words “of the City of Bethel.”  
11. Officers.  Whenever reference is made in this Code to a City officer by title only, this shall be 

construed as though followed by the words “of the City of Bethel.” 
12. Signature.  “Signature” or “subscription” includes a mark when the person cannot write, with 

his name written near the mark by a witness who writes his own name near the person’s 
name, but a signature or subscription by mark can be acknowledged or can serve as a 
signature or subscription to a sworn statement only when two (2) witnesses so sign their own 
names thereto. 

161



Introduced by: Councilman Watson 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-19   
  Page 4 of 5 

 

1.02.030 Acts by agents. 

When an act is required by an ordinance, the same act being such that it may be done as well by 

an agent as by the principal, such requirement shall be construed to include all such acts performed 

by an authorized agent. 

 

 

1.02.020 Title of office. 

Use of the title of any officer, employee, department, board or commission means that officer, 

employee, department, board or commission of the city of Bethel. 

 

1.04.060 Prohibited acts include causing and permitting. 

Whenever in the ordinances of the city of Bethel, any act or omission is made unlawful, it shall 

include causing, allowing, permitting, aiding, abetting, suffering or concealing the fact of such act 

or omission. 

 

1.04.090 Repeal shall not revive any ordinances. 

The repeal of an ordinance shall not repeal the repealing clause of an ordinance or revive any 

ordinance which has been repealed thereby. 

 

1.04.100 Repeal or amendment of any ordinance. 

A. The repeal or amendment of any ordinance does not release or extinguish any penalty, 

forfeiture, or liability incurred or right accruing or accrued under such ordinance unless the 

repealing or amending act expressly so provides. An amended or repealed ordinance shall be 

treated as remaining in force for the purpose of sustaining any proper action or prosecution for the 

enforcement of any right, penalty, forfeiture or liability. 

B. The expiration of a temporary ordinance does not release or extinguish any penalty, forfeiture, 

or liability incurred or right accruing or accrued under such ordinance unless the temporary 

ordinance expressly so provides, and such ordinance shall be treated as still remaining in force for 

the purposes of sustaining any proper action or prosecution for the enforcement for such penalty, 

forfeiture or liability, or right accruing or accrued. 

C. The simultaneous repeal and reenactment or readoption of an ordinance or provision of this 

code shall have the same effect as if the legislative action taken were to amend the provision to 

read as shown in the readopted or reenacted language without a repeal.  

 

1.04.110 Severability clause. 

Any ordinance heretofore or hereafter enacted by the city council which lacks a severability clause 

shall be construed as though it contained the clause in the following language: 

If any provision of this ordinance, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held 

invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to other persons or circumstances shall 

not be affected thereby. The city council hereby declares that it would have enacted the remainder 

of this ordinance even without such part, provision, or application.  

 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 
 

162



Introduced by: Council Member Watson 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-19 
Page 5 of 5 

ENACTED THIS  DAY OF APRIL 2017, BY A VOTE OF  IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED. 

ATTEST: __________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor 

________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

163



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-20 
Page 1 of 12 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-20 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 
17.04 GENERAL PROVISIONS AND REQUIREMENTS  

WHEREAS, the Bethel Municipal Code currently only requires notification of residents 
within a 600 foot radius; allows for experimental and/or innovative processes or 
procedures for waste treatment; 

WHEREAS, the recent number of Conditional Use Permit applications have demonstrated 
that 600 feet is not a large radius and many nearby residents are not in the mandated 
circle and therefore are not being notified yet they have a great deal of interest in what 
is happening in their neighborhood;  

WHEREAS, currently the Code makes subdivision agreements optional, thus the burden 
of getting everything perfect at the Preliminary Plat stage is huge;  

WHEREAS, while the Preliminary Plat offers a lot of information, the serious details, such 
as road grading, drainage, electrical, water/sewer improvements, are not always known 
or identified properly at this point;  

WHEREAS, many, but not all, municipalities in the State make subdivision agreements 
mandatory in order to provide the subdivider AND the City assurances of what can be 
expected and to avoid disputes part-way through the process;  

WHEREAS, while making subdivision agreements mandatory is only a partial fix to a 
complete overhaul of Title 17, it will go a long way towards protecting both the City and 
the developers; 

NOW, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, the City Council adopts the updated section 
17.04 of the Bethel Municipal Code as outlined in this Ordinance;  

SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code.   

SECTION 2. Amendments. Bethel Municipal Code Section 17.04., General Provisions 
and Requirements, is amended as follows (old language is stricken, new language is 
underlined):  

Chapter 17.04 

GENERAL PROVISIONS AND REQUIREMENTS 

164



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-20   
  Page 2 of 12 

Sections: 

17.04.010    Authority. 

17.04.020    Interpretation and purpose. 

17.04.025    Notice. 

17.04.030    Applicability. 

17.04.040    Conformance required. 

17.04.045    Definitions. 

17.04.050    Development phasing districts. 

17.04.060    Existing lots. 

17.04.065    Application of new requirements. 

17.04.067    Subdivision agreements. 

17.04.070    Control and maintenance of dedicated and constructed facilities. 

17.04.090    Conflicting provisions. 

 

17.04.010 Authority. 

Subdivision and platting powers and authority are vested in the planning commission, acting as 

the platting board, and referred to in this title as the “planning commission.”  

 

17.04.020 Interpretation and purpose. 

It is the purpose of this title to promote and protect the public health, safety and general welfare of 

the people of the city; to provide for the proper arrangement of streets in relation to existing or 

proposed streets; to provide for adequate and convenient open spaces; to provide for efficient 

movement of vehicular and pedestrian traffic; to assure adequate and properly placed utilities; to 

ensure that subdivision and development occur in a logical pattern in coordination with 

infrastructure availability; to provide access for firefighting apparatus, sewage collection and water 

delivery vehicles; to secure safety from flood and other dangers; to assure adequate drainage of 

land; to assure the reservation of adequate open space; to facilitate the further subdivision of larger 

tracts into smaller parcels of land; and to ensure proper legal descriptions and monumenting of 

subdivided land. These regulations provide a mechanism for the planning commission to develop 

and apply new or more restrictive requirements when a new, unusual, or unanticipated 

circumstance comes to its attention and it appears to the commission that the provisions of this 

title are not adequate to deal with the circumstance. In addition, these regulations provide for the 

accurate surveying of land; for equitable processing of all plats by providing uniform procedures 

and standards for observance by both the city and the subdivider; and for the proper preparation 

and recording of plats. The provisions of this chapter set out minimum requirements and shall be 

interpreted in the manner to accomplish the purposes set out in this section.  

 

A. General. These standards are enacted generally to promote the goals of the 
comprehensive plan as to the health, safety, convenience, quality of life, and welfare of 
the present and future inhabitants of the City; to secure adequate utilities and public 
facilities, provide for consideration of open space needs, and protect sensitive natural 
areas such as critical habitat, high-value wetlands, and riparian corridors; to enhance or 
preserve other significant natural features; to ensure the functional and efficient layout 
and appropriate use of land so as to achieve property lots of reasonable utility and 

165

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.025
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.045
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.065
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.067
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.070
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1704.html#17.04.090


Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-20 
  Page 3 of 12 

minimize public costs to construct and maintain infrastructure; and to facilitate orderly 
growth and harmonious development of the municipality.  

B. Specific. Planning, layout, and design of a subdivision are of the utmost concern. The 
subdivision should provide safe, efficient, and convenient movement to points of 
destination or collection. Modes of travel to achieve this objective should not conflict with 
each other or abutting land uses. Lots and blocks should provide appropriate settings for 
the buildings that are to be constructed, make use of natural contours, and protect 
residents from adverse noise and vehicular traffic. Important natural features of the area 
should be preserved. Schools, parks, and other community facilities should be planned as 
an integral part of the area. New development should reflect and maintain the character 
of the neighborhood through layout of roads and lots, consideration of connectivity with 
minimal cut-through traffic, pedestrian access to neighborhood destinations, and buffers 
or open space where appropriate to maintain privacy and views.  

 

17.04.025 Notice. 

A. Unless otherwise specifically provided in this title, notice of hearings required under this 
title shall be given as provided in subsections B through E of this section. When a hearing 
is required under Chapter 17.20 BMC, notice of that hearing shall be given as provided 
BMC 17.20.050. 

B. Notice shall contain the following: 
1. The date the complete application or petition was filed; 
2. The name of the owner of the parcel that is the subject of the application or petition 

or the name of the person who made the filing; 
3. The purpose of the application or petition; 
4. A description of the location and a legal description of the parcel; 
5. The date, time and place of the hearing; 
6. The notice may contain any other information the platting officer believes to be 

appropriate or that the planning commission may require. 
C. Notice shall be published at least once twice in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

city at least six (6) twenty-one (21) days before the hearing. 
D. Notice shall be mailed to the owners of each parcel of property any part of which is within 

six twelve hundred (600 1200) feet of the exterior boundary of the parcel that is the 
subject of the application or petition. 
1. The name and address of the owner of each parcel that is to receive mailed notice and 

that receives sewer or water service from the city shall be provided to the platting 
officer by the public works department. The name and address of each other owner 
that is to receive mailed notice shall be provided to the platting officer by the 
applicant. An application is not complete until the applicant has submitted the list of 
the names and addresses of all such other owners. The applicant, its agents and 
successors, shall save, hold harmless and defend the city, its officers and employees, 
from and against all claims and suits based in whole or in part on the failure of the city 
to provide mailed notice to a person to whom mailed notice was required to be sent 

166

http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1720.html#17.20
http://www.codepublishing.com/AK/Bethel/html/Bethel17/Bethel1720.html#17.20.050


Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-20   
  Page 4 of 12 

under this subsection if the applicant provided an incorrect address or no address for 
a person whose address it was the applicant’s responsibility to provide. The name and 
address of the person shown in the records of the Bethel district recorder’s office as 
the owner of the relevant parcel shall be presumed to be correct; 

2. Mailed notice shall be deposited in the U.S. Mail, postage paid, at least five (5) days 
before the hearing; 

3. Mailed notice may include maps or other additional material that is not included in 
the published or posted notice. 

E. Notice shall be posted on the public bulletin board at city hall and at three (3) other public 
places where other notices are regularly posted. Notice shall be posted at least five (5) 
days before the hearing. 

F. The failure of the city to fully meet each requirement of this section or of any other notice 
requirement of this title shall not be the basis for invalidating an action taken under this 
title if there was substantial compliance with the requirements of this or the otherwise 
applicable section.  

 

 

17.04.067 Subdivision agreements. 

A. In order to assure a subdivider that the subdivider may proceed with the subdivision of a 
parcel in accordance with existing standards and requirements under this title and not be 
subject to changes in such standards and requirements before the subdivider receives 
unconditional approval of the final plat of the parcel, the subdivider and the city may 
enter into a subdivision agreement pursuant to the provisions of this section. The 
rejection and the approval and execution of a requested subdivision agreement are within 
the absolute discretion of the city. A subdivision agreement is enforceable by each party 
to the agreement, but is effective only if approved by the planning commission by 
resolution and approved by the city council by a noncode ordinance. 

B. A subdivider, upon payment of the required subdivision agreement application fee and 
the submission of such documents as the platting officer or planning commission may 
require, may submit to the planning commission a request that the city enter into a 
subdivision agreement with respect to the subdivision of a parcel for which a complete 
preliminary plat application has been submitted. The submission of a request for a 
subdivision agreement, whether or not the request is complete, suspends the running of 
the time within which a pending or subsequently submitted plat must be approved until 
the request is withdrawn, or is rejected by the planning commission or the city council, or 
receives the required approvals and the agreement is executed. 

C. The planning commission shall consider the request for the subdivision agreement after 
reviewing the preliminary plat. If the commission determines that the existing standards 
and requirements of this title are adequate to deal with the likely impact of the 
subdivision as proposed or that they would be adequate if supplemented with additional 
requirements to which the subdivider agrees, the commission may, in its discretion, 
proceed to negotiate with the subdivider for a subdivision agreement containing such 
additional requirements, if any, as the commission believes are appropriate. The 

167



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-20 
  Page 5 of 12 

agreement may impose additional standards, requirements and exactions not otherwise 
applicable to the subdivision, without regard to whether such standards, requirements or 
exactions could be lawfully imposed as a subdivision or other city regulation. 

D. A subdivision agreement may not reduce or eliminate the application of any standard or 
requirement of this title or of any other provision of this code, nor of any standard or 
requirement issued by the city engineer. An agreement may limit the application of 
proposed standards and requirements to the pending plat, but may not limit or reduce 
any other discretion of the planning commission, require any particular decision or 
approval by the commission, or in any way lessen, affect or control the plat approval 
procedures in effect when the agreement is executed after city council approval. An 
agreement may not be inconsistent with applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan 
and shall, when possible, further the goals of the plan. 

E. A subdivision agreement may not limit the application of any amendment of any title 
other than this title whether such amendment was recommended, proposed or adopted 
before of after execution of the agreement. The provision of any agreement that would 
have an effect prohibited by this subsection is void and unenforceable. 

F. The provisions of an agreement that protect the subdivider from changes to the standards 
and requirements applicable to the subdivision of the parcel remain effective for so long 
as no party other than the city is in default under the agreement and there is timely 
performance by the subdivider of the construction of required subdivision improvements. 
The city may terminate the agreement if the final plat of the subdivision has not been 
approved within eighteen (18) months of the date the agreement is approved by the city 
council by ordinance or by the earlier of such other date as is set out in the agreement or 
is set out in the ordinance approving the agreement. Upon the termination of the 
agreement by the city for a default of the subdivider under the agreement or the failure 
of the subdivider to comply with a requirement of this subsection, the city may require 
the subdivider to bring the subdivision into compliance with all standards and 
requirements it avoided by virtue of the agreement and with all standards and 
requirements the planning commission may recommend within sixty (60) days of the date 
the agreement is terminated. 

G. A subdivision agreement does not have effect beyond the plat to which it applies and any 
re-subdivision of any part of the same parcel shall be subject to all changes to the 
standards and requirements of this title except to the extent such re-subdivision is subject 
to a new subdivision agreement.  

 

A. Agreement required; application; contents.  
1. Agreement required. Before a final plat for a subdivision is approved or filed, the 

subdivider shall enter into a subdivision agreement with the City in accordance with this 
section.  

2. Application. Application for approval of a proposed subdivision agreement shall be 
made to the planning department. The application shall include a copy of the platting 
summary of action, a copy of the preliminary plat, a tentative schedule of all proposed 
construction of public improvements and utilities, and an engineer's estimate of the cost 

168



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-20   
  Page 6 of 12 

of each required public improvement. The engineer's estimate shall be based on the 
most current average of unit bid prices for capital improvement projects, as tabulated 
annually and published by the Anchorage municipal engineer. The City may require a 
showing of the subdivider's financial responsibility.  

3. Contents. Except as provided in subsection A.4. below, the subdivision agreement shall 
include but need not be limited to the following provisions:  
a. A designation of the public improvements required to be constructed.  
b. The construction and inspection requirements of the City or utility for which the 

improvements are constructed.  
c. The time schedule for completing the improvements.  
d. The performance guarantee required by subsection 17.04.067E.  
e. A schedule for any payments required under this section.  
f. The allocation of costs between the City and the subdivider for required public 

improvements.  
g. The warranty required by subsection 17.04.067G.  
h. The consent of the subdivider for the ownership of specified public improvements to 

vest with the City upon final acceptance by the City.  
i. A warranty that the subdivider has title to the subdivision property and the authority 

to execute the subdivision agreement.  
j. Where the subdivision is within the flood hazard area, a requirement that the 

subdivider will submit certification of flood proofing, information on the elevation of 
the lowest habitable floor, and information on the elevation to which the structure 
is flood proofed, for each building or structure to be constructed as part of the 
subdivision agreement.  

k. A provision requiring the subdivider to submit plans, specifications, descriptions of 
work, the limits of the work area, the methods to be employed, a traffic control 
plan, and any other pertinent data and information necessary for City officials to 
evaluate the proposed installation.  

l. A provision that work shall not commence until plans have been approved by the 
Planning Department/Commission and notice to proceed is given.   

B. Approval by Council. Approval by the City Council shall be required to enter into those 
subdivision agreements where City participation in the cost of the required public 
improvements is estimated to be $30,000.00 or more.  

C. Time limit for completion of improvements.  
1. The planning official shall determine the time duration of the subdivision agreement, 

which shall not be less than two (2) years nor more than three (3), based on the size, 
complexity, and possible phasing of the subdivision. The improvements required under 
the terms of the subdivision agreement shall be fully completed and accepted for 
warranty within that time period. However, before the expiration of the time allowed 
for completion, the subdivider may request a time extension from the planning official. 
The planning official may grant one time extension, up to one (1) year in length, upon a 
showing of good cause by the developer and provided such extension does not 
unreasonably impact adjacent properties or the general public. The planning official 

169



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-20 
  Page 7 of 12 

does not have the authority to modify conditions placed by the planning commission. 
The planning official may refer any extension application to the planning commission if 
the project is in default or he or she deems further or more extensive analysis and 
public comment concerning the continuation may be needed. In considering whether an 
extension should be granted, the following shall be considered: the manner in which 
safety hazards, drainage problems, sanding, snow removal, grading, and other matters 
will be handled during the extension period. Performance conditions may be imposed 
on the extension to ensure that such matters are adequately handled.  

2. Requests for a subsequent one-year time extension requires planning commission 
approval. All time extensions shall be conditioned to require provision of an adequate 
performance guarantee when the existing guarantee is inadequate.  

D. Payment of costs of required improvements inside the City Service Area. The cost of any 
public improvement shall be defined to include the cost of design, engineering, contract 
administration, inspection, testing, and surveillance as well as all work, labor, and materials 
furnished for the construction of the improvement(s). The subdivision agreement shall 
provide for the apportionment of the cost of required public improvements between the 
City and the subdivider as follows:  
1. Administrative and recording costs relating to public improvement guaranties. The 

subdivider shall pay 100 (100%) percent of all costs incurred in supplying and 
administering any method of public improvement guarantee provided for in this Section 
21.08.060.  

2. Inspection, surveillance, and testing.  
a. The subdivider shall pay 100 (100%) percent of all costs relating to any inspection, 

surveillance, and testing by the City, necessary for warranty acceptance of any 
required public improvement or during the warranty period.  Surveillance shall be 
performed by the City during the course of construction and up to the point of final 
acceptance of the completed project.  

b. The City shall retain an independent registered engineer who has no financial 
interest in the development, at subdivider’s sole expense, to inspect and test the 
improvement construction. The engineer shall maintain in good standing 
professional liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000.00 during the term of 
the agreement. Policies written on a "claims-made" basis shall have a two-year tail 
of coverage from the completion of the subdivision agreement term. The required 
insurance policy shall provide for no less than 30 days advance notice to the 
municipality prior to cancellation.  

3. Administration of agreement. The subdivider shall pay 100 percent of all costs of plan 
review, agreement administration, and attendant costs.  

4. Water/Sewer improvements. If the subdivision is to receive water service from the City 
piped service, the subdivider shall provide water facilities, including service connections 
to all lots, with cost participation as provided in the current approved tariff of the utility. 
If the subdivision is to receive water service from the City Hauled System, the subdivider 
shall pay 100 percent of the cost of any additional lift station(s) or a pro-rata share of 
additional truck(s) required to provide service to the new subdivision.  

170



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-20   
  Page 8 of 12 

E. Guarantee of completion of improvements required; amount; methods.  
1. Guarantee required. To ensure the installation of required public improvements that are 

not accepted at the time the final plat is filed, the subdivision agreement shall require 
the subdivider to guarantee the completion of all such improvements by one or more of 
the methods specified in this section. The means of a guarantee may be changed during 
the guarantee period upon approval by the planning official. The amount of the 
guarantee shall be determined on the basis of the subdivider's cost estimate. The 
guarantee shall remain in effect until warranty acceptance of the public improvements 
and the posting of an acceptable security for the warranty period.  

2. Cost estimate; overrun allowance. The engineer's cost estimate shall state the estimated 
cost of completion for each required public improvement. Cost estimates for each 
required public improvement shall be approved by the department. For purposes of 
establishing the amount necessary for the guarantee of completion of public 
improvements, a percentage for overrun allowance shall be added to the total 
estimated cost of public improvements as follows:  

TABLE 17.04.067: PERCENT FOR OVERRUN ALLOWANCE  

Total Estimated Cost of Improvements  Percent for Overrun Allowance  

$0.00—$500,000.00  30% 

$500,000.01—$1,000,000.00  25% 

More than $1,000,000.00  20% 

  

3. Methods. The subdivision agreement shall include one or more of the following 
methods to guarantee the construction of required public improvements:  
a. Performance bond. The subdivider may elect to provide a surety bond from a 

company authorized to do such business in the state. The bond shall be in a form 
acceptable to the City attorney and Finance Direction and in an amount equal to the 
estimated cost of all required public improvements, plus an overrun allowance as 
provided in subsection E.2. above. The bond shall be payable to the City if any 
required public improvements are not finally accepted in accordance with the 
provisions of this title, and shall be posted by no person other than the subdivider or 
a contractor obligated by written contract to the subdivider for construction of all 
the required public improvements. In the event a contractor posts the bond, the 
subdivider and the City may be dual obligees under mutually agreed terms.  

b. Deposit in escrow. The subdivider may elect to deposit a cash sum equal to the 
estimated cost of all required public improvements plus overrun allowances as 
provided in subsection E.2. above, either with the City or in escrow with a 
responsible financial institution authorized to do such business in the state. In the 
case of an escrow account, the subdivider shall file with the City an escrow 
agreement that includes the following terms: 

171



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-20 
  Page 9 of 12 

(i) Funds of the escrow account shall be held in trust until released by the City 
and may not be used or pledged by the subdivider as security in any matter 
during that period other than payment for the improvements.  

(ii) In the case of a failure on the part of the subdivider to complete any 
improvement within the required time period, the institution shall 
immediately make all funds in such account available to the City for use in 
the completion of those improvements.  

c. Letter of credit. The subdivider may elect to provide from a bank or other 
responsible financial institution authorized to do such business in the state an 
irrevocable letter of credit. Such letter shall be filed with the City and shall certify 
the following:  
(i) That the creditor irrevocably guarantees funds in an amount equal to the 

estimated cost of all required public improvements plus overrun allowances 
as provided in subsection E.2. above, for the completion of all such 
improvements; and  

(ii) That in the case of failure on the part of the subdivider to complete any 
specified improvements within the required time period the creditor shall 
pay to the City immediately and without further action such funds as are 
necessary to finance the completion of those improvements up to the limit 
of credit stated in the letter.  

F. Release of guarantee of improvements.  
1. Inspection shall be made by the City prior to acceptance of the improvements for 

warranty. The City shall have twenty-one (21) calendar days to complete the inspection 
and provide a list of deficiencies, except that the planning official may extend the 21-day 
period for unusual circumstances such as extreme weather. The 21-day period shall 
begin on the day the City receives written notice from the subdivider that the 
subdivider's own comprehensive inspection has confirmed that construction of all 
required improvements is complete, all applicable subdivision agreement requirements 
are fulfilled, and the project is ready for City inspection.  

2. After the initial City inspection provided for in subsection F.1. has been completed and 
all listed deficiencies noted in the initial City inspection and provided in writing to the 
subdivider have been corrected, the subdivider shall notify the City in writing and the 
City shall perform a final inspection of the listed deficiencies within fourteen (14) 
calendar days of receiving the notification, except that the planning official may extend 
the 14-day period for unusual circumstances such as extreme weather.  

3. If the final inspection reveals uncorrected listed deficiencies that were identified in the 
initial inspection that was provided to the subdivider in writing prior to the final 
inspection, this procedure shall be repeated until all deficiencies noted in the initial 
inspection have been corrected. The warranty period shall begin after all the 
deficiencies in the initial inspection have been corrected.  

4. Excepting any new deficiency or deficiencies resulting from the subdivider's activities 
correcting the deficiency or deficiencies identified above, any new deficiencies that 
were not discovered and identified in writing and delivered to the subdivider during the 

172



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-20   
  Page 10 of 12 

initial inspection, but are found in any final or any continuing inspection, shall be noted 
and corrected by the subdivider during the warranty period. However, these 
deficiencies shall not delay the commencement of the warranty period.  

5. In addition to correcting deficiencies in the work, and prior to being placed on warranty, 
the subdivider shall also submit:  
a. A complete record of the engineer's daily inspection reports;  
b. Copies of test results;  
c. Reproducible mylar record drawings of the facilities constructed;  
d. Acceptance letters from electric, cable and telephone utilities that all lots have 

service available;  
e. Certificate of monumentation;  
f. Certificate of compliance that all suppliers and subcontractors have been paid;  
g. Payment in full for municipal billings associated with the subdivision agreement; and  

6. When all deficiencies in the work have been corrected and all items listed in subsection 
F.5. above have been submitted, reviewed, and accepted, the project shall be eligible to 
be placed on warranty.  

7. The City shall release the obligation for performance guarantees upon the acceptance of 
the improvements for warranty, together with the posting of adequate security for 
warranty.  

8. The City may refuse to release the obligation for any particular public improvement if 
the subdivider or contractor is in present or imminent default in whole or in part on the 
completion of any public improvement or warranty covered by the subdivision 
agreement.  

G. Improvement warranty.  
1. The subdivider shall warrant and guarantee that required public improvements 

constructed under the agreement will remain in good condition and meet operating 
specifications for two (2) years, commencing with warranty acceptance of each public 
improvement when it is completed. Such warranty includes defects in design, 
workmanship, materials, and any damage to improvements caused by the subdivider, 
his or her agents, or others engaged in work to be performed under the subdivision 
agreement. If the planning official deems appropriate, extensive repairs or modifications 
made during the warranty period may extend the duration of the warranty period for 
those repairs or modifications only. The subdivider shall not be responsible for cleaning, 
snow removal, ditching, grading, dust control, or similar activities during the warranty 
period.  

2. To secure the warranty:  
a. The guarantee of performance provided for in subsection E. shall remain in effect 

until the end of the warranty period. If the guarantee is a performance bond posted 
by a contractor, the bond cannot secure the warranty unless the subdivider and 
contractor, by written agreement, elected this option at the time the performance 
bond was posted; or  

b. The subdivider shall furnish the City with a corporate surety bond, cash deposit, or 
letter of credit in an amount equal to a percent of the total construction costs as set 

173



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action:   
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-20 
  Page 11 of 12 

forth in this subsection. This security shall guarantee the payment of any 
reconstruction or repair costs that may be undertaken due to failures occurring 
during the warranty period. Responsibility for identifying the necessity of repairs or 
reconstruction of the improvements shall rest with the municipality.  

TABLE 17.04.067G: PERCENT TO SECURE WARRANTY  

Total Construction Cost  Percent to Secure Warranty  

$0.00—$500,000.00  15 

$500,000,01—$1,000,000.00  10 

More than $1,000,000.00  7.5 

  

H. Correction of deficiencies under warranty.  
1. Within thirty (30) calendar days, or a reasonable extension at the sole discretion of the 

planning official, of notification by the City of the need for repair or reconstruction, the 
subdivider shall correct the deficiencies, satisfactory to the City. Such notification shall 
be made by certified mail. If the subdivider fails to repair or reconstruct the deficiency 
within the time specified in this section, the City will make the repair at the subdivider's 
sole expense. The City may then bill the subdivider for the cost of the repair and 
associated administrative costs, or declare the bond or deposit forfeited.  

2. Notwithstanding subsection H.1. above, if the subdivider or the subdivider's engineer 
retained through the warranty period first identifies need for repair or reconstruction, 
the subdivider shall notify the City by certified mail, and the subdivider shall make the 
repair or reconstruction with authorization (in lieu of the above notification) from the 
City.  

I. End of warranty period.  
1. The City shall inspect the required improvements and provide a list of deficiencies to the 

subdivider no later than sixty (60) calendar days before the end of the warranty period, 
except that the planning official may extend this time due to inappropriate weather or 
other conditions that impede complete inspection.  

2. All deficiencies identified in the warranty period shall be corrected, inspected, and 
approved within thirty (30) calendar days, except that the planning official may extend 
the 30-day period for unusual circumstances or inappropriate weather. The City is under 
no obligation to release any remaining security if the subdivider fails to correct any 
identified deficiencies.  

3. Upon final acceptance, the City will release the remaining security within ninety (90) 
calendar days.  

4. If the City does not timely inspect and provide a report as required in H.1. above, the 
warranty period ends.  

J. Default. If the subdivider defaults on any obligation to construct required public 
improvements or the obligation to warrant and repair such improvements, the City may 
demand immediate payment on the performance or warranty guarantee. In the case of a 
performance bond, deposits in escrow, or letter of credit, the City may demand immediate 

174



Introduced by: Council Member Welch 

 Introduction Date April 11, 2017 
Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 
Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska Ordinance 17-20 
Page 12 of 12 

payment of a portion of all sums obligated for the performance or warranty of any 
improvement.  All funds received by the City shall be used for any construction, repair, or 
reconstruction necessary to ensure that:  
1. All required public improvements are built to specifications necessary to receive

warranty acceptance; and
2. The improvements remain in good condition for the completion of the warranty period.

The City may use guarantee funds for the construction, repair, or maintenance of
required public improvements from the date of initial default until three (3) years after
the funds have become available to the City for such use, except that no use shall be
made of the funds later than two (2) years after satisfactory completion and warranty
acceptance of the work. Following either: (1) the warranty acceptance of all public
improvements and posting of the warranty security, or (2) final acceptance, or (3) the
three-year period provided for in this subsection, the City shall pay to the subdivider all
guarantee funds which were not used or obligated for the completion of the
improvements.

K. Agency coordination. Upon receipt of notification of violation or concern by City 
departments or outside agencies, the planning official may suspend approval on work 
authorized through the subdivision agreement until such time that the issue is resolved. 

L. Standards may not be altered; enforcement of chapter. All provisions of this chapter are 
mandatory and may not be altered by the subdivision agreement. The obligations contained 
in this chapter shall be enforceable by methods of enforcement of ordinance as well as 
contract.  

SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 

ENACTED THIS  DAY OF APRIL 2017, BY A VOTE OF  IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED. 

ATTEST: __________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor 

________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

175



Introduced by:  Council Member Albertson 

Date: April 13, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 

Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska    Ordinance #17-21 

1 of 2 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

Ordinance #17-21 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE BETHEL CITY COUNCIL ESTABLISHING A 
COMMUNITY ACTION GRANT TECHNICAL REVIEW BOARD 

WHEREAS,  Administration and Council are working on a process through which non-
profit agencies within the community of Bethel will have the opportunity to 
apply for a Community Action Grant;  

WHEREAS,  the application process for the Community Action Grant would consist of an 
application review from a board of volunteers, appointed by the Mayor and 
confirmed by the Council;  

WHEREAS,  Bethel Municipal Code 2.25.020 provide the Council the authority to create 
advisory, administrative, technical or quasi-judicial boards or commissions; 

WHEREAS,  the Community Action Grant Technical Review Board shall have the 
requirements set out in Bethel Municipal Code Title 2; 

WHEREAS,  the members appointed to the board will show familiarity in budgeting and 
finance, fiscal reporting and financial management as well as be acquainted 
with how grant funds can be used to foster improved community wellness;  

WHEREAS,  the Community Action Grant Technical Review Board will be responsible for 
reviewing grant applications to include presentations, and making funding 
recommendations to the City Council;  

WHEREAS,  the Community Action Grant Technical Review Board shall be limited in its 
recommendations to the budget amounts set by the Council budget; 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, that the Bethel City Council establishes a 
Community Action Grant Technical Review Board.  

SECTION 1. Classification.  This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature and 
shall not become a part of the Bethel Municipal Code.  

176



Introduced by:  Council Member Albertson 

Date: April 13, 2017 

Public Hearing: April 25, 2017 

Action: 

Vote: 

City of Bethel, Alaska    Ordinance #17-21 

2 of 2 

SECTION 2. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 
the passage by the Bethel City Council.  

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BETHEL ALASKA, THIS 
__ DAY OF _______ 2017, BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ OPPOSED.  

___________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 
 Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

177



1 

THIS AGREEMENT, by and between the City of Bethel, Alaska, a municipal corporation, 
hereinafter called "Employer", as the party of the first part, and Patty Burley, 
hereinafter called "Employee," as the party of the second part, both of whom 
understand as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of said Employee as City attorney 
of the City of Bethel, Alaska, as provided by Section AS 29.20370 of the Alaska 
Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council of the City of Bethel, hereinafter called 
"Council," to provide certain benefits, establish certain condition of employment and to 
set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Council to secure and retain the services of Employee 
through compensations set by Council; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to accept employment as City attorney of Bethel, Alaska. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the 
Employer and Employee agree as follows: 

Section  1. POWERS AND DUTIES 

Employer hereby agrees to employ Patty Burley as City attorney of the City of Bethel, 
Alaska to perform the functions, powers and duties outlined in Title 29, specifically AS 
29.20.370 of the Alaska Statutes, and to perform other legally permissible and proper 
duties and functions as the Council shall from time to time assign. Furthermore, the City 
attorney must have and retain membership in the Alaska Bar. 

Section  2. TERM 

A. Employee shall serve at the pleasure of the Council and as an at-will employee of 
the City of Bethel. Nothing in this agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise 

interfere with the right of the Council to terminate the services of the Employee at 

any time with or without cause, subject only to the provisions set forth in Section 5, 

NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT 
Between 

City of Bethel 
and 

Patty Burley 

178



 

2 
 

paragraph A of this agreement. The City shall comply with the City’s insurance policy 

endorsement regarding any termination. 

 
B. Nothing in this agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 
of the Employee to resign at any time from this position with employer, subject only 
to those provisions set forth in Section 5, paragraph B, of this agreement.  
 

Section  3. DURATION 
 
This Agreement which expressly supersedes the provisions of any other previous 
agreement, is the sole and complete agreement between the Employer and Employee. 
This Agreement shall become effective May 1, 2017 October 1, 2014, and shall continue 
in full force and effect until  June 30, 2020September 30, 2017. 
 
Section  4. SALARY 
 
From July 1, 20172013 to June 30, 20182014 Employee shall be paid an annual base 
salary of $113,850128,000 subject to review and adjustment by the City Council, 
agreeable to both parties of this agreement payable in installments at the same time as 
other employees of the Employer.  The Employee shall have an annual performance 
evaluation review on or about August 1 of each year during the term of the Agreement. 
Employee’s base salary shall be increased between zero and 3% at the discretion of the 
council upon a satisfactory performance evaluation annually on or about July 1.  
 
Section  5. TERMINATION AND SEVERANCE PAY 
 

A. In the event Employee is terminated without cause by the majority vote of the 
Council  
before the duration of this agreement has expired, the Employee will be provided 
a lump sum payment by payroll check equal to three (3)two (2) months aggregate 
salary. 
However, in the event the Employee is terminated for culpable cause, Employer 
shall have no obligation to pay the aggregate severance sum designated in this 
paragraph. The Employer shall include in a notification of termination of 
Employee, a statement of cause and a complete bill of particulars. 
 
The Employee may notify the Employer in writing that he requests an informal 
hearing before the Council. The informal hearing shall be held by the Council at its 
next regularly meeting following receipt of the request.  
 
The informal hearing may be opened or closed at the Employee's request. The 
Employee may be represented by counsel and may present and examine witnesses 
for the purpose of contesting the termination. Such witnesses shall be sworn. The 
Employee may examine witnesses presented by the Council, if any. The Employee 
and the Council shall advise each other in writing, at a mutually agreeable time 

179



 

3 
 

before the hearing (1) if they plan to be represented by counsel at the hearing and 
(2) provide to each other the names of witnesses that will testify at the hearing on 
their behalf. A written transcript, tape or similar recording of the proceedings shall 
be kept. Transcribed copies shall be furnished to the Employee at cost upon his 
request. The decision of Council shall be furnished to the Employee within a 
reasonable time upon conclusion of the informal hearing and shall include the basis 
for the decision. 
 
B. In the event Employee voluntarily resigns his position with Employer before the 
duration of this agreement has expired, the Employee shall give Employer 30 days 
notice in advance, unless both parties agree in writing.  
 

Section  6. EMPLOYEE EVALUATION 
 
A. Purpose 
Evaluation of the performance of the City attorney shall be directed toward improving 
the performance of the Employee. However, evaluations shall also serve as a method 
for gathering data relevant to subsequent employment status decisions pertaining to 
the Employee. 
 
B. Evaluation Instrument 
1. Council approved City attorney evaluation documents will be used. Factors to be 
considered will include, but not be limited to, administrative skills and techniques and 
interpersonal relationships with council members, city employees, general public and 
other business professionals. 
 
2. The Council Representative (Mayor) will provide the Employee with a copy of the 
Council approved evaluation instrument within thirty (30) days prior to the start of the 
Employee evaluation process. The Council representative (Mayor) will further discuss 
the evaluation procedure with the Employee. 
 
3. Before the Mayor provides the Employee with the evaluation instrument referred to 
in subparagraph B.2 above, the Council and Employee shall meet to review the 
evaluation instrument, and identify recommended improvements to it and to the 
evaluation process. 
 
C. Methodology 
1. The Council's evaluation of the City attorney will be in writing in accordance with 
Section 6. B above. The Employee may request one (1) additional written evaluation of 
her performance. 
 
2. Acknowledgement of content signed by both the Mayor and the Employee must 
appear on the evaluations placed in the Employee's personnel file. The Employee shall 
be informed that she has the right to review each written evaluation prior to filing in the 
personnel file with the opportunity to comment in writing. The request to comment on 

180



 

4 
 

her evaluation may not be used against her. 
 
3. Any written complaint made against the Employee by a City employee, council 
member, or other person(s) which may be used in evaluating the Employee shall be 
given to the Employee with the opportunity to respond in writing to the complaint.  
 
4. Unless mutually agreed otherwise by both the Employer and Employee; no portion 
of an evaluation may be made public except as allowed or required by law. 
 
Section  7. HOURS/DAYS OF WORK 
 
It is recognized that the position of City attorney is an executive position requiring the 
exercise of independent judgment on the part of the Employee and requiring periods of 
extended work that exceed the normal office hours, work day and work week 
established by the Employer. The Employee should be available during regular business 
hours. Employee will be expected to work whatever hours are needed based upon the 
demands of the job. Employee forever waives any claim for overtime compensation or 
compensatory time compensation based on hours worked by Employee in excess of 
eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per week. Any time in excess of the normal 
hours in a day or week is not compensated or credited in any manner. 
 
Section  8. OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT 
 
Outside employment and business pursuits are prohibited unless first authorized by 
Council. Any outside employment or business pursuits other than those authorized by 
Council must occur while Employee is on leave and must occur outside the regular 
business hours of the City. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any authorization by 
Council, the Employee is required to perform the duties of the City attorney when the 
interests of the City require without regard to regular work hours or days or the 
competing needs of the Employee's outside employment or business permits.  Council 
acknowledges Employee owns a separate business, Raven Fabrics and is authorized to 
conduct said business provided the operation of said business does not interfere with 
the Employee’s duties and requirements to the City. 
 
Section 9. COMPENSATED LEAVES 
 
A. Personal Time Off (PTO) 

PTO shall accrue at the rate of 21 hours per month of service. PTO can be accumulated 

up to a maximum accrual of 250400 hours. PTO should be requested two weeks in 

advance. Unscheduled PTO shall be utilized only for the illness of the Employee or 

illness in the Employee’s immediate family.  Should the employee be absent for more 

than three consecutive working days, she mayshall be required to provide a physician’s 

certificate to the Mayor. The employer agrees to compensate the employee for all 

remaining PTO hours at the time of termination of employment.  

181



 

5 
 

B. Emergency Leave 
The Employer agrees to grant the Employee a maximum of forty (40) hours leave for 
death or serious illness in the immediate family. For the purposes of this type of leave, 
one's immediate family includes the spouse of Employee, child, son-in-law, daughter-in-
law, parent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother and sister. 
 
C. Court Leave 

A. Employees called for jury duty shall be treated as being on approved leaved 
without loss of longevity, leave or pay. Service in court when subpoenaed as a 
witness shall be treated the same as jury duty. Fees paid by the court, other than 
those for an Employee’s appearance at any time outside the Employee’s regularly 
scheduled shift, for travel, parking and subsistence allowances, shall be remitted to 
the City.  

 
B. An Employee shall provide the City Council with a copy of a notice to call for jury 
duty immediately upon receipt by the Employee. When excused or released from 
Jury Duty for the day, the employee shall return to work immediately, allowing for 
delay for the period of time reasonably necessary to travel to and from home to 
change into work clothing. 

 
D. Holidays 
All holidays recognized by the Employer shall be granted to the Employee with holiday 
pay status provided the same as regular full time and regular part-time positions of the 
Employer. 
 
Section 10. BENEFITS 
 

A. Employee shall be allowed to participate in the City employee's group coverage 
plan for full family Life, Accidental Death & Dismemberment, Long Term Disability, 
Dental, Vision and Health insurance program with no premium deductibles charged 
to the employee. 
 
B. Employee shall have the opportunity to participate in the City Utility Services 
Benefit for the same monthly fee as paid by other management level employees. 
 
C. Employer agrees to purchase on behalf of Employee a whole life insurance policy 
in the amount of two (2) times the first annual gross salary of Employee. Employer 
shall pay the required premiums and Employee may name a beneficiary to receive 
any benefits paid.  
 
D. Retirement: The Employer shall offer the Employee the opportunity to join and 
participate in the Alaska Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) equal to that 
which is provided for all other employees of the Employer. 
 

182



 

6 
 

E.  Employer shall pay Employee’s annual Alaska Bar Dues and shall provide 
Employee opportunity to complete the required annual Continuing Legal Education 
(CLE) requirements at Employer’s expense not to exceed budgeted amount.  
 

Section 11. INDEMNIFICATION 
 

A. Employee agrees to hold harmless and indemnify Employer from and against any 
and all claims and damages, including costs and attorney's fees, caused by or 
resulting from any intentional or malicious act or omission by Employee during and 
in the scope of her position as City attorney. 
 
B. Employer agrees to hold harmless and indemnify Employee from and against any 
and all claims and damages, including costs and attorney's fees, caused by or 
resulting from any act or omission of ordinary negligence by Employee in and during 
the scope of her employment as City attorney, but only to the extent such an act or 
omission can be insured by Employer at reasonable, affordable premium costs 
charged by a reasonable, prudent underwriter in the normal course of purchasing 
municipal liability insurance coverage. 

 
Section 12. BONDING 
 
Employer shall bear full costs of any fidelity or other bonds required of the Employee 
under any law or ordinance. 
 
Section 13. OTHER TERMS AND CONDITONS OF EMPLOYMENT 
 
Council may consider any such other terms and conditions of employment, as it may 
determine from time to time, relating to the performance of Employee, provided such 
terms and conditions are not inconsistent with or in conflict with the provisions of this 
agreement, Bethel Municipal Code, or any other laws. 
 
Section 14. REDUCTION OF BENEFITS 
 
Employer shall not at any time during the term of this agreement reduce salary, 
compensation or other benefits of Employee. 
 
 
Section 15. NOTICES 
 
Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the 
United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 
(1) EMPLOYER: CITY OF BETHEL  c/o Mayor Joseph A. KlejkaRichard Robb  

PO Box 1388 
Bethel, AK 99559 

183



7 

(2) EMPLOYEE Patty Burley 
PO Box 2715 
Bethel, AK 99559 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to this agreement may be personally served in 
the same manner as applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as 
of the date of the personal service or as of the date of deposit of such notice in the 
course of transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

Section 16. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between both parties. Any 
modification or amendment shall be enforceable only if approved by a majority vote 
of the council in a dully convened public session, and if transcribed to a written 
document executed by both parties. 

B. This agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs at law 
and executors of the Employee. 

c. If any provisions or any portion thereof contained in this agreement is held
unconstitutional, invalid, or unenforceable, the remainder of this agreement, or 
portion thereof, shall be deemed severable. The remainder of this agreement shall 
not be affected and shall remain in full force and effect.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Bethel has caused this agreement to be signed and 
executed in its behalf by its Mayor and the Employee has signed and executed this 
agreement both in duplicate.  

Dated this___ day of April 2017October 2014. 

Employer: Employee: 

By: ________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Richard RobbJoseph A. Klejka, Mayor Patty Burley 
City of Bethel  

184



 

New Business   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

185



             Introduced by: Mayor Robb 
Introduction Date: April 25, 2017 

Public Hearing: May 9, 2017 
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel  Ordinance 17-22 

  1 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance #17-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE BETHEL CITY COUNCIL AMENDING 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AND ADOPTING FEES AND CHARGES FOR THE 

CITY OF BETHEL 
 
BE IT ORDAINED that the City Council of Bethel, Alaska, 
 
Section 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is not permanent in nature and shall not 
be placed in the Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
Section2  Amendments.  The City of Bethel Fees and Charges is amended, new 
language is underlines and old language is stricken.  

 

Amended Fees and Charges 

PLANNING  PRICE 

Utility Permit  $400.00 
     

 

Code Enforcement PRICE 

Junk Vehicles Removal, per vehicle if liquids are not drained 
$200.00 
$275.00 

Junk Vehicles Removed, per vehicle if liquids are drained $75.00 

Both Half day $115.00 
  

PORT AND HARBOR PRICE 

Seasonal Moorage for Floats $48.00 

Additional $12.00 Small Boat Harbor Seasonal Moorage per foot LOA $12.00 

Small Boat Harbor Use Permit (trailered vessels) $30.00 

Small Boat Harbor Use Permit  

(for Vessel Moored more than Four Days in the small boat harbor) 
$60.00 

 

 

Garbage & Landfill Rates PRICE 

Vehicle Disposal at the Dump, per Vehicle 
$200.00 

Free 

186



             Introduced by: Mayor Robb 
Introduction Date: April 25, 2017 

Public Hearing: May 9, 2017 
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel  Ordinance 17-22 

  2 

Vehicle Disposal at the Dump, per Vehicle without fluids/and or 
battery removed 

$300.00 
200.00 

Refrigerators and Freezers $40.00 

 

 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 
 
ENACTED THIS __DAY OF MAY 2017, BY A VOTE OF _ IN FAVOR AND _ 
OPPOSED.  
 
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

187



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
 Introduction Date April 25, 2017 

Public Hearing: May 9, 2017 
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-23 

  Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance #17-23 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION  
13.08.360 EXPERIMENTS AND INNOVATIONS 

 
WHEREAS, the Bethel Municipal Code allows for experimental and/or innovative 
processes or procedures for waste treatment; 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bethel is committed to reducing energy use; 
 
WHEREAS, currently the Code requires an applicant for an experimental and/or 
innovative waste treatment process to apply to the Public Works Committee;  
 
WHEREAS, while the work of the public works committee is invaluable, as with all 
committee’s their role is to provide recommendations to the governing body; 
 
WHEREAS, because committees and commissions are limited in authority, their ability to 
take action is questionable and thus their ability to issue permits is likely prohibited;  
 
WHEREAS, having the applications go directly to the public works director would assure 
the experiments and innovations are reviewed and inspected in accordance with 
applicable laws and ordinances, thus providing a more comprehensive safety check;  
 
NOW, BE IT ORDAINED, the City Council amends section 13.08.360 of the Bethel 
Municipal Code as outlined in this Ordinance;  
 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code.   
 
SECTION 2. Amendments. Bethel Municipal Code Section 13.08.360, Experiments and 
Innovations, is amended as follows (old language is stricken, new language is 
underlined):  
 

13.08.360 Experiments and innovations. 
Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prohibit the use of experimental and/or 

innovative processes or procedures for waste treatment. The operation of such device, 
process or procedure shall have the prior written approval of the public works director 
committee of the city council. The committee public works director shall approve all 
such devices, processes and procedures that are not in conflict with the health and 
welfare of the city. Applications for approval of such devices, processes and procedures 
shall be made to the public works director and any appeal from a decision of the public 

188



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
 Introduction Date April 25, 2017 

Public Hearing: May 9, 2017 
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska   Ordinance 17-23   

  Page 2 of 2 

works committee director shall be to the council as a whole in accordance with the 
appeal procedures set out in section 2.45 of the BMC. 

 
 

SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 
 
ENACTED THIS    DAY OF APRIL 2017, BY A VOTE OF   IN FAVOR 
AND    OPPOSED.  
 
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 

189



Introduced by: Mayor Robb 
Date: April 25, 2017 

Public Hearing:  
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska        Ordinance #17-24 

    1 of 2   

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance #17-24 
 

AN ORDINANCEAMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE 4.16.030, 
IMPOSITION-RATE REDUCING SALES TAX FROM 6% TO 5.75% 

 

Whereas, Bethel City Council Raised Water and Sewer Rates effective January 1, 2015; 

Whereas, the intent of the raised rates is to insure the water and sewer enterprise 
fund is self-sufficient; 

Whereas, the water and sewer enterprise fund historically lost approximately $400-
$600 thousand dollars each year, and required a transfer from the general 
fund; 

Whereas, this raise in water and sewer rates, although necessary, causes a financial 
hardship on the people of Bethel; 

Whereas, the large transfer from the general fund should no longer be necessary; 

Whereas, the general fund had an operational surplus in FY 11,FY 12, FY 13 and FY 
14, FY15, FY16 and is anticipated to have one from FY17 and FY18; 

Whereas, the unreserved fund balance from the general fund is now at approximately 
$8.9 million; 

Whereas the Solid Waste Disposal enterprise fund consistently generates a profit and 
has a fund balance; 

Whereas, the Municipal Dock Enterprise fund consistently generates a profit, and has a 
fund balance; 

Whereas, the City has new revenue in the form of Alcohol Sales Tax, which is 
expected to anticipated at $689,000 for FY 17; 

Whereas, we are now in a position for a slight reduction in sales tax; 

SECTION 1.   Classification.  This ordinance is of permanent nature and shall become a 
part of the Bethel Municipal Code. 
 

190



Introduced by: Mayor Robb 
Date: April 25, 2017 

Public Hearing:  
Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska        Ordinance #17-24 

    2 of 2   

SECTION 2.   Amendment.  Bethel Municipal Code 4.16.030 is amended to read, new 
language is underlines, old language is stricken.   

4.16.030 Imposition – Rate. 

A. There is levied and shall be collected a sales tax on all sales transactions in the city 
unless specifically exempted under this chapter. The tax is six (6) percent Five and 
three quarters (5.75) percent of the selling price. 

B. The tax to be added to the sale price shall be twelve (12) percent for alcohol and 
transient lodging. 

C. The tax to be added to the sale price shall be fifteen (15) percent for marijuana retail 
sales. 

Section 3.  Effective Date. 
This Ordinance shall become effective upon the passage by the City Council.  
 
 
ENACTED THIS __ DAY OF APRIL BY A VOTE OF - IN FAVOR AND - OPPOSED. 
 
 
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 

191



Introduced by:

Introduction Date:

Public Hearing: May 9, 2017

Action:

Vote:

Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

Change to E-911

Increases

41-50-649 Other Professional Services 59,333 

Total Increases 59,333 

Decreases

Total Decreases 0 

TOTAL Net Change to E-911 Fund Appropriations 59,333 

Change to Revenues  Increase/(Decrease) 0

Change to Appropriations  Increase/(Decrease) 59,333

These changes INCREASE↑ the overall expenditures/expenses of the City by 59,333

Section 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance becomes effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS __ DAY OF NOVEMBER 2016 BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ OPPOSED.

ATTEST:

_____________________________

Lori Strickler, City Clerk

TOTAL CHANGE TO OVERALL CITY BUDGET

                                                                                          ____________________________________

                                                                       Richard Robb, Mayor

An Ordinance of the Bethel City Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2017 Budget

Be it Enacted by the Bethel City Council that the FY 2017 Annual Budget be amended as follows:

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

E-911 Services (41)

Peter Williams, Acting City 
Manager

April 25, 2017

ORDINANCE # 16-17 (l)

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for 

Fiscal Year 2017, July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017.

         City of Bethel
Ordinance # 16-17 (l)

1 of 1

192



 

       Bethel Police Department | P.O. Box 809 | 157 Salmonberry Rd. | Bethel, Alaska 99559 

                 Telephone 907-543-3781 | Fax 907-543-5086 | www.cityofbethel.org 

 

City of Bethel 

PPoolliiccee  DDeeppaarrttmmeenntt 
              
 

 
DATE:  April 18, 2017 

 

TO:  City Council  

 

CC:  Peter Williams, City Manager 

 

FROM: Andre Achee, Chief of Police 

 

RE:   Justification for Budget Modification to E-911 MSA 

 

 

The City of Bethel received a State Homeland Security Grant to purchase an Airbus DS 

Communications VESTA 9-1-1 system, which included software, firmware, and 

hardware.  The purchase and installation was completed by ProComm Alaska, an 

Anchorage company approved as a sole source vendor and installer by the City of Bethel 

and the Alaska Division of Homeland Security and Emergency Management.  The 

system was installed, tested, commissioned, and dispatchers were trained by July 31, 

2016. 

 

The City of Bethel approved a Managed Service Agreement (MSA) with ProComm 

Alaska for a period of 5 years for a total cost of $203,335.00 with annual payments of 

$40,667.00 on November 8, 2016.  A budget modification was approved and $40,677.00 

was subsequently transferred to the E 9-1-1 Professional Service Account (41-50-649) for 

FY 17. 

 

A language change was requested in the MSA agreement by the City, which resulted in a 

change to the scheduled payments.  ProComm Alaska agreed to the language change, but 

required a payment schedule change.  The cost of the 5-year MSA agreement remains the 

same at 203,355.  The yearly installment payment changed to $100,000 for the first year, 

and 25,833.75 each year for the remaining four years. 

 

A budget modification and transfer of $59,333 (affecting Account #41-50-649) is 

required to continue and maintain our MSA with ProComm Alaska.  The current fund 

balance in the E-911 (41-50) is approximately $323,581.  

 

 

 

193



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-30 

Date action introduced: 4/25/2017 Introduced 

by:   

Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-30  

Approve the Mayor’s appointment of Jared Karr to the Public Safety and Transportation Commission for 
a term of three years. 

Route to:  Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 
 
 

Police Chief, Andre Achee   

 

Attachment(s):   

 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information: 

X No fiscal impact  

 

Action Memorandum 17-30 is sponsored by Mayor Robb, at the request of the City Clerk’s 
Office. 

Jared Karr has requested appointment to the Public Safety and Transportation Commission. If 
appointed, he would be appointed to a term of three years as an Alternate member with a term 
expiration of December 31, 2019. 

194



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-31 

Date action introduced: 04/25/2017 Introduced by:   City Manager Williams 

Date action taken: 
 

☐      Approved             ☐                    Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-31  

Directing the City Manager to enter into a contract with the successful proposer for General 
Insurance Broker Services 
 

Route to:  Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

X Jim Chevigny, Finance Director & 
Purchasing Agent 

  

X Peter Williams, City Manager   

X Patty Burley, City Attorney PB Contract Reviewed 

 
Attachment(s):  Copy of RFP; Draft Contract 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information:  
No fiscal impact  

 Funds are budgeted.  

X Funds are not budgeted. 
Budget modification is required. 

  

 Grant funding.   
 
Summary Statement: 

As part of the City’s efforts to bring old agreements into compliance with the procurement 
codes, in January of 2017, the City of Bethel issued an RFP for General Insurance Broker 
Services.  Two addenda were issued during the time the RFP was open.  The first addenda 
extended all deadlines.  The second addenda answered questions about current coverages for 
the City, clarified that the transmittal and cover letter were the same and answered that notice 
to the current carrier had not been provided. 
 
Four responses were ultimately received.  During the RFP period, no protests were received.  
The RFP’s were scored by a panel of three (3) employees.  None of the scorers knew the 
proposed price.  Before reviewing the scores, the purchasing agent reviewed the prices 
submitted and scored them per the terms of the RFP: lowest price earning the highest points 
and highest price earning the lowest points.  Ultimately the purchasing agent combined the 
points assigned by the reviewers to the points assigned to the points. 
 
Based on the scores, a Notice of Intent to Award was issued on April 4, 2017 to the top scoring 
respondent.  A protest to the award was timely filed on April 10.  On April 17, the City Manager 
ruled that a Stay of Award was moot as a decision would be forthcoming before the Council 
would even consider an award.  On April 18, the City Manager issued his decision, in writing, on 
the appeal. 
 

195



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-31 

Date action introduced: 04/25/2017 Introduced by:   City Manager Williams 

Date action taken: 
 

☐      Approved             ☐                    Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-31  

Based on the scores outlined below, a contract is being requested for the highest scoring 
proposer: 
 
 

Company Scorer 1 Scorer 2 Scorer 3 Price Score Total Score 

A 85 73 77 7 242 

B 68 62 68 10.7 208.7 

C 79 58 55 15 207 

D 80 41 52 15 188 
 

196



1 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
FOR 

BROKER SERVICES 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this 26th day of April 2017, by and between the CITY 

OF BETHEL (a municipal corporation) and . 

Section 01 Definition 
In this Agreement: 

A. The term "City" means the City of Bethel. 

B. The term "Broker" means. 

Section 02 Employment of Broker 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Broker and the Broker hereby agrees to perform the 

services hereafter set forth. 

Section 03 Scope of Services 
3.01 Analysis: Broker will perform a thorough analysis of the City’s current policy in relation to 
the City’s risks, responsibilities, services provided, facilities owned, and the way the City does 
business. Broker will prepare a report outlining areas where the City may be over-insured and 
underinsured and suggesting how the City can save money and reduce risk.   This task will be 
completed by August 1, 2017. 

 

1.02 Program Administration:  Broker will provide City with Program Administration which 
includes, but is not limited to the following: 

 Acting as an independent insurance advisor to the City and proactively providing ongoing 
unbiased professional advice and recommendations that benefit the City. 

 Proactively providing ongoing review and analysis of the City’s insurance programs and 
identification of risk transfer and risk financing options. 

 Being familiar with the major exposures of the City. 

 Being familiar with the coverage provided by all relevant insurance policies and 
documents issued to the City. 

 Assuring that insurance policies are placed in a timely manner, without lapses in 
coverage periods, with reputable and financially responsible insurers; 

 Providing service for the insurance policies placed for the City including processing all 
changes and endorsements and verifying the accuracy of invoices within a reasonable 
time. 

 Providing early warning of rate and coverage changes or renewal problems. 

 Upon request of the City, but at least once a year, providing a comprehensive report 
that reviews all of the City’s insurance programs. 

 Monitoring the City’s operations and loss exposures and making any appropriate 

197



2 
 

recommendations for coverage changes or new coverage. 

 Being reasonably available to answer questions or obtain answers from underwriters for 
policy coverage questions. 

 Meeting with City staff and designated representatives as reasonably requested. 

 Providing consultation services and written reports as normally expected of a 
professional broker to a large client. 

 Providing loss control services and assistance with claims as requested by the City; 

 Assisting in analyzing loss exposures from existing and new operations, and determining 
the appropriate risk management alternatives, including types, availability, costs and 
extent of coverage that should be considered. 

 Proving brokerage and consulting services for annual policy renewals and on an as 
needed basis to include a thorough renewal presentation each year at least sixty (60) 
days before current policy expiration date or policy notice dates, whichever is soonest, 
with policy recommendations to include an analysis of available alternatives in 
consideration of City’s exposures  as well as market research, policy endorsements, 
certificates of insurance, and coverage consultation on claims filed against the City.  

 Providing advice on a continuing basis, and in a timely manner, of any and all 
significant matters and developments regarding carrier service issues. 

 
1.03 Policy Review 

Broker will review policies and other documents in detail within fourteen (14) days of 
receipt of the documents.  Check the wording and accuracy of each policy, binder, 
certificate, endorsement or other document received from insurers. Ensure that the 
intended coverage is provided, all coverage, terms, conditions and other wording is 
complete and accurate, and in compliance with financial arrangements and 
administrative procedures acceptable to the City. Obtain revisions needed to achieve 
compliance with coverage request. 
 

1.04 Policy Amendments 
Broker will process requests for additions or deletions to policies within five (5) business 
days of receipt. Provide follow up with insurer that the insurer has handled the request. 
Advise in writing of any changes to insurance policy(ies) within 14 days. 
 

1.05 Marketing 
Broker will: 

 Monitor expiration dates of policies and provide the City with written notification at 
least n i n e t y  ( 90) days prior to expiration, including a description of information 
needed to process the renewal. 

 Develop and implement a marketing strategy, including identifying potential markets, for 
program renewals at least ninety (90) days before policy expiration. 

 Develop underwriting information and assist in gathering and organizing exposure and 
loss data for renewals of policies placed. 

198



3 
 

 Work with carriers to design policies and programs most advantageous to the City for 
coverage of exposures, policy form, exclusions, deductibles, self-insured retentions, 
coordination with other policies, costs and other pertinent factors. 

 Market renewal coverage for the City by obtaining timely and competitive quotations 
from available and responsible insurers & re-insurers. 

 Provide quotations to the City at least thirty (30) days prior to insurance policy 
expiration unless otherwise approved by the City. 

 If requested by the City, provide the City with copies of declination letters and all 
premium quotations received with a summary of coverage explaining deficiencies or 
benefits of the quote compared to the recommended insurance program. 

 Provide quotations for specialized types of insurance, as requested by the City. 

 Assist the City in negotiation of the terms of insurance policies. 

 Place, cancel and otherwise handle all placements, binders, policies and endorsements.   

 Review policies upon receipt to verify conformance to the specifications and negotiations 
and request and monitor required changes.   

 
1.06 Claims 

 Assist City staff, as necessary, with filing claims. 

 Work with outside claims adjustors as necessary. 

 Represent the interests of the City in policy interpretation and other negotiations with 
insurance carriers. 

 Assist the City with review of claim reserves, and represent the City to the insurer 
with regard to requested explanation or reduction of reserve amounts. Follow-up with 
insurer as necessary until resolution of any reserve reduction requests are 
accomplished or until claim is closed. 

 Provide annual summaries by policy year for each of the last five years indicating total 
number of losses by type for each line of coverage and showing earned premium, 
incurred losses and loss ratio. 

 
1.07 Certificates of Insurance 

 Issue certificates of insurance within three (3) business days following the date of 
request. 

 Review certificates of insurance to determine their conformance with all requirement 
and maintain a current file of all such certificates of insurance. 

 
1.08 Contract Review 

Review contracts and lease agreements as requested and notify the City whether the 
insurance programs of the City are in compliance with insurance requirements of 
contracts and/or agreements. 
 

1.09 Risk Management Information 
Present loss record and report data relating to injuries to persons and damages to 
property, and all related costs, claims and settlements.  Prepare such reports, explanatory 

199



4 
 

booklets, studies, plans, manuals, policies, rate determinations and analyses as may be 
necessary or desirable or as may be requested by the City in connection with its insurance, 
risk management and safety and loss prevention program.  

 
Section 04 Personnel 

Personnel shall be limited to employees of Combs Insurance Agency, Inc. 

Section 05 Term 

This Agreement shall be deemed in force as of April 26, 2017 and shall remain in effect until 

June 30, 2022 unless terminated as hereinafter provided and subject to funds properly 

appropriated by the City Council.   

Section 06 Compensation 

A. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the City shall pay the Broker a fixed fee 

each month as follows: 

 1.  During Year One: April 26, 2017 to June 30, 2018 - $5,300 per month 

 2.  During Year Two: July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 - $5,459 per month 

 3.  During Year Three: July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 - $5,623 per month 

 4.  During Year Four : July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2021 - $5,792 per month 

 5.  During Year Five: July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 - $5,965 per month 

 

B. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the City shall not provide any 

additional compensation, payment, service or other thing of value to the Broker in connection 

with performance of Agreement duties.  The parties understand and agree that, except as 

otherwise provided in this section, administrative overhead and other indirect or direct costs 

the Broker may incur in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement have already 

been included in computation of the Broker’s fee and may not be charged to the City. 

C. Total compensation shall not exceed:  

1.  Sixty Three Thousand Six Hundred ($63,600) Dollars (year one) 

2.  Sixty Five Thousand Five Hundred Eight ($65,508) Dollars (year two) 

3.  Sixty Seven Thousand Four Hundred Seventy Six ($67,476) Dollars (year three)  

4.  Sixty Nine Thousand Five Hundred Four ($69,504) Dollars (year four) and 

5.  Seventy One Thousand Five Hundred Eighty ($71,580) Dollars (year five) 

without the express written authorization of the City.   

 

 

200



5 
 

Section 07 Method and Time of Payment 
A. Broker shall invoice monthly and City’s payments are due within thirty (30) days of each 

invoice date.  Such payments shall constitute the full and complete compensation for the 

Broker professional services.     

B. All invoices must be submitted in duplicate and addressed as follows: 
City of Bethel 
Attn: Finance Director 
PO Box 1388 
Bethel AK 99559-1388 
 

Section 08 Termination of Agreement for Cause 
If, through any cause, the Broker shall fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner the 
obligations under this Agreement or if the Broker shall violate any of the covenants, 
agreements, or stipulations of this Agreement, the City shall thereupon have the right to 
terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Broker of such termination and 
specifying the effective date thereof, at least five (5) days before the effective date of such 
termination.  All finished or unfinished documents, and reports or other material prepared by 
the Broker under this Agreement are the property of the City and shall be delivered to the City 
by or upon the effective date of termination.  The Broker shall be entitled to receive 
compensation in accordance with the payment provisions of this Agreement only for work 
completed to the City's satisfaction in accordance with Section 3 of this Agreement and the 
other terms of this Agreement. 
 
Section 09 Termination for Non-Availability of Government Funds 
If the City Council fails to appropriate sufficient funds or to authorize the expenditure of 
sufficient funds to continue service under this Agreement, City may submit a written notice to 
Broker terminating this Agreement.  Such notice shall be in writing and shall be not less than 
thirty (30) days prior to the date of termination.  The notice shall include a written statement 
documenting the reason for termination and an official document certifying the non-availability 
of funds (e.g., city council action; official budget or other official government document).  City 
shall be liable to Broker for all charges and costs incurred for products and/or services prior to 
the effective date of the termination.   
 
Section 10 Modifications 
The parties may mutually agree to modify the terms of the Agreement.  Modifications to the 
Agreement shall be incorporated into the Agreement by written amendments.  
 
Section 11 Equal Employment Opportunity 

The Broker will not discriminate against any party because of race, national origin, color, age, 

creed, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, political affiliation, marital status, 

ancestry, disability, or status as a disabled veteran. 

201



6 
 

 Section 12 Assignability 
A. The Broker shall not assign any interest in this Agreement and shall not transfer any 
interest in the same (whether by assignment or novation) without the prior written consent of 
the City, thereto; provided, however that claims for money due or to become due to the Broker 
from the City under this Agreement may be assigned by court order or to a bank, trust 
company, or other financial institution without such approval.  Notice of any such assignment 
or transfer shall be furnished promptly to the City, or the Broker shall be responsible to the City 
for any moneys due the assignee of this Agreement which are paid directly to the Broker. 
B. The Broker shall not delegate duties or otherwise subcontract work or services under 
this Agreement without the prior written approval of the City. 
 
Section 13 Permits, Laws and Taxes 
The Broker shall acquire and maintain in good standing all permits, licenses and other 
entitlements necessary to the performance under this Agreement.  All actions taken by the 
Broker under this Agreement shall comply with all applicable statutes, ordinances, rules and 
regulations.  The Broker shall pay all taxes pertaining to its performance under this Agreement. 
 
Section 14 Relationship of the Parties 
In the performance of services under this Agreement, the Broker shall be, and acknowledges 
that Broker is, in fact and law, an independent contractor and not an agent or employee of the 
City.  Broker has and retains the right to exercise full supervision and control of the manner and 
methods of providing services to City under this Agreement.  The City may administer this 
Agreement and monitor the Broker compliance with this Agreement but shall not supervise or 
otherwise direct the Broker. 
 
Section 15 Defense and Indemnification  
The Broker shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the City from and against any claim of, 
or liability for negligent acts, errors or omissions of the Broker under this Agreement.  The 
Broker shall not be required to indemnify the City for a claim of, or liability for, the independent 
negligence of the City.  If there is a claim of, or liability for, the joint negligent error or omission 
of the Broker and the independent negligence of the City, the indemnification and hold 
harmless obligation shall be apportioned on a comparative fault basis.  Broker and "City," as 
used within this article, include the employees, agents and other Broker/contractors who are 
directly responsible, respectively, to each.  The term "independent negligence" is negligence 
other than in the City's selection, administration, monitoring, or controlling of the Broker and in 
approving or accepting the Broker work.   
 

Section 16 Interpretation and Enforcement 
This Agreement is being executed by the parties following negotiations between them.  It shall 
be construed according to the fair intent of the language as a whole, not for or against any 
party.  The titles of sections in this Agreement are not to be construed as limitations or 
definitions but are for identification purposes only.  
 
 

202



7 
 

Section 17 Severability 
If any section or clause of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or 
is otherwise invalid under the law, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect.  
 
Section 18 Understanding 
The Broker acknowledges that the Broker has read and understands the terms of this 
Agreement, has had the opportunity to review the same with counsel of their choice, and is 
executing this Agreement of their own free will. 
 
 
Section 19 Notices 
Any notice required pertaining to the subject matter of the Agreement shall be personally 
delivered or mailed by prepaid first-class, registered or certified mail to the following address: 

City:   Legal Department 
   City of Bethel 
   PO Box 1388 
   Bethel AK 99559 
 
Broker:    
 

CITY OF BETHEL     BROKER 

 

             

By: Peter A. Williams     By:    

Title: City Manager     Title: President    

Dated:        Dated:     

 

 

 

203



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-32 

Date action introduced: 04/25/2017 Introduced by:   City Manager Williams 

Date action taken: 
 

☐      Approved             ☐                    Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-32  

Directing the City Manager to enter into a contract with the successful bidder to install the 
Helical Piers for the Institutional Corridor Project 
 

Route to:  Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

X Jim Chevigny, Finance Director & 
Purchasing Agent 

  

X Peter Williams, City Manager   

X Patty Burley, City Attorney PB Contract Reviewed 

X Bill Arnold, Public Works Director   

 
Attachment(s):  Draft Contract 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information:  
No fiscal impact  

X Funds are budgeted.  

 Funds are not budgeted. 
Budget modification is required. 

  

 Grant funding.   
 
Summary Statement: 
As part of the Institutional Corridor Project, a request for bids was issued on March 10, 2017 and was 
advertised for 32 days.  A total of five addenda were issued while the bid was open.  Due to Code 
requirements and the timing of the addenda, the bid deadline was extended twice. 
 
On April 12, the final bid deadline, a total of four (4) bids had been received.  Later that day a bid arrived 
in the mail but that bid was received after the deadline so it was not counted.  No protests were filed 
during the time the bid was open.  No protests were received after notice was sent of the bid award.  
 
The bids received were as follows: 

Contractor  Base Bid  

STG, Inc.  $321,700 

Denali General Contractors $475,000 

Salzburn Services $547,489 

Ridge Contracting Inc. $668,750 

Wolverine Supply Inc. Unopened – Late 

 
As the lowest responsive bidder, STG is being awarded the contract as attached for council review.   

204



 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

 
EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price). 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.    Page 1 of 7 

SECTION 00 52 13 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between City of Bethel  P.O. Box 1388 Bethel, AK 99559 (“Owner”) and 

STG Incorporated (“Contractor”). 

Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 – WORK 

1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is 
generally described as follows: 

ARTICLE 2 – THE PROJECT 

2.01 The Project, of which the Work under the Contract Documents is a part, is generally described as 
follows:  Install approximately 165 Helical Piers or Driven Piles in support of the Institutional Corridor 
Piped Water System. 

ARTICLE 3 – ENGINEER 

3.01 The Project has been designed by DOWL - 4041 B Street, Anchorage, AK 99503 

3.02 The Owner has retained DOWL (“Engineer”) to act as Owner’s representative, assume all duties and 
responsibilities, and have the rights and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in 
connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 4 – CONTRACT TIMES 

4.01 Time of the Essence 

A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for 
final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. 

4.02 Contract Times: Dates 

A. The Work will be substantially completed on or before _January 31, 2018__, and completed and 
ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the Standard General Conditions 
on or before __February 15, 2018___. 

4.03 Liquidated Damages 

A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in Paragraph 4.01 above and 
that Owner will suffer financial and other losses if the Work is not completed and Milestones not 
achieved within the times specified in Paragraph 4.02 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed 
in accordance with the Contract. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties 
involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding the actual loss suffered by Owner if the 

205



 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

 
EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price). 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.    Page 2 of 7 

Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, Owner and 
Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty): 

1. Substantial Completion: Contractor shall pay Owner $__500____ for each day that expires 
after the time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified in Paragraph 4.02.A above 
for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete. 

2. Completion of Remaining Work: After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, 
refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time (as duly adjusted 
pursuant to the Contract) for completion and readiness for final payment, Contractor shall 
pay Owner $___500____ for each day that expires after such time until the Work is 
completed and ready for final payment. 

3. Liquidated damages for failing to timely attain Substantial Completion and final completion 
are not additive and will not be imposed concurrently. 

4. Milestones: Contractor shall pay Owner $_______ for each day that expires after the time (as 
duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified above for achievement of Milestone 1, until 
Milestone 1 is achieved. 

B. Bonus: Contractor and Owner further recognize the Owner will realize financial and other benefits 
if the Work is completed prior to the time specified for Substantial Completion.  Accordingly, 
Owner and Contractor agree that as a bonus for early completion, Owner shall pay Contractor 
$__________ for each day prior to the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 for Substantial Completion 
(as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) that the Work is substantially complete.  The 
maximum value of the bonus shall be limited to $__________. 

ARTICLE 5 – CONTRACT PRICE 

5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
the amounts that follow, subject to adjustment under the Contract: 

A. For all Work, at the prices stated in Contractor’s Bid, attached hereto as an exhibit. 

ARTICLE 6 – PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

6.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments 

A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 15 of the Standard 
General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as provided in the 
General Conditions. 

6.02 Progress Payments; Retainage 

A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor’s 
Applications for Payment on or about the _1st (first)_ day of each month during performance of 
the Work as provided in Paragraph 6.02.A.1 below, provided that such Applications for Payment 
have been submitted in a timely manner and otherwise meet the requirements of the Contract. 
All such payments will be measured by the Schedule of Values established as provided in the 
General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) 
or, in the event there is no Schedule of Values, as provided elsewhere in the Contract. 

206



 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

 
EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price). 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.    Page 3 of 7 

1. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the 
percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously 
made and less such amounts as Owner may withhold, including but not limited to liquidated 
damages, in accordance with the Contract 

a. Ninety (90) percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage), and 

b. Ninety (90) percent of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work 
(with the balance being retainage). 

B. Upon Substantial Completion of the entire Work to be provided under the Contact Documents, 
Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total payments to Contractor to Ninety-eight 
(98) percent of the Work completed, less such amounts set off by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 
15.01.E of the Standard General Conditions, and less Two (2) percent of Engineer’s estimate of the 
value of Work to be completed or corrected as shown on the punch list of items to be completed 
or corrected prior to final payment. 

6.03 Final Payment 

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the 
Standard General Conditions, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as 
recommended by Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 15.06. 

ARTICLE 7 – INTEREST 

7.01 All amounts not paid when due shall bear interest at the rate of Eight (8) percent per annum. 

ARTICLE 8 – CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 

8.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Contract, Contractor makes the following representations: 

A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents, and any data and 
reference items identified in the Contract Documents. 

B. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and 
adjacent areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site 
conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work. 

D. Contractor has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions 
at or adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, 
especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings, and (2) reports and 
drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at or adjacent to the Site that 
have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in 
such reports and drawings. 

E. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor itself; information commonly 
known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations 
obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and 
drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, 

207



 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

 
EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price). 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.    Page 4 of 7 

observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by 
Contractor; and (3) Contractor’s safety precautions and programs. 

F. Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, Contractor 
agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are 
necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and 
in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract. 

G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 

H. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies 
that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by 
Engineer is acceptable to Contractor. 

I. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms 
and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

J. Contractor’s entry into this Contract constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Contractor 
that without exception all prices in the Agreement are premised upon performing and furnishing 
the Work required by the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

9.01 Contents 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 

1. This Agreement (EJCDC C-520 pages 1 to _7_  _, inclusive). 

2. Performance bond (EJCDC C-610 pages _  1__ to __3  _, inclusive). 

3. Payment bond (EJCDC C-615 pages _  1__ to _3  __, inclusive). 

4. Other bonds. 

a. __ _ (pages __   _ to __ _, inclusive). 

5. Standard General Conditions (EJCDC C-700 pages __1  _ to _ 68__, inclusive). 

6. Supplementary Conditions (EJCDC C-800 pages _ 1 __ to _  7_, inclusive). 

7. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual. 

8. Drawings (not attached but incorporated by reference) consisting of _ 6_ sheets with each 
sheet bearing the following general title: Institutional Corridor Piped Water System Phase I 
Installation of Helical Piers or Driven Piles.   

9. Addenda (numbers _  1__ to _ 5 __, inclusive). 

10. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 

a. Contractor’s Bid (pages __1  _ to __16  _, inclusive). 

11. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract 
and are not attached hereto: 

208



 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

 
EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price). 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.    Page 5 of 7 

a. Notice to Proceed. 

b. Work Change Directives. 

c. Change Orders. 

d. Field Orders. 

B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly 
noted otherwise above). 

C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9. 

D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in the 
General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 10 – MISCELLANEOUS 

10.01 Terms 

A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

10.02 Assignment of Contract 

A. Unless expressly agreed to elsewhere in the Contract, no assignment by a party hereto of any 
rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the 
written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, money 
that may become due and money that is due may not be assigned without such consent (except to 
the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated 
to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge 
the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents. 

10.03 Successors and Assigns 

A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the 
other party hereto, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, 
agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

10.04 Severability 

A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law 
or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and 
binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to 
replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes 
as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 

10.05 Contractor’s Certifications 

A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices 
in competing for or in executing the Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 10.05: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of value 
likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in the Contract 
execution; 

209



 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

 
EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price). 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.    Page 6 of 7 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence 
the bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of Owner, (b) to 
establish Bid or Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of 
the benefits of free and open competition; 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or 
without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish Bid prices at artificial, 
non-competitive levels; and 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or 
their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of 
the Contract. 

10.06 Other Provisions 

A. Owner stipulates that if the General Conditions that are made a part of this Contract are based on 
EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions for the Construction Contract, published by the 
Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee®, and if Owner is the party that has furnished said 
General Conditions, then Owner has plainly shown all modifications to the standard wording of 
such published document to the Contractor, through a process such as highlighting or “track 
changes” (redline/strikeout), or in the Supplementary Conditions. 

  

210



 

AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE) 
 

 
EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction Contract (Stipulated Price). 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.    Page 7 of 7 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Agreement.  

This Agreement will be effective on _____         _____ (which is the Effective Date of the Contract). 

 
 
OWNER:  CONTRACTOR: 

City of Bethel  STG Incorporated 

By:   By:  

Title:   Title:  

  
(If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint 
venture, attaches evidence of authority to sign.)   

Attest:   Attest:  

Title:   Title:  

Address for giving notices:  Address for giving notices: 

   

   

   

  

License or 
Registration 
No.:  

   
(where applicable) 

 

211



17-33
April 25, 2017

17-33

212



213



17-34
April 25, 2017

17-34
214



SDS Database Entries 
Due March 25, 2017 
City of Bethel 
 
Project Title: Sixth & Seventh Avenue Sewer Extensions 
Phase 1 
 
Scope 
Purchase and install 3” HDPE sewer trunk pipe from the existing sewer pipe located behind the 
Tundra Center to Willow Street and stop. The straight pipe would be 1,000 linear feet. It would 
connect to the existing sewer line that runs north to south, between 6th Avenue and 7th Avenue. 
The yellow line on the map shows the existing sewer line. The red line that runs east to west on 
the map represents the new sewer main being proposed for Phase 1 of the project. The red 
dots on the map indicate approximately where the 18-20 lift stations would be positioned in 
order to connect the buildings in the area to the new sewer pipe. 
 
The project will connect to an estimated 18 properties and at least one property has several 
buildings on it. These several buildings might require three small lift stations. That is why the 
estimate is for 18 to 20 lift stations or connections. 
 
The project requires a glycol line to be purchased and installed directly under the sewer main 
line. Heated glycol running through the glycol line will keep the contents in the sewer pipe from 
freezing. 
 
The project requires a boiler house to produce heat for the glycol line. The ideal location for a 
boiler house is on the Tundra Center property. The Tundra Center is a privately operated 
prison. The owner of the Tundra Center could sign an easement and/or lease agreement with 
the City of Bethel to firmly establish the City’s right to construct and operate a boiler house. 
 
The second best place for a boiler house is on the City land where the Main Lift Station now 
sits. This lift station is located across from the Bethel Native Council apartment complex, near 
the Bethel Heights Water Treatment Plant. 
 
This project will connect 18 properties. At least one property is an apartment building that 
houses multiple families. There might be 1-3 commercial properties included in these 
connections. One connection is a church. The number of native homes is 17. 
 
Each connection to a building requires a service box. Inside the service box are controls to turn 
the lift station for that connection on and off. Only the City has access to the service box. Each 
connection to a building requires a lift station. In rare cases, multiple buildings might be 
connected to one lift station. 
 
  

215



Budget 
 
The table below shows the cost for this project. 
 

Item Cost 
Lift stations (18-20) @ $50,000/lift station. $1,000,000 
Trunk line (1,000 linear feet) $500,000 
Boiler House $300,000 

Total $1,800,000 
 
Timeline 
 
The City anticipates the completion of this project according to the timeline below. 
 

Project Activity Date 
Design Start December 1, 2017 
Design Complete March 5, 2018 
Construction Start May 1, 2018 
Construction Complete July 31, 2018 
Final Inspection August 10, 2018 
Warranty Inspection August 13, 2018 
Final Report Date August 24, 2018 

 
Attachments 

1. Map of Project Location > 6th and 7th Avenues in Bethel, Alaska 

216



SDS Database Entries 
Due March 25, 2017 
City of Bethel 
 
Project Title: Sixth & Seventh Avenue Sewer Extensions 
Phase 2 
 
Scope 
Purchase and install 3” HDPE sewer trunk pipe from the existing sewer pipe on Willow Street to 
Main Street. The terminus on Willow Street will be a result of the completion of Phase 1. This 
new trunk line will run in the back of the properties between 6th Avenue and 7th Avenue. It will 
be approximately 1,000 linear feet. The green line on the Map attached shows the intended 
sewer pipe path. The green dots on the map indicate where the individual lift station locations 
for all of the connections. The City anticipates connecting 33 properties in Phase 2. 
 
The project requires a glycol line to be purchased and installed directly under the sewer main 
line. Heated glycol running through the glycol line will keep the contents in the sewer pipe from 
freezing. The project would use the boiler house constructed as part of Phase 1 to heat its 
glycol line.  
 
This project will connect 33 properties. At least one property is an apartment building that 
houses multiple families. There might be 1-3 commercial properties included in these 
connections. One connection is a church. The number of native homes is 31. 
 
Each connection to a building requires a service box. Inside the service box are controls to turn 
the lift station for that connection on and off. Only the City has access to the service box. Each 
connection to a building requires a lift station. In rare cases, multiple buildings might be 
connected to one lift station. 
 
Budget 
 
The table below shows the cost for this project. 
 

Item Cost 
Lift stations (33) @ $50,000/lift station. $1,650,000 
Trunk line (1,000 linear feet) $500,000 
  

Total $2,150,000 
 
  

217



Timeline 
 
The City anticipates the completion of this project according to the timeline below. 
 

Project Activity Date 
Design Start December 1, 2017 
Design Complete March 5, 2018 
Construction Start May 1, 2018 
Construction Complete July 31, 2018 
Final Inspection August 10, 2018 
Warranty Inspection August 13, 2018 
Final Report Date August 24, 2018 

 
Attachments 

1. Map of Project Location > 6th and 7th Avenues in Bethel, Alaska 

218



Map of 6th and 7th Avenue Sewer Extensions 

= existing sewer line  = Phase 1 Trunk Line  = Phase 2 Trunk Line             = Connections 219



220

daddie
Typewritten Text
Phase 1 

daddie
Typewritten Text
Phase 2

daddie
Polygon

daddie
Polygon



 

Mayor’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

221



 

City Manager’s Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

222



CITY MANAGERS REPORT  
April 13 to April 18, 2017,2017 

Intuitional Corridor- Public Works Director, City Attorney tele-conferenced with 

DOWL’s project management team to discuss the progress on the easements needed 

for the project. Hopefully we have the easements in place by the end of May. The 

contract is ready for Phase I to install 160 helicals between the city Water Treatment Plant 

and the Highway and will be awarded after council approval 

Sewer Lagoon/Jetty Project- Contract was signed with our Project Manager, CH2M, 

too design and manage the construction the sewer lagoon. A separate contract for the 

jetty with the same company is close to being completed. We had tele-conference last 

week to discuss this project and to go over the contract. 

Landfill Closure Costs-  

HR Dept. – The HR Manger that her trip to recruit personnel at the job fairs did not 

recruit any new employees but suggested Mat-Su’s was well attended by job seekers 

and we should try again next year. She felt that Fairbanks was bust and should be 

dropped from the list. I think the Kenai area might be worth a try due to the number of 

families that have moved to that area from here. HR has been very helpful with the cost 

of personnel throughout the budget process. 

Finance Dept.- I discussed, line item by line item, the departments FY-18 budget. I 

wish we were a little further than we were. As we review last year’s budget we seem to 

find inconsistences that are making the process more difficult than it should be. Granted 

we had a late start but trying to figure out the differences from last year to this year is 

requiring research that I hope we don’t have to go through next year. 

Port – Project management team and the port employees meet to discuss the next 

steps in regards to the construction of the Ports Ops. Ctr. Will meet every Tues till the 

end of the project.  

Bethel Bank Stabilization Project – Checks for the purchase of the Active and Jung 

parcels were processed 

Ridgecrest Dr.- Setting up a tele-conference with the DOT, PW Director and myself 

discussing some of the details of the project. 

Courthouse Lease-will for our response to their proposal on April,19th. 

Land and Water Conservation Fund – They are unused funds, $108,000 from FY-17 

designated to Pinky’s Park. The funds were approved and to be used to finish multi –

use sports field a trail, boardwalks and platforms and a wind tunnel. If the funds are 

not used as intended, we can reallocate the funds to any of the above. The board walk 

223



2 

and the trial would require an installation that the PW Dept. that they not comfortable 

with. I suggest we put the funds toward the sports field. The FY-18 grant has been 

forwarded to us and is due July 31,2017.  A cap of $125K with a match of $125K is 

allowable.  If we are to use the grant we need to quickly get the process moving to 

decide what we are to use it for. The match is one too one and in-kind services or 

materials qualify towards the match. 

Bethel Heat Recovery- A engineer from AVEC will be here on April 20th and hopefully 

he will have time look at the city buildings to determine what the city needs to do to get 

this system up and running again. 

Peter Williams 

City Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

224



 

 
 

Management Team Reports 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

225



 

City Clerk’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

226



1 of 1  

 

      City of Bethel, Alaska 
City Clerk’s Office 

 

Council Meetings and Events 
Special Budget Meeting Dates April 13, 20, 24, May 8, 11, 18, 22, 25 June 1 
Regular Meeting May 9, 2017 
 
With the vacancies on Council, I have informed ONC of our inability to establish a 
quorum for a Joint Task Force Meeting. We can reevaluate the situation after 
appointments to the Council are made.  
 
Website 
The office is working on updates to the website, reformatting the sections of the 
website as well as new visual and photo displays. The City should expect a 
completely new website display within the next few months. The Office will also 
be working on creating website forms for the various departments to be put on 
the website for easier customer use.  
 
Photo Contest is scheduled to start on May 19! 
 
Committee and Commission Training 
Training has been scheduled for most all of the Committees and Commissions.  
In addition to holding an annual committee/commission training the clerk’s office 
provides an annual training to city staff. 
 
Board of Adjustment Appeal Hearing Preparation  
Much of this week was spent preparing for the May 4, 2017 Board of Adjustment 
Hearing. Public Notices have been provided to KYUK and Delta Discovery, notices 
have been sent to the Appellant, Council and the Planning Commissioners, notice 
opportunity to submit written evidence has been provided to the community 
members that spoke at the March 30, Planning Commission Meeting.  
 
The Record on Appeal was disseminated to the Council, Planning Commission 
and the Appellant on April 18th, an addendum will be provided on April 28th.   
 
Document Restoration  
The two final Ordinance books were prepared to be sent to Kofile, a document 
restoration company. When these books are returned the office will be preparing 
documents to be sent to the State Archivist for permanent storage.  
 
 

227



 

 
 

Executive Session   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

228



 

Additional Information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

229


	Approval of the Meeting Minutes
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Special Order of Business
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Mayor’s Report
	City Manager’s Report
	Management Team Reports
	City Clerk’s Report
	Executive Session
	Reports of Standing Commitee PW Mtg Packet April 2017.pdf
	PW Commmite april Amended agenda
	PW Mtg Packet April 2017
	PW Committee Agenda April 2017 SIGNED.docx
	PW Committee Minutes Feb 2017-draft
	PW Committee Minutes  03.15.17- no meeting
	Managers Report 4.1.2017
	52452 Bethel Ridgecrest Drive Draft Plans


	Reports of Standing Committee Parks and Rec Meeting Packet April 2017 (1).pdf
	parks and rec agenda  April 2017. SIGNEDdocx
	Parks and Rec Meeting Minutes March 2017 DRAFT (Autosaved)

	New Business AM 17-32 Supporting Docs.1 Helical Piers DOWL Addition.pdf
	ARTICLE 1 –  WORK
	1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is generally described as follows:

	ARTICLE 2 –  THE PROJECT
	2.01 The Project, of which the Work under the Contract Documents is a part, is generally described as follows:  Install approximately 165 Helical Piers or Driven Piles in support of the Institutional Corridor Piped Water System.

	ARTICLE 3 –  ENGINEER
	3.01 The Project has been designed by DOWL - 4041 B Street, Anchorage, AK 99503
	3.02 The Owner has retained DOWL (“Engineer”) to act as Owner’s representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have the rights and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in a...

	ARTICLE 4 –  CONTRACT TIMES
	4.01 Time of the Essence
	A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract.

	4.02 Contract Times: Dates
	A. The Work will be substantially completed on or before _January 31, 2018__, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the Standard General Conditions on or before __February 15, 2018___.

	4.03 Liquidated Damages
	A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in Paragraph 4.01 above and that Owner will suffer financial and other losses if the Work is not completed and Milestones not achieved within the times specified in Paragraph 4.02...
	1. Substantial Completion: Contractor shall pay Owner $__500____ for each day that expires after the time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified in Paragraph 4.02.A above for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete.
	2. Completion of Remaining Work: After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) for completion and readiness for final paym...
	3. Liquidated damages for failing to timely attain Substantial Completion and final completion are not additive and will not be imposed concurrently.
	4. Milestones: Contractor shall pay Owner $_______ for each day that expires after the time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified above for achievement of Milestone 1, until Milestone 1 is achieved.

	B. Bonus: Contractor and Owner further recognize the Owner will realize financial and other benefits if the Work is completed prior to the time specified for Substantial Completion.  Accordingly, Owner and Contractor agree that as a bonus for early co...


	ARTICLE 5 –  CONTRACT PRICE
	5.01 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents the amounts that follow, subject to adjustment under the Contract:
	A. For all Work, at the prices stated in Contractor’s Bid, attached hereto as an exhibit.


	ARTICLE 6 –  PAYMENT PROCEDURES
	6.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments
	A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 15 of the Standard General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as provided in the General Conditions.

	6.02 Progress Payments; Retainage
	A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor’s Applications for Payment on or about the _1st (first)_ day of each month during performance of the Work as provided in Paragraph 6.02.A.1 below, provid...
	1. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less such amounts as Owner may withhold, including but not li...
	a. Ninety (90) percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage), and
	b. Ninety (90) percent of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work (with the balance being retainage).


	B. Upon Substantial Completion of the entire Work to be provided under the Contact Documents, Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total payments to Contractor to Ninety-eight (98) percent of the Work completed, less such amounts set off b...

	6.03 Final Payment
	A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the Standard General Conditions, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 15.06.


	ARTICLE 7 –  INTEREST
	7.01 All amounts not paid when due shall bear interest at the rate of Eight (8) percent per annum.

	ARTICLE 8 –  CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS
	8.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Contract, Contractor makes the following representations:
	A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents, and any data and reference items identified in the Contract Documents.
	B. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance ...
	C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
	D. Contractor has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site that have been...
	E. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor itself; information commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and t...
	F. Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, Contractor agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Pr...
	G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents.
	H. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor.
	I. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.
	J. Contractor’s entry into this Contract constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Contractor that without exception all prices in the Agreement are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Contract Documents.


	ARTICLE 9 –  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
	9.01 Contents
	A. The Contract Documents consist of the following:
	1. This Agreement (EJCDC C-520 pages 1 to _7_  _, inclusive).
	2. Performance bond (EJCDC C-610 pages _  1__ to __3  _, inclusive).
	3. Payment bond (EJCDC C-615 pages _  1__ to _3  __, inclusive).
	4. Other bonds.
	a. __ _ (pages __   _ to __ _, inclusive).

	5. Standard General Conditions (EJCDC C-700 pages __1  _ to _ 68__, inclusive).
	6. Supplementary Conditions (EJCDC C-800 pages _ 1 __ to _  7_, inclusive).
	7. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual.
	8. Drawings (not attached but incorporated by reference) consisting of _ 6_ sheets with each sheet bearing the following general title: Institutional Corridor Piped Water System Phase I Installation of Helical Piers or Driven Piles.
	9. Addenda (numbers _  1__ to _ 5 __, inclusive).
	10. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows):
	a. Contractor’s Bid (pages __1  _ to __16  _, inclusive).

	11. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract and are not attached hereto:
	a. Notice to Proceed.
	b. Work Change Directives.
	c. Change Orders.
	d. Field Orders.


	B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted otherwise above).
	C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9.
	D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in the General Conditions.


	ARTICLE 10 –  MISCELLANEOUS
	10.01 Terms
	A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the Supplementary Conditions.

	10.02 Assignment of Contract
	A. Unless expressly agreed to elsewhere in the Contract, no assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifi...

	10.03 Successors and Assigns
	A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contr...

	10.04 Severability
	A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree that the...

	10.05 Contractor’s Certifications
	A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for or in executing the Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 10.05:
	1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of value likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in the Contract execution;
	2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish Bid or Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels...
	3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish Bid prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; and
	4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of the Contract.


	10.06 Other Provisions
	A. Owner stipulates that if the General Conditions that are made a part of this Contract are based on EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions for the Construction Contract, published by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee®, and if Owner...






